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1    RENO, NEVADA -- OCTOBER 22, 2024 -- 8:30 A.M.

2                        -o0o-

3

4

5           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  We're on the

6 record in matter 24-22461-1, In the Matter of the

7 Charges and Complaint against Matthew Obim Okeke,

8 M.D., Respondent.  Present are Sarah Bradley from

9 the IC, and then we have Mr. Agwara who represents

10 the respondent, Dr. Okeke.

11           Can you state your appearance for the

12 record, Ms. Bradley?

13           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.  Sarah Bradley, Deputy

14 Executive Director on behalf of the Investigative

15 Committee.

16           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara,

17 can you please state your name and note the

18 appearance of your client.

19           MR AGWARA:  Liborius Agwara on behalf of

20 respondent, Dr. Okeke, who is present.

21           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you.

22 And I understand there are some preliminary matters

23 to put on the record before we commence the hearing?

24           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.  We need to amend the

25 Complaint in a couple of ways.  When I was
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1 preparing, I realized I had a couple of facts that

2 are inaccurate.

3           I would ask to strike paragraph 47, and

4 this is regarding Patient I.  I would strike 47,

5 just remove it from the Complaint.

6           Also fact 66.

7           MR AGWARA:  Hang on.

8           MS. BRADLEY:  47 is on page 5, 5 of 32.

9           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara, do

10 you have a copy of the Complaint in front of you?

11           MR AGWARA:  Yes.

12           MS. BRADLEY:  And it's regarding Patient

13 I.  That's one of the ones that I talked to you

14 about last night.

15           MR AGWARA:  Okay.

16           MS. BRADLEY:  Yeah.  It was just an error

17 on my part because the dates don't make that

18 violation.

19           MR. AGWARA:  Okay.

20           MS. BRADLEY:  And then page six, fact

21 number 66 should also be struck.  And then fact 71

22 regarding Patient M is similar and should be struck.

23           That does also reduce or counts.  But I

24 have a couple of other changes to the counts.  I

25 apologize.  It was hard keeping track of all this.
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1 I would have done an amended complaint if I saw it

2 earlier.

3           If we go to counts -- the counts in the

4 Complaint start on page 27.  Sixty-six counts,

5 still, for malpractice stand.  We would amend the

6 second part, failure to maintain complete records,

7 and change that count, 67 to 79, because we're only

8 going to pursue the medical records count for

9 Patients A through M not A through triple M.

10           MR. AGWARA:  I'm confused.

11           MS. BRADLEY:  Page 28, failure to maintain

12 complete medical records, we are reducing the counts

13 there.  Originally it reads 67 to 132; we're

14 reducing it 67 to 79.  We're going to pursue 13

15 counts for Patients A through M, and so we would

16 amend 350 to just refer to M.

17           MR AGWARA:  Okay.

18           MS. BRADLEY:  Yeah, 350, it's A through M

19 now instead of A through triple M.

20           MR AGWARA:  A through M?

21           MS. BRADLEY:  Yeah.  Thirteen, there will

22 be 13 total counts we're pursuing there.

23           And then on the next page, 29, that one,

24 we are removing -- I think I talked to you about

25 this one last night.  This goes along with the facts
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1 that we just struck.  We're actually going to remove

2 3, and then there's one more that we're removing

3 because the exhibit actually shows a query.

4           We're going to pursue 57 counts of failing

5 to query the PMP instead of 58.

6           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  How many are

7 you removing?

8           MS. BRADLEY:  I'm removing the total

9 counts.  And then far as the patients it's referring

10 to, I'm removing patients I, L, and M from this, as

11 well as G because there was a query done for G.

12           MR AGWARA:  For both counts, both -- we

13 had two things in that case that we talked about.

14           MS. BRADLEY:  I'm talking about the

15 violation of statutes and regulations of the Nevada

16 State Board of Pharmacy.

17           It's started out with 133 to 193.  Based

18 on previous amendments, it would be 80 to 136 now,

19 80 to 136.  Fifty-seven counts, and I'm removing

20 patients I, L, M, and G from this.

21           Then the next count on the bottom of that

22 page would be renumbered.

23           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Are you

24 working from an amended complaint?

25           MS. BRADLEY:  Original complaint.
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1           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

2           MR AGWARA:  I don't see M.

3           MS. BRADLEY:  M is included, because if

4 you read I through triple N, that includes M, if we

5 -- I, J, K, L, M, so the M is included in the I

6 through triple N.  I'm taking M out.  I'm taking L

7 out.  I and G are listed on their own in 354.

8           MR AGWARA:  So "I" is coming off?

9           MS. BRADLEY:  Yeah.  "I" is coming out.  G

10 is coming out.  L and M, like Marcy, are coming out.

11 They're just included in the -- and triple N, so it

12 would actually be N through triple N if we were to

13 amend it correctly.

14           My expert found a query and said there was

15 a query, so that's why we're removing that.

16           MR AGWARA:  It still goes to triple N;

17 right?

18           MS. BRADLEY:  Yeah.  There's 57 counts.

19 We originally wrote it as 61, and we're taking four

20 off, I, L, M, and G.  It will be 57 total counts

21 now.

22           And then that renumbers the next one,

23 fraudulent, illegal, unauthorized, or otherwise

24 inappropriate to 137 to 197, that would be the new

25 number.
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1           And then on the next page --

2           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Wait.  I'm

3 going back to that one.  It's going from what to

4 what?

5           MS. BRADLEY:  Originally it was written as

6 194 to 254.  But because of the other counts that we

7 removed, it's now 137 to 197.

8           I can file an amended complaint after this

9 if that's easier so we have a document that's more

10 accurate.  I just -- some of this I realized last

11 week and I thought it was just a couple and I didn't

12 think I had time for it.  Then a couple of them I

13 realized, when my expert reached out to me, that I

14 need to remove.

15           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  So just to be

16 clear, I'm on the fraudulent, illegal, unauthorized

17 or otherwise inappropriate prescribing, that C, E,

18 G, I through triple N?

19           MS. BRADLEY:  And it's -- yes.

20           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  So what

21 specific patients are being --

22           MS. BRADLEY:  Nobody's being removed from

23 there.  There's still 61 counts.  The change is just

24 renumbering because we removed counts above it.

25           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.
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1           MS. BRADLEY:  The way it's numbered -- and

2 maybe this is confusing -- it's Counts 1 through 61,

3 for example, these patients, this count, 62 to --

4 that's how it's done.  I have a table if it's

5 helpful.  Mr. Agwara has the table that I created

6 for me.

7           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Oh.  So you're

8 just talking about -- when you're talking about the

9 counts, you're not talking about -- well, they are

10 counts, but it's Roman numeral counts.

11           MS. BRADLEY:  It's the Roman numerals that

12 I'm amending on this one.  Yeah.  Yeah.

13           I still have 61 alleged of this.

14           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  I'm

15 following you better.

16           MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.

17           And then the next page, page 30, we are

18 removing C.  There's only seven counts.  Seven

19 counts of engaging in conduct which is intended to

20 deceive, so C should not be in there.  And the new

21 numbering would be 198 to 204.  And so the total

22 counts of conduct intended to deceive is seven.

23           And then the last one on page 30 is

24 charging for services not rendered, that's also

25 seven, that C should not be in there, and our new
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1 numbering would be 205 to 211.  And, again, there's

2 seven counts there.

3           If it's helpful, I could go back through

4 and tell you the total counts on each.

5           MR AGWARA:  From the amended number on the

6 previous, on the engaging in conduct, would be what?

7           MS. BRADLEY:  Engaging in conduct which is

8 intended to deceive remains the same, we're just

9 removing C.

10           MR. AGWARA:  But does it affect the

11 numbering?

12           MS. BRADLEY:  It does.  The new numbering

13 for that one is 198 to 204.  And then the last one

14 would become 205 to 211, and there's seven total

15 counts there.

16           So there's -- if we want to recap, there's

17 66 alleged counts of malpractice because there's 66

18 total patients and we alleged one for each patient.

19 There's 13 alleged counts of failure to maintain

20 clear, legible, accurate, and complete records.

21 That's on page 28, so the total counts would be 13.

22           And then violation of statutes and

23 regulations of the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy on

24 page 29, that would be 57 total counts.

25           And then fraudulent, illegal, authorized,
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1 or otherwise inappropriate prescribing of controlled

2 substances listed in schedule 2, 3, or 4, that would

3 be 61 total counts.

4           MR AGWARA:  Are these all the same

5 patients?

6           MS. BRADLEY:  Most of them are.  There's a

7 couple patients, Patients A, B, D, F, H, those

8 patients do not go into every single thing.  Those

9 are the ones where we're alleging, those five, only

10 billing issues, only billing while out of the

11 country for those five.  But there's seven total

12 with billing issues.  Two of them have other

13 violations included.

14           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Going back to

15 the top of page 29, what's the number of those

16 counts?

17           MS. BRADLEY:  The number, I have it as 80

18 to 136 now.

19           Again, I'm glad to file an amended

20 complaint after we conclude so that it's updated for

21 the record.  I just -- well, some of this I

22 identified yesterday, and then I thought it was just

23 a couple of errors last week.

24           Okay.  So we're at the fraudulent,

25 illegal, 61, and that should be renumbered 137 to
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1 197.  The next page, 30, conduct which is intended

2 to deceive, there's seven total counts.  And then

3 charging for services not rendered, seven total

4 counts.  We would amend our complaint to reflect

5 that.  Like I said, I will file an updated document

6 that has that in there.

7           I have one more, I guess, housekeeping

8 thing.

9           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Well, and just

10 for the record, engaging -- on page 30, engaging in

11 conduct which is intended to deceive would now be

12 Counts 198 to 204, and charging for services not

13 rendered would be Counts 205 through 211.  Both

14 those would exclude Patient C?

15           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.  And I've omitted

16 Patient C, yes.  Thank you.

17           The other housekeeping thing that I have

18 is with regard to our production in Exhibit 47.  And

19 a good thing it's not admitted yet so we can

20 still -- I'm sorry -- 42, excuse me, Exhibit 42.

21           I have a couple of pages I need to strike

22 because they are actually not evidence; they're just

23 something that our investigator put together.

24           So in the Exhibit 42 right now, NSBME

25 0238, as well as -- it ends on 0240, that's not a
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1 medical record.  It's actually notes from our

2 investigator.  I would remove that from --

3           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Which page?

4           MS. BRADLEY:  0238, it's the very first

5 page in Exhibit 42.  And then the next page, 0239,

6 it's a statute.  And then 0240, it's -- because this

7 exhibit is supposed to be medical records for a

8 patient.  I'd ask that those pages be removed before

9 we ...

10           And then there's a slight issue with --

11 and I think it might be the tabbing, I'm not sure.

12 The next page, 0241 through 0485, these medical

13 records are for -- so the problem I have is I have

14 medical records for the wrong patient, and it should

15 be moved to 39.

16           If you look at 0241, and I have the

17 patient designation list, we have an extra one if

18 you need it, a patient designation list.

19           MR AGWARA:  Ms. Bradley, you know, this

20 is -- I know you want to include every single

21 patient, but it is really necessary?  This is -- I

22 mean, it's your case, but this is going to take

23 awhile.  And they are confusing, what you're talking

24 about, the records.

25           MS. BRADLEY:  I'm just moving pages.  What
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1 happened in my production was in Exhibit 42, I have

2 three patients' records in Exhibit 42, and that's

3 not supposed to be the case.

4           I went through last night, page by page,

5 to identify that so --

6           MR AGWARA:  Which counts?

7           MS. BRADLEY:  I mean, I just need the

8 exhibits to be accurate before they're admitted, so

9 I need to move the pages regardless.

10           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Which

11 pages are you talking about?  Repeat again, please.

12           MS. BRADLEY:  0241 through 0485.  Those

13 exhibits are for Patient L.  0241 is the starting

14 page and the ending page is 0485, and if you look at

15 the top of the page of 0241, that is Patient L.  And

16 patient L's medical records are, according to our

17 index, in Exhibit 39.  These pages just need to be

18 moved up to 39.

19           MR. AGWARA:  Okay.  Which pages need to be

20 moved?

21           MS. BRADLEY:  0241 to 0485.  Those are all

22 the same patient, you should be able to see the

23 name.  It's a lot of records for one patient, but

24 that's what we got so that's what's here.

25           That patient, if you look at the patient
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1 designation, is Patient L, and Patient L, according

2 to our index is in Exhibit 39, premarked Exhibit 39.

3           I'm just asking to move these pages into

4 Exhibit 39.

5           MR. AGWARA:  In addition to what's there

6 now?

7           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

8           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Just to

9 relocate them.

10           MR AGWARA:  It's going to affect page 43.

11           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  It's going to

12 affect the numbering.  They would not be sequential

13 numbering, but it will be in the same exhibit

14 section.

15           MR AGWARA:  Yeah, but if you look at --

16 there's two-sided, if you move --

17           MS. BRADLEY:  No.  It works out just

18 perfect.  I mean, we can just scratch out 0240.  I

19 don't mind if you keep it, just scratch it out, and

20 then you've got perfect pages for the rest of it.

21           MR AGWARA:  You don't need that 0240?

22           MS. BRADLEY:  Nope.  We're removing 0240,

23 that was the first part.  Those are notes from our

24 investigator.

25           And then there's another patient that's in
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1 42, just a couple of pages for her.

2           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  What page?

3 Restate those.

4           MS. BRADLEY:  The next page, 0486, it's a

5 very similar note from our investigator.  I would

6 ask that 0486 just be removed or scribbled out.

7 That page should be removed because it's a note from

8 our investigator, and we don't intend to admit that

9 into evidence.

10           And then if you go to the next page, NSBME

11 0485, it's kind hard to see, it's printed up a

12 little bit in the page.  This one through 0522

13 actually belong in Exhibit 28, because these are

14 related to patient H.

15           MR AGWARA:  Would it be easier to just

16 change the index instead of physically remove them?

17           MS. BRADLEY:  They can be moved.  But you

18 can also just paperclip them and know that they

19 belong to the previous exhibit.

20           The important part is that the record is

21 correct, and I can't admit an exhibit that has -- I

22 mean, these records for this patient are said to be

23 in Exhibit 28 for Patient H.  And in our production,

24 they are just not, and that's my fault for not

25 realizing that.
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1           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  What are the

2 page numbers again?

3           MS. BRADLEY:  0487 to 0522, those should

4 be moved to Exhibit 28.

5           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  And the prior

6 records that were moved to Exhibit 38; is that

7 correct?

8           MS. BRADLEY:  Thirty-nine.

9           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thirty-nine.

10           MS. BRADLEY:  We can update our production

11 as well.  It's the same pages, it's just moving

12 them.

13           And then 0523 is a note from the

14 investigator that should be just scribbled out

15 because this one is really supposed to be what

16 starts on 0526.  It's really the records that are

17 supposed to be in 42.

18           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  So are you

19 omitting 0523 through 0525?

20           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

21           MR. AGWARA:  I'm completely lost.

22           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  We can walk

23 through it again.  I've taken notes.

24           MS. BRADLEY:  And so Exhibit 42 should

25 start on 0526, and that is for patient M.
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1           MR AGWARA:  I would suggest when you get

2 to the table for exhibits that are affected by the

3 changes, you remind us to -- so I can actually

4 follow.  I don't want to stop.  So when we get to

5 your case, when we get to an exhibit that was

6 involved, just kindly remind us of what was done so

7 that I can follow.

8           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I anticipate

9 she'll do that.  And if she didn't, then I would.

10           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

11           And my intent was to make sure that we

12 were aware of this before Mr. Diaz testifies because

13 he will be authenticating the exhibits so that we

14 can get them admitted, and I wanted them to be as

15 accurate as possible.

16           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Any other

17 changes?

18           MS. BRADLEY:  The only other change I

19 notice, there's a couple typos in the index, and

20 probably everyone figured it out.

21           If you look on the first page of the

22 index, at least in my copy, it stops on 9 and then

23 starts on 0, and it should be 10, 11, 12.  It should

24 have a 1 in front of those numbers.  It was just a

25 numbering problem.  So I would refer to those as 10
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1 through 19.

2           And then there is a typo on Exhibit 92 in

3 the index, it says "ICK" instead of "KK."

4           MR. AGWARA:  What should it be?

5           MS. BRADLEY:  KK.  There is no patient

6 ICK.  I think it was just an auto-correct.

7           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Anything else?

8           MS. BRADLEY:  That is the changes to the

9 production.

10           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  When

11 these get produced for the record, are you going to

12 pull these documents out and reshuffle it?

13           MS. BRADLEY:  I do intend to ask my

14 assistant to help me do that at some point today.  I

15 know that these are movable.  For now, I'm going to

16 leave them as they are, and I have them tabbed.

17           But when Mr. Diaz is authenticating the

18 exhibits, when we get to 28, Exhibit 28, 39, and 42,

19 before we ask for it to be admitted, we'll, again

20 for the record, talk about the pages.

21           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I just want to

22 make sure that when I do my findings of facts and

23 recommendations that I'm referring to your

24 complete --

25           MS. BRADLEY:  And we can amend it as well,
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1 your binder, and we can open it and --

2           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I'll be fine.

3           I'm going to summarize my understanding of

4 what just happened.  I'm going to work backwards.

5           On the first page of the exhibits where it

6 has the exhibit numbers, it goes 1 through 9, and

7 then it goes 0 through 9 again, and the 0 -- the

8 subsequent 0 through 9 should be 10 through 19;

9 correct?

10           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

11           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  On -- also on

12 the exhibit list, Exhibit 92 should be not Patient

13 ICK, it should be KK.

14           And then we're removing from the record

15 pages 0523 through 0525.

16           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

17           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  And then pages

18 0487 to 0522 will become part of Exhibit 28.

19           MS. BRADLEY:  Actually 0521.

20           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  0521.  Thank

21 you.

22           MS. BRADLEY:  Oh no.  0522.  I apologize.

23 I lied.  0522.  I'm sorry.

24           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  So 0487

25 through 0522 will become part of Exhibit 28?
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1           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

2           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  046 will be

3 removed from the record?

4           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

5           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  0241 through

6 0485 will become part of Exhibit 39?

7           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

8           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  And 04238

9 through 0240 will be removed?

10           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.  That's how we will ask

11 that they be admitted, yes.  Thank you.

12           MR AGWARA:  Can you go through the summary

13 again?

14           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Yes.  From the

15 beginning?

16           MR. AGWARA:  From the 0487.

17           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  0487 through

18 0522 will be moved to Exhibit 28.

19           MR AGWARA:  Okay.

20           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  0241 through

21 0485 will be moved to Exhibit 39.

22           The last thing is 0238 through 0240 will

23 be removed.

24           MR. AGWARA:  I think I got it.

25           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  That
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1 will take place.

2           Anything further before we commence?

3           MS. BRADLEY:  No thank you.

4           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara,

5 anything further from you before we get started?

6           MR AGWARA:  Not from us.

7           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Would you like

8 to give opening statements?

9           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

10           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Okay.  Ms.

11 Bradley?

12           MS. BRADLEY:  Thank you.

13                  OPENING STATEMENT

14           MS. BRADLEY:  To summarize this matter,

15 the allegations in this complaint stem from actions

16 that -- or medicine that was allegedly practiced

17 while Dr. Okeke was out of the country.  That's the

18 overarching concern here.

19           Fact number 2 in the Complaint lists

20 dates -- oh, I do have one more stipulation.  I'm

21 sorry.  I believe that they are willing to stipulate

22 that he was out of the country for the dates listed

23 in paragraph number 2 in the Complaint.

24           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Is that

25 accurate, Mr. Agwara?
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1           MR AGWARA:  Just one minute.

2           Ms. Bradley, are we still dealing with

3 2017 dates?  I thought we were concentrating on

4 2018.

5           MS. BRADLEY:  We're dealing with all the

6 dates alleged in the Complaint.  However, we are not

7 worried about queries not being done of the PMP in

8 2017 because the law did not require it yet.  For

9 any 2017 prescription, that's why those patients

10 were removed from the allegations about failing to

11 query.

12           But there are prescriptions that we have

13 that we allege were provided to patients during

14 those dates while Dr. Okeke was out of the country.

15           MR AGWARA:  Any of your exhibits, the

16 response letter --

17           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

18           MR. AGWARA:  -- are --

19           MS. BRADLEY:  And those are the dates that

20 you admitted in your letter.  That's why I was

21 hoping you would stipulate to it.

22           MR AGWARA:  That's why I asked.  It will

23 make it easier.

24           MS. BRADLEY:  Well, I mean, I sent you the

25 stipulation over as well, the list of facts that you
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1 could agree to that also included it.

2           So exhibit -- there's three different

3 responses.  I can find it in one second.

4           Well, in Exhibit 6, you responded to the

5 Board of Pharmacy and gave them those dates as the

6 dates that he was out of the country.  I don't

7 recall -- I don't see it offhand in your response to

8 our Board, but you did tell the Pharmacy Board those

9 were the dates he was out of the country.

10           MR AGWARA:  In Exhibit 6?

11           MS. BRADLEY:  Exhibit 6, page 2.

12           MR AGWARA:  Okay.

13           MS. BRADLEY:  It was February 16, 2017,

14 through March 11, 2017; September 27, 2017, through

15 October 2, 2017; June 30, 2018, through July 7,

16 2018; and November 9, 2018, through November 23,

17 2018.  Those where the dates that you told the

18 Pharmacy Board that he was out of the country, so

19 that is where we got that information.

20           And we believed it to be true and

21 something that you could stipulate to.  I know we

22 talked on the phone, you said -- anyway, I thought

23 we might be able to stipulate to that.

24           MR AGWARA:  That is okay.  We'll stipulate

25 to that.
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1           MS. BRADLEY:  You'll stipulate to the

2 truth of fact 2 in the Complaint on page 1?

3           MR AGWARA:  Yes.

4           MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.

5           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  While we're

6 addressing stipulations, are there any exhibits that

7 are stipulated to be admitted?

8           MS. BRADLEY:  Are you stipulating to the

9 admission of any of the exhibits?

10           MR AGWARA:  No, not yet.

11           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

12           MR AGWARA:  We don't know that they're

13 accurate.

14           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Back to your

15 opening, Ms. Bradley.

16           MS. BRADLEY:  Basically this is case is

17 about Dr. Okeke traveling out of the country and

18 billing records and other records being created

19 while he was out of country.

20           It's not improper for a person to practice

21 via telemedicine when they're out of country, but

22 they do have to note it that way.  We have

23 allegations of seven patients, A, B, D, E, F, G, and

24 H, where we allege that Dr. Okeke billed for

25 services while he was out of country under his NPI
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1 number.

2           We also are alleging that Dr. Okeke

3 prescribed -- and it sounds funny to say he

4 prescribed while he was out of the country -- these

5 were paper prescriptions, not electronic

6 prescriptions, we have copies of the prescriptions.

7 We believe -- we don't know, but we're -- upon

8 information and belief, we believe that those were

9 pre-signed before he left and provided to staff

10 members because those were provided to patients.

11 And we have 72 prescriptions, over 61 patients where

12 paper prescriptions were provided to patients with

13 Dr. Okeke's signature, his information checked, and

14 patients were able to fill controlled substances

15 when he was out of the country.

16           We have 57 counts of failing to query the

17 patient's history in the PMP.  Just for the record,

18 as of January 1, 2018, Nevada law required that

19 prior to prescribing a controlled substance to a

20 patient, a person -- a physician or nurse

21 practitioner, other person with prescribing ability,

22 they have to run a query of that patient's

23 Prescription Monitoring Program report to see what

24 other medications they may be taking.

25           And we have 57 patients that received
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1 controlled substances from Dr. Okeke, but there was

2 no query done of the Prescription Monitoring Program

3 for those patients.

4           We have 13 allegations wherein -- and this

5 is all part of the malpractice.  I charged it per

6 patient.  There's 66 total patients, and there's 66

7 counts of malpractice alleged.  Some of them

8 overlap, meaning we're alleging it more than one way

9 for that patient.

10           There's also allegations that he failed to

11 examine patients prior to writing the prescriptions

12 for them, and I believe that's due to him being out

13 of the country.  So he didn't see them, but yet he

14 prescribed, at least with his name, a prescription

15 for controlled substances for that patient.

16           And so primarily what we're talking about

17 here again is just activity that was occurring while

18 he was out of the country, which is concerning

19 because we -- I mean, that's -- especially billing

20 for services and charging for services that were not

21 rendered.  That's unethical, it's just not lawful

22 conduct, and so that's a concern.

23           And then, of course, not querying the PMP

24 at all for 57 patients and pre-signing prescriptions

25 is just not something that the Board believes is
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1 appropriate and is part of the standard of care.

2           We do have patient records for 13

3 patients, and there are concerns from our expert

4 regarding overreliance on templated material, which

5 means copying some verbiage from visit to visit

6 instead of updating it each time.  And so we have

7 alleged 13 counts of failure to maintain clear,

8 legible, accurate, and complete records.

9           The Pharmacy Board allegation, so that's

10 alleging that Dr. Okeke violated NRS 639.23507,

11 which is a violation of the Medical Practice Act

12 pursuant to NRS 630.306(1)(b)(3), and that's again

13 not querying the PMP.  We're alleging it in both

14 areas that it's malpractice because we believe it's

15 required by law.  And we talk about the standard of

16 care, failing to follow the law is not something a

17 reasonable physician would do.  And because

18 malpractice is the failure to do what a reasonable

19 physician would do under those circumstances, we are

20 allegation it both in the malpractice area as well

21 as separately through the statute that authorizes us

22 to pursue Pharmacy Board violations.

23           We are also alleging that the pre-signing

24 of the prescriptions constitutes fraudulent,

25 illegal, unauthorized, or otherwise inappropriate
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1 prescribing.  That's in NRS 630.3062(1)(h), because

2 again, it's not lawful to pre-sign prescriptions or

3 make them available to other people to provide to

4 your patients, particularly controlled substances,

5 and that's what we're talking about.  Every one of

6 these instances, it's not -- we're not talking about

7 antibiotics, we're talking about scheduled drugs.

8 And so from a public safety perspective, that is the

9 Board's concern here.

10           And then the last two elements that we're

11 charging are seven counts of engaging in conduct

12 intended to deceive and charging for services not

13 rendered.  We believe that by billing for services

14 and/or allowing your staff to bill for services that

15 you didn't provide, that that's conduct intended to

16 deceive, which violates NRS 630.306(2)(b)(1).  And

17 that charging for services not rendered, that's a

18 separate statute by itself.  We think it meets both

19 of those so we've charged both of those.

20           That's really what we're here for is out

21 of concern to protect the public, especially

22 regarding controlled substances, and insuring that

23 physicians follow the law in that regard regarding

24 their prescribing.

25           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you.
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1           Mr. Agwara?

2           MR AGWARA:  Waive.

3           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Would you like

4 to give an opening statement?

5           MR. AGWARA:  Nope.

6           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  And then

7 yesterday we had people present to observe.  Is

8 there anyone in Las Vegas observing today?

9           LAS VEGAS BOARD:  No.  Just staff.

10           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Okay.  I wanted

11 it to be clear for the record.  Okay.  Thank you.

12           All right.  Ms. Bradley, do you want to

13 call your first witness?

14           MS. BRADLEY:  Yeah.  I would call Ernesto

15 Diaz.

16           (The oath was administered.)

17           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley?

18           MR. AGWARA:  Before we proceed, may I know

19 what this witness, his testimony, what it is he is

20 going to testify about?  I'm going to object if it

21 starts to go beyond what, hopefully, Ms. Bradley

22 will tell us will be his testimony.

23           MS. BRADLEY:  Well, I've identified him in

24 our prehearing statement.  Mr. Diaz is expected to

25 verify documentary evidence obtained during the
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1 investigation of the case and testify regarding the

2 investigation of this matter.

3           So it's identified for you what I'm

4 intending that he'll do.

5           MR AGWARA:  Okay.  Is he authenticating

6 the documents, or is he just going to testify as to,

7 you know, what they are?

8           MS. BRADLEY:  I mean, primarily I'm using

9 Mr. Diaz to get Exhibits 1 through 150 into

10 evidence, that's the primary purpose of his

11 testimony.

12           MR AGWARA:  That's fine.

13                  DIRECT EXAMINATION

14 BY MS. BRADLEY:

15      Q.   Mr. Diaz, would you please state your name

16 and spell your last name for the record?

17      A.   Ernesto Diaz, D-I-A-Z.

18      Q.   Who is your employer?

19      A.   The Nevada State Board of Medical

20 Examiners.

21      Q.   What is your job title?

22      A.   Chief of Investigations.

23      Q.   How long have you had that position?

24      A.   Approximately four years and eight months.

25      Q.   Do you have any other investigations
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1 experience?

2      A.   Yes.

3      Q.   Where and with what agencies?

4      A.   I was a U.S. Border Patrol agent for

5 approximately four years, investigating immigration

6 and criminal federal law, and I was an ATF special

7 agent for 21 years, investigating federal firearm

8 and narcotic laws.

9      Q.   As the chief of investigations for the

10 Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners, what are

11 your duties?

12      A.   I supervise investigators, administrative

13 staff, as well as medical reviewers.  I review

14 complaints that are brought forth to the Board.  I

15 review the complaint's jurisdiction and to ensure

16 that they are licensees of the Board.  If they are

17 in fact, we open investigations.

18      Q.   Do you also investigate cases yourself?

19      A.   Yes, I do.

20      Q.   When a complaint comes in, what happens?

21      A.   The complaint is reviewed for

22 jurisdiction.  If it doesn't fall -- the violations

23 don't fall under the Nevada Medical Practice Act, we

24 do not open an investigation.  As well as the

25 licensees -- the individual, the healthcare provider
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1 is not a licensee, the Board, we don't open an

2 investigation.  There's times when we can refer to

3 the appropriate agency.  When an investigation is

4 opened, I assign it to an investigator and the

5 Investigative Committee.

6      Q.   When an investigation is opened, does the

7 Board create a file for that matter?

8      A.   Yes, we do.

9      Q.   Are you familiar with investigation

10 number 19-18513, regarding Matthew Okeke?

11      A.   Yes.

12      Q.   Just for the record, were you the original

13 investigator on this case?

14      A.   No.

15      Q.   Do you know who was?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   Who was that?

18      A.   Senior Investigator Kim Friedman,

19 F-R-I-E-D-M-A-N.

20      Q.   And as the chief of investigations, what

21 do you do with the case after an investigator is no

22 longer employed by the Board?

23      A.   The case is assigned to myself or two

24 other deputy chiefs.

25      Q.   Okay.  Did you take over the case that
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1 we're talking about, 19-18513?

2      A.   Yes, I did.

3      Q.   And is that what I'm what referring to as

4 legal case number 24-22461-1?

5      A.   Yes.

6      Q.   As the chief of investigations, are you

7 familiar with the procedure used by the Board when

8 investigating cases?

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   Have you reviewed the file for this case?

11      A.   Oh yes.  It's very extensive.  Yes, I

12 have.

13      Q.   Based on your review, does this case

14 appear to be similar to other investigations handled

15 by the Board?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   For the record, I'm going to start asking

18 you about the exhibits in this case.  Please turn in

19 the first binder to Exhibit 1.

20           Do you recognize this document?

21      A.   Yes.

22      Q.   What is it?

23      A.   It's an allegation letter, dated April 2,

24 2019, sent to Dr. Okeke.

25      Q.   Is this a true and correct copy of the
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1 allegation letter in that's in the Board's file for

2 this matter?

3      A.   Yes, it is.

4           MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Mr. Diaz's

5 testimony, I would ask that Exhibit 1 be admitted

6 into evidence.

7           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara?

8           MR AGWARA:  We have no objection.  On the

9 basis of Mr. Diaz's testimony, the fact that we

10 received that letter and we do have a copy of it, so

11 no objection.

12           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you.

13           Exhibit 1 will be admitted.

14           (The Board's Exhibit 1 was admitted.)

15 BY MS. BRADLEY:

16      Q.   Would you please turn to what has been

17 premarked as the Board's Exhibit 2.

18           Do recognize this document?

19      A.   Yes.

20      Q.   What is it?

21      A.   It is a response to the allegation letter

22 sent by the investigator, responses from Dr. Okeke

23 through his attorney.  It's dated May 16, 2019.

24      Q.   Is this a true and correct copy of the

25 response to the allegation letter that was received
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1 from Dr. Okeke and is in the Board's file for this

2 matter?

3      A.   Yes, it is.

4           MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Mr. Diaz's

5 testimony, I'd ask that Exhibit 2 be admitted into

6 evidence.

7           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara?

8           MR AGWARA:  No objection.

9           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you.

10           Exhibit 2 will be admitted.

11           (The Board's Exhibit 2 was admitted.)

12 BY MS. BRADLEY:

13      Q.   Would you please turn to what's been

14 premarked as the Board's Exhibit 3.

15           Do you recognize this document?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   What is it?

18      A.   It's a follow-up response to the

19 allegation letter that was sent by the investigator

20 in this case.  It is dated June 13, 2019.

21      Q.   Is this a true and correct copy of the

22 second response to the allegation letter that was

23 received from Mr. Dr. Okeke and is in the Board's

24 file for this matter?

25      A.   Yes, it is.
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1           MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Mr. Diaz's

2 testimony, I'd ask that Exhibit 3 be admitted into

3 evidence.

4           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara?

5           MR AGWARA:  No objection.

6           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Exhibit 3 will

7 be admitted.

8           (The Board's Exhibit 3 was admitted.)

9 BY MS. BRADLEY:

10      Q.   Please turn to what's been premarked as

11 Exhibit 4.

12           Do you recognize this document?

13      A.   Yes.

14      Q.   What is it?

15      A.   It's a third response to the allegation

16 letter that the investigator sent in this

17 investigation.

18      Q.   What is the date on this letter?

19      A.   August 27, 2019.

20      Q.   Is this a true and correct copy?

21      A.   Yes, it is.

22           MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Mr. Diaz's

23 testimony, I'd ask that Exhibit 4 be admitted into

24 evidence.

25           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara,
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1 any objection?

2           MR AGWARA:  None.

3           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Exhibit 4 is

4 admitted.

5           (The Board's Exhibit 4 was admitted.)

6 BY MS. BRADLEY:

7      Q.   Would you please turn to what's been

8 premarked as the Board's Exhibit 5.

9           Do you recognize this document?

10      A.   Yes.

11      Q.   What is it?

12      A.   This is a letter from the Nevada State

13 Board of Pharmacy that was sent to Dr. Okeke

14 regarding an investigation that they opened -- that

15 they opened up.

16      Q.   Is this a true and correct copy of the

17 letter that the Board received from the Board of

18 Pharmacy and that is in the Board's file for this

19 matter?

20      A.   Yes, it is.

21      Q.   What is the date on this letter?

22      A.   April 17, 2019.

23           MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Mr. Diaz's

24 testimony, I'd ask that Exhibit 5 be admitted into

25 evidence.
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1           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara?

2           MR AGWARA:  Is it saying that this is a

3 copy of what is in the investigation file?  Is he

4 trying to authenticate the document as the actual

5 letter from -- I don't think he can do that.  If all

6 he's saying is this is the letter they got from the

7 Nevada State Board, then fine.

8           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  The latter is

9 my understanding.

10           Is that correct, Ms. Bradley?

11           MS. BRADLEY:  Yeah.  He is testifying that

12 this is something that our Board received from the

13 Nevada State Board of Pharmacy, and that it's in the

14 investigative file regarding that matter we're

15 talking about today.

16           MR AGWARA:  That's fine.  No objection.

17           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

18 Exhibit 5 will be admitted.

19           (The Board's Exhibit 5 was admitted.)

20           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Before we get

21 through, I just want to emphasize, we're going to be

22 doing this for 151 documents, it's going take all

23 morning.

24           Would it be helpful, Mr. Agwara, if we

25 took a break, you could go through these and discuss
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1 them with Ms. Bradley and determine if you want to

2 stipulate to any of them?  Do we want to go through

3 this exercise for next hour or so?

4           MR AGWARA:  I think it would be helpful

5 for Ms. Bradley and I to take an hour, 30 minutes,

6 to see we if we can -- I've been through a lot of

7 these, medical records, I don't need the medical

8 records.  Those should be easy to go through.

9           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  It's

10 9:27 right now.  I'm going to give you to 9:45, and

11 then I will check back in.  Then you and Ms. Bradley

12 can discuss stipulating to records.

13           Is that acceptable?  I'll see how far you

14 get.

15           MR AGWARA:  Yeah, that's fine.

16           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  All right.

17 This should have actually been done before the

18 hearing, so it's cutting into hearing time.

19           MR AGWARA:  In all fairness to

20 Ms. Bradley, she tried, she sent to me, it was too

21 late, and I had too much to do.  I would have done

22 it before now.  She tried.

23           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I appreciate

24 that.  And I still think it's a good use of time for

25 us to not go through this exercise if we can avoid
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1 it.

2           I will check back in 9:45, and we will be

3 off the record.  I'll leave the room so you guys can

4 discuss.

5           (Off-the-record discussion between Mr.

6           Agwara and Ms. Bradley from 9:27 a.m.

7           to 10:15 a.m.)

8           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  We're back on

9 the record.  It is now 10:15 in the morning.  We're

10 here for case number 24-22461-1.  We took a break so

11 that the parties could confer about exhibits.  I

12 understand that has been taken care of.

13           Ms. Bradley, do you want to speak to that

14 for the record?

15           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes, I'd like to.

16           So we left off before the break, we had

17 completed Exhibit 5.  We've since conferred and we

18 have stipulated to all the remaining exhibits except

19 for one.  I'm ready to put the stipulations on the

20 record if you would like.

21           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Yes, please.

22           MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.

23           The first stipulation is we stipulate to

24 admit Exhibit 6, which is Dr. Okeke's response to

25 the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy letter dated May
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1 16, 2019.

2           We stipulated to remove Exhibit 7 because

3 of the stipulation that he was out of the country,

4 we no longer need Exhibit 7.

5           We stipulated to admit Exhibit 8.

6           And then we stipulated to admit all of the

7 medical records.

8           However, before we get there, Dr. Okeke

9 has agreed to stipulate to 57 violations so that we

10 will remove 57 exhibits, if that makes sense.

11           MR AGWARA:  Hang on.  Hang on.  We have

12 agreed to stipulate to not running the PMP --

13           MS. BRADLEY:  Yeah.  Okay.

14           He has stipulated to the fact that for

15 patients -- I will put them on the record, and then

16 we can go ahead and do the remainder of the

17 exhibits.

18           He is stipulating to the fact that he did

19 not query in the PMP 57 patients in the PMP, their

20 utilization history.  And just for the record, that

21 would be patient C, E, J, K, N through triple N.

22           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  What count is

23 that related to?

24           MS. BRADLEY:  We believe it relates to the

25 malpractice because we believe it's malpractice not
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1 to do that.  We also believe it relates to a

2 violation of NRS 639.23507.

3           I think he has a defense that he wants to

4 use.  He's willing to admit that the action wasn't

5 done, but he have a defense to us saying that

6 there's, I guess, a violation.

7           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  Which

8 --

9           MS. BRADLEY:  The counts in the Complaint

10 that it relates to is --

11           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Would it be --

12 what are now 61 through 57?

13           MS. BRADLEY:  Well, we believe it's 1

14 through 66, because we believe, you know failing to

15 follow the statute is a malpractice.

16           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  And in

17 addition to that?

18           MS. BRADLEY:  In addition to that, it

19 would be what is now numbered as 80 through 136,

20 violation of statutes and regulations of the Nevada

21 State Board of Pharmacy.

22           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

23           I understand your distinction, Mr. Agwara.

24 I don't want you to think that has not landed with

25 me.
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1           MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  He is willing to make

2 that stipulation.

3           And so then based on that, we stipulated

4 to the admission of Exhibit 9, Patient A's medical

5 records.

6           Exhibit 10, Patient A's billing records.

7           Exhibit 11, Patient B's medical records.

8 Well, sorry.  Okay.  So 9 through 14.

9           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

10           MS. BRADLEY:  And then we are removing 15,

11 based on his admission that he didn't do the query.

12 We don't need to get the query in.  And so 9 through

13 14.

14           And then 16 through 20, we are admitting.

15 We're removing 21.

16           We stipulated to the admission of 22

17 through 26.  Removing 27, based on that prior

18 stipulation.

19           We stipulated to admit 28 through 31.

20 Removing 32.

21           Admit 33 through 34.  Removing 35.

22           Admit 36 and 37.  Removing 38.

23           Oh, I need to say for record, the 28

24 admissions that we made for the medical records,

25 that's what correction we made earlier.  There's
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1 those additional pages added.

2           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

3           MS. BRADLEY:  We stipulated to admit 39

4 with the changes that we discussed earlier, some

5 pages -- actually several pages from 42 being added

6 to 39 because they actually relate to Patient L.

7           We also stipulated to 40.  We're removing

8 41.

9           Stipulated to the admission of 42 with the

10 changes identified.  43.  Removing 44.

11           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  There are

12 changes to 42?

13           MS. BRADLEY:  Yeah.  That's the one that

14 we're removing pages from, the ones we talked about

15 earlier we wanted admitted in that forum.

16           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  After 42?

17           MS. BRADLEY:  We're admitting 43 and

18 removing 44.  Admitting 45.  Removing 46.  Admitted

19 47.  Removing 48.  Admitting 49.  Removing 50.

20 Admitted 51.  Removing 52.  Admitting 51.  Removing

21 52.  Admitting 53.  Removing 54.  Admitting 55.

22 Removing 56.  Admitting 57.  Removing 58.  Admitting

23 59.  Removing 60.  Admitting 61.  Removing 62.

24 Admitting 63.  Removing 64.  It's every other one,

25 so we'll have to do this for a bit.
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1           Admit 65.  Remove 66.  Admit 67.  Remove

2 68.  Admit 69.  Remove 70.  Admit 71.  Remove 72.

3 Admit 73.  Remove 74.  Admit 75.  Remove 76.  Admit

4 77.  Remove 78.  Admit 79.  Remove 80.  Admit 81.

5 Remove 82.  Admit 83.  Remove 84.  Admit 85.  Remove

6 86.  Admit 87.  Remove 88.  Admit 89.  Remove 90.

7 Admit 91.  Remove 92.  Admit 93.  Remove 94.  Admit

8 95.  Remove 96.  Admit 97.  Remove 98.  Admit 99.

9 Remove 100.  Admit 101.  Remove 102.  Admit 103.

10 Remove 104.  Admit 105.  Remove 106.  Admit 107.

11 Remove 108.  Admit 109.  Remove 110.  Admit 111.

12 Remove 112.  Admit 113.  Remove 114.  Admit 115.

13 Remove 116.  Admit 117.  Remove 118.  Admit 119.

14 Remove 120.  Admit 121.  Remove 122.  Admit 123.

15 Remove 124.  Admit 125.  Remove 126.  Admit 127.

16 Remove 128.  Admit 129.  Remove 130.  Admit 131.

17 Remove 132.  Admit 133.  Remove 134.  Admit 135.

18 Remove 136.  Admit 137.  Remove 138.  Admit 139.

19 Remove 140.  Admit 141.  Remove 142.  Admit 143.

20 Remove 144.  Admit 145.  Remove 146.  Admit 147.

21 Remove 148.  Admit 149.  Remove 150.

22           And those are our stipulations at this

23 time.

24           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  And it's 151 --

25           MS. BRADLEY:  151, I will ask our witness
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1 about it and admit it, I believe, when she

2 testifies.

3           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Okay.  So I'm

4 not -- is that correct, Mr. Agwara?

5           MR AGWARA:  Yes.  The medical records and

6 the -- I think they constitute -- what? -- 80, 90

7 percent of -- and we make the stipulation with the

8 understanding that if in the event that some are not

9 accurate, we reserve the right to fix it.  It's

10 either the patient is accurate or service is devoid.

11           If they turn out not to be, I think the

12 parties agree that they can fix it later.

13           MS. BRADLEY:  Yeah.  Yes.

14           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  With that

15 caveat, is the representation made by Ms. Bradley as

16 to your stipulation to admissions and removals where

17 changes were noted accurate?

18           MR AGWARA:  Yes.

19           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  Without

20 repeating that list, the documents stipulated to be

21 admitted and removed as noted by Ms. Bradley will be

22 my order, and it will be subject to the caveat Mr.

23 Agwara mentioned about the accuracy of the records.

24           Anything further before we finish with

25 Mr. Diaz?
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1           MS. BRADLEY:  I have a couple of questions

2 for him still.  And then I would like to ask Las

3 Vegas to excuse the witness I intended to call

4 regarding the exhibits we removed.

5           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Who is that

6 witness?

7           MS. BRADLEY:  Ms. Zarley.  I'm going to

8 excuse her because I won't need her anymore.

9           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Is she there

10 now?

11           MS. BRADLEY:  She is there, and I believe

12 she's been waiting.

13           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

14           LAS VEGAS BOARD:  I'll go excuse her.

15           MS. BRADLEY:  Thank you.

16           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Anything

17 further from you, Mr. Agwara?

18           MR. AGWARA:  No.

19           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  Ms.

20 Bradley, do you want to finish with your witness?

21           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

22           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I'll just note

23 that we have been back on the record after that

24 break, and now we're commencing again with Mr. Diaz,

25 who is the IC's witness.
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1           I remind you that you remain under oath.

2           We were on direct, Ms. Bradley.

3           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

4 BY MS. BRADLEY:

5      Q.   Mr. Diaz, would you please turn to

6 Exhibit 8.

7           Are you familiar with that document?

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   What is it?

10      A.   It's the National Provider Identifier.

11      Q.   Who is that for?

12      A.   Dr. Matthew Okeke.

13      Q.   Will you read the number that is there,

14 the NPI?

15      A.   The NPI number is 1730272709.

16      Q.   Okay.  And now let's turn to Exhibit 10.

17           Have you seen Exhibit 10 before?

18      A.   Yes, I have.

19      Q.   What is that?

20      A.   These are billing records that we received

21 as part of the investigation.

22      Q.   And can you tell us a little more about --

23 do you remember how they were received?

24      A.   They were received in a larger Excel

25 format.  The investigator then gleaned these or
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1 separated these by each patient.

2      Q.   Okay.  Can you look at the provider NPI

3 code in the middle of Exhibit 10?

4      A.   Yes.

5      Q.   Is that the same number you just read for

6 Dr. Okeke?

7      A.   Yes, it is.

8      Q.   Can you also for the record, what are the

9 dates of service that are listed on that exhibit?

10      A.   The first date of service listed is

11 November 12, 2018.  November 13, 2018.  November 14,

12 2018.  November 20, 2018.  November 21, 2018.

13      Q.   And do you recall whether or not Dr. Okeke

14 was in the country according to information the

15 Board received on those dates?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   Was he in the country?

18      A.   No.  I said "yes" to I recall.  I'm sorry.

19      Q.   It's okay.

20           Let's move to Exhibit 12, it is for

21 Patient B.  Have you seen Exhibit 12 before?

22      A.   Yes.

23           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  What exhibit?

24           MS. BRADLEY:  Exhibit 10 is for Patient A.

25           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you.

Page 52

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200

Okeke Adjudication 
110



1           MS. BRADLEY:  So Patient A is Exhibit 10,

2 and Patient B Exhibit 12.

3 BY MS. BRADLEY:

4      Q.   Have you seen Exhibit 12 before?

5      A.   Yes.

6      Q.   And do you see the provider NPI code in

7 the center of the document?

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   Is that the same number that you verified

10 belonged to Dr. Okeke?

11      A.   Yes.

12      Q.   And actually --

13           MS. BRADLEY:  I realize I didn't ask any

14 questions about Exhibit 8, which I intended to.

15           We stipulated to the admission of

16 Exhibit 8, but I don't believe I asked Mr. Diaz

17 anything about it.  Let me to that just for the

18 record.

19 BY MS. BRADLEY:

20      Q.   So did you independently verify this

21 number is Dr. Okeke's?

22      A.   Yes.  I did through the U.S. Department of

23 Health and Human Services.

24      Q.   Okay.  Because what we have here is

25 something that Ms. Friedman verified?
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1      A.   That's correct.

2      Q.   You also verified it.  Okay.

3           Going back to Exhibit 12.  Exhibit 12 has

4 that same number in the center of the page?

5      A.   That's correct.

6      Q.   And for the record, do you have the dates

7 of service that are showing in Exhibit 12?

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   What are they?

10      A.   November 16, 2018; November 17, 2018;

11 November 18, 2018; November 19, 2018; November 20,

12 2018; and November 21, 2018.

13      Q.   Again, are those dates that Dr. Okeke was

14 out of the country?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   Let's turn to Exhibit 17.

17           Have you seen Exhibit 17 before?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   And what is that?

20      A.   This is the billing records for Dr. Okeke.

21      Q.   Okay.  And for the record, this is Patient

22 D.

23           Do you see that same NPI provider code on

24 this document?

25      A.   Yes, I do.
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1      Q.   And do you also see the dates of service

2 listed?

3      A.   Not on this particular form.  I believe

4 it's cut off on my copy.

5      Q.   If you continue to the second page, it

6 looks like the way we printed it, do you see on that

7 second page?

8      A.   Yes, I do.

9      Q.   We can verify too from -- because on the

10 first page, it has a date of birth.  I think you've

11 seen the patient designation before.

12           Can you verify on the first page there

13 that doesn't show a name, that that date of birth

14 matches what's included in our patient designation

15 for Patient D?

16      A.   I can confirm that it is Patient D.

17      Q.   Okay.  If we move to the next page where

18 it shows dates of service, we actually have the name

19 of the patient?

20      A.   That's correct.  And they are the same.

21      Q.   Okay.  Would you please read those dates

22 of service?

23      A.   November 20, 2018; November 20, 2018;

24 November 20, 2018; November 20, 2018; November 21,

25 2018; and November 22, 2018.
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1      Q.   Okay.  And, again, do you recall -- are

2 those days that Dr. Okeke was out of the country?

3      A.   Yes.

4      Q.   Let's turn to Exhibit 19.  These are

5 billing records for Patient E.

6           Do you see that same NPI number for Dr.

7 Okeke on this exhibit?

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   What is this exhibit?

10      A.   This is also a billing record.

11           MR AGWARA:  Exhibit what?

12           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Exhibit 19.

13 BY MS. BRADLEY:

14      Q.   Do you see the date of service for that

15 billing?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   What is that date?

18      A.   November 21, 2018.

19      Q.   And was Dr. Okeke out of the country on

20 that day?

21      A.   Yes.

22      Q.   Let's turn to Exhibit 23.  These are also

23 billing records, and these are for Patient F.

24           Have you seen this record before?

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   And what is this one?

2      A.   These are billing records as well.

3      Q.   And do you see the provider NPI code in

4 the center of the page there?

5      A.   Yes, I do.

6      Q.   And whose NPI number is that?

7      A.   Dr. Matthew Okeke's.

8      Q.   Do you see the dates of service listed on

9 that exhibit as well?

10      A.   I do.

11      Q.   And what are those dates?

12      A.   February 28, 2017; February 28, 2017;

13 September 27, 2017; September 27, 2017; September

14 27, 2017; September 27, 2017; September 27, 2017.

15      Q.   Do you recall if those were also dates

16 that Dr. Okeke was out of the country?

17      A.   Yes.

18           MR. AGWARA:  How many -- are you going to

19 do this on every single patient?

20           MS. BRADLEY:  There's two more because

21 there's only seven counts of these.  We've done

22 Patient A B, D, E -- wait.  Is that F?  Yeah, we

23 just did F.  We got G and H left.

24           MR AGWARA:  Okay.

25
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1 BY MS. BRADLEY:

2      Q.   And so Exhibit 25, please, Mr. Diaz.

3           Have you seen this document before?

4      A.   Yes.

5      Q.   What is it?

6      A.   A billing record.

7      Q.   Okay.  This is billing records for Patient

8 G.  Yes.

9           Do you see the provider NPI code on this

10 exhibit?

11      A.   Yes.

12      Q.   Who does that belong to?

13      A.   Dr. Matthew Okeke.

14      Q.   Will you read the dates of service for

15 this billing?

16      A.   November 24, 2018, and November 14, 2018.

17      Q.   Do you recall whether or not Dr. Okeke was

18 out of the country on those dates of service?

19      A.   Yes, he was out of the country on those

20 dates of service.

21      Q.   Let's turn to Exhibit 29.

22           Have you seen Exhibit 29 before?

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   What is this?

25      A.   These are also billing records.
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1      Q.   Okay.  I believe Patient H.  Yes.

2           Will you read the NIP provider code in the

3 center of this exhibit?

4      A.   1730272709.

5      Q.   And who does that NPI number belong to?

6      A.   Dr. Matthew Okeke.

7      Q.   Will you also read the dates of service

8 for this billing?

9      A.   November 9, 2018; November 10, 2018,

10 November 16, 2018; November 17th, 2018; November 18,

11 2018; November 19, 2018; November 20, 2018; November

12 21, 2018.

13      Q.   Was Dr. Okeke out of the country during

14 those dates of service?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   I just have a couple more questions.

17 Would you turn to Exhibit 151.

18           Do you recognize this document?

19      A.   Yes.

20      Q.   What is it?

21      A.   It is a curriculum vitae of a peer

22 reviewer that the Board utilized in this

23 investigation.

24      Q.   How did the Board receive it?

25      A.   We received it from the peer reviewer.
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1      Q.   Does this appear to be a true and correct

2 copy of Dr. Chen's curriculum vitae that the Board

3 received?

4      A.   Yes.

5           MS. BRADLEY:  I'm not going to admit it at

6 this time, but I just wanted to have that in the

7 record.

8           I do not have any further questions for

9 Mr. Diaz at this time, but I do reserve the right to

10 recall him on rebuttal should I need to.

11           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara,

12 any cross?

13           MR AGWARA:  Yes.

14           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

15                  CROSS-EXAMINATION

16 BY MR AGWARA:

17      Q.   On the numerous exhibits that Ms. Bradley

18 questioned you on regarding the dates of service and

19 whether or not Dr. Okeke was in the country, I am

20 going to use -- let's try Exhibit 29.  It was one of

21 those.  If you go to the second page of that.  It

22 would be NSBME 0196.

23           Let me know when you're there.

24      A.   Yes, I'm there.

25      Q.   Okay.  The middle of that page on that

Page 60

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200

Okeke Adjudication 
118



1 chart, there's column that has procedural code.

2           Do you see those?

3      A.   Yes, sir.

4      Q.   And the codes are all the same.  What's

5 that code?

6      A.   H2011.

7      Q.   Do you know what that means?

8      A.   Based on the definition of the procedure,

9 crisis intervention services, per 15 minutes.

10      Q.   Do you know if that code tells you who was

11 supposed to have done the actual visit --

12      A.   No.

13      Q.   -- to the patient?

14      A.   I'm sorry.  No.

15      Q.   Okay.  Did you know if this was a home

16 visit?

17      A.   No.  Based on this billing, it lists it as

18 a place of service in the office.  My apologies.

19      Q.   That is okay.  Have you ever telemed

20 before?

21      A.   Yes, sir, I have.

22      Q.   What is your understanding of telemed?

23      A.   Where a provider, a healthcare provider

24 can see a patient other than an in-person visit.

25      Q.   Okay.  That includes telephone?
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1      A.   It includes telephonic, video conference,

2 Zoom, that type of interaction.

3      Q.   As you sit here today, do you know if Dr.

4 Okeke made visits via telemed?

5      A.   I do not.

6           MR. AGWARA:  No further questions.

7           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley?

8           MS. BRADLEY:  I have no further questions

9 for Mr. Diaz at this time.  I do think I may need

10 him in a rebuttal.

11           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

12           So you're excused, you're free leave at

13 the moment, subject to recall.

14           MS. BRADLEY:  My next witness is Dr. Chen,

15 who is not available until 1:30.

16           THE COURT:  Do you have another one that

17 you can take out of order?

18           MS. BRADLEY:  I don't.  I mean, I guess I

19 intended to maybe cross-examine Dr. Okeke if Mr.

20 Agwara was going to call him as a witness.  But,

21 otherwise, I removed the other witnesses as well

22 based on the stipulations.

23           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Is Dr. Chen

24 your only remaining witness?

25           MS. BRADLEY:  Um-hum.
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1           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara, do

2 you have a preference about -- are you going to call

3 any witnesses today, and if so, do you have a

4 preference about taking them out of order so that we

5 can utilize our time effectively?

6           MR AGWARA:  No.  I need -- the only

7 witness I'm going to have through the whole thing is

8 Dr. Okeke, but I need to hear from the Board's

9 expert first.

10           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  Then I

11 guess we're at a standstill until 1:30; is that

12 correct?

13           MS. BRADLEY:  I think so.

14           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  And

15 then my understanding is our court reporter will be

16 appearing from a different location since that will

17 be by Zoom.

18           MS. BRADLEY:  We will also.

19           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Will the rest

20 of the hearing be conducted by Zoom for everybody?

21           MS. BRADLEY:  We can't video between the

22 two offices.  The only way to do her testimony by

23 Zoom is to do Zoom for at least 1:30 to 3:30.

24           We could do it on a laptop in here.  We'd

25 have to shutdown a connection, I think.
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1           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Well, let's

2 talk about the logistics of this.  I can appear from

3 my office on Zoom.

4           Mr. Agwara, were you and your client

5 intending to appear by Zoom as well?

6           MR AGWARA:  Yes.

7           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I guess I

8 anticipate that everyone will be on Zoom for the

9 afternoon, then.  And we're going to commence at

10 1:30?

11           MS. BRADLEY:  Um-hum.

12           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  And

13 then, Mr. Agwara, I know you bought a new laptop,

14 are you logistically prepared for that, to appear by

15 Zoom for the afternoon?

16           MR AGWARA:  Yes.  That would be from my

17 office.

18           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  What I

19 understand, then, we're all going to go to our

20 respective locations where we practice from

21 generally, and we will appear by Zoom at 1:30, then

22 the witness will be Dr. Chen.

23           Do you have any other witnesses, Ms.

24 Bradley?

25           MS. BRADLEY:  No.  Unless I need to recall
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1 Mr. Diaz.

2           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  But would you

3 do that in rebuttal?

4           MS. BRADLEY:  In rebuttal after he

5 finishes his case, yeah.

6           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  So then,

7 Mr. Agwara, you will be able to put on your case.  I

8 understand you intend to call respondent, Dr. Okeke.

9           MR AGWARA:  That's fine.

10           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Then we'll see

11 if there's any rebuttal, and then that will be the

12 way we will proceed for the afternoon.

13           Is everyone on the same page about that?

14           MR AGWARA:  The anticipation is that Dr.

15 Chen, between the direct and cross --

16           MS. BRADLEY:  The 1:30 to 3:30 time that

17 she's available, yeah, he's saying that he thinks

18 that will take the whole time.

19           I don't disagree.  I have a lot of

20 questions for her.  I know he will as well.  I was

21 hopeful with some of our stipulations maybe that

22 will release that down.  We may need to utilize our

23 November 21st day to finish with her, given her

24 availability.

25           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  And,
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1 then, who will sending out the Zoom link?

2           MS. BRADLEY:  We will send that to you.

3 We verified that Dr. Chen has it.

4           THE REPORTER:  I have it.

5           MS. BRADLEY:  Mr. Agwara, you received the

6 Zoom link?

7           MR AGWARA:  When was it sent?

8           MS. BRADLEY:  We will re-send it right

9 now.

10           MR AGWARA:  Okay.  Thank you.

11           MS. BRADLEY:  And if something happens,

12 call me.

13           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

14 Anything further on the record before we go off and

15 reconvene at 1:30?

16           MS. BRADLEY:  No.  Thank you.

17           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Anything from

18 you, Mr. Agwara?

19           MR AGWARA:  No, ma'am.

20           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  Then we

21 will see you all virtually at 1:30.  We'll be off

22 the record for now.

23           (Recess 10:52 a.m. to 1:33 p.m.)

24           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  We are back on

25 the record in case number 24-22461-1, In the Matter
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1 of Charges and Complaint against Matthew Obim Okeke,

2 M.D.

3           I'm the Hearing Officer, Patricia

4 Halstead.  We were initially between the Las Vegas

5 and Reno offices for the commencement of this

6 hearing.  We have all since moved locations and are

7 appearing remotely to accommodate the appearance of

8 the IC expert witness, Dr. Chen, who is present.

9           Everyone has agreed to these remote means.

10 With that, Dr. Chen, I will have you raise your

11 right hand to be sworn.

12           (The oath was administered.)

13           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Thank you.

14           Ms. Bradley, your witness.

15           MS. BRADLEY:  Thank you.

16                  DIRECT EXAMINATION

17 BY MS. BRADLEY:

18      Q.   Dr. Chen, would you please state your name

19 and spell your last name for the record.

20      A.   Jayleen Chen, C-H-E-N.

21      Q.   I turned to -- sorry, excuse me.

22           Are you licensed as a medical doctor in

23 the State of Nevada?

24      A.   Yes, I am.

25      Q.   For how long?
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1      A.   Since my training, so I'd say 2010.

2      Q.   Are you licensed anywhere else?

3      A.   No.

4      Q.   Where did you go to medical school?

5      A.   University of Nevada School of Medicine,

6 here in Reno.

7      Q.   What was your residency in?

8      A.   Psychiatry.

9      Q.   Did you complete a fellowship?

10      A.   Yes, I did.

11      Q.   What kind and where?

12      A.   I did complete child and adolescent

13 psychiatry fellowship here at UNR as well.

14      Q.   Okay.  Are you certified by the American

15 Board of Medical Specialties?

16      A.   Yes, I am, in both general psychiatry and

17 child and adolescence psychiatry.

18      Q.   What kind of medicine do you practice?

19      A.   Right now, I'm seeing adults, children,

20 and adolescents in psychiatry.

21      Q.   Please turn what has been premarked as the

22 Board's Exhibit 151.  It's the last exhibit.

23           Have you seen that document before?

24      A.   Yes, I have.

25      Q.   What is it?
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1      A.   It is my curriculum vitae.

2      Q.   Does this appear to be a true and correct

3 copy of your curricula via as provided to the Board?

4      A.   Yes.  From when I submitted it, I think,

5 back in 2021.

6      Q.   Does this document accurately summarize

7 your experience and education?

8      A.   Yes, it does.

9      Q.   And you prepared and provided this to the

10 Board?

11      A.   Yes.

12           MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Dr. Chen's

13 testimony, I'd ask that Exhibit 151 be admitted into

14 evidence.

15           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara,

16 any objection?

17           MR. AGWARA:  No.

18           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Exhibit 151

19 will be admitted.

20           (Board's Exhibit 151 was admitted.)

21 BY MS. BRADLEY:

22      Q.   Dr. Chen, have you served as a peer

23 reviewer for the Board before?

24      A.   Yes, I have.

25      Q.   Do you know how many cases you've
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1 reviewed?

2      A.   I believe maybe six or seven total.

3      Q.   Okay.  How long have you been reviewing

4 cases for the Board?

5      A.   If I can remember accurately, probably

6 around 2016, since then.

7      Q.   Are you familiar with investigation

8 19-18513, which is also legal case number

9 24-22461-1, regarding Dr. Okeke?

10      A.   Yes, I am.

11      Q.   Okay.  And I believe that we sent you

12 exhibits for this case.  You seen those and reviewed

13 those; that is correct?

14      A.   Yes, I have.

15      Q.   Okay.  We've stipulated to admission --

16 there are a few that we removed, and I just won't

17 ask you about those rather than go through that with

18 you.

19           Do these exhibits appear to be the same

20 exhibits that you had when you reviewed the case?

21      A.   Yes.

22      Q.   Do you have an overall opinion whether Dr.

23 Okeke met the standard of care in his treatment of

24 Patients A through triple N as listed in the

25 complaint?
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1      A.   Yes, I do have an opinion.

2      Q.   And what is that opinion?

3      A.   That it did not meet the standard of care.

4      Q.   Do you have some, maybe, broad reasons why

5 you would believe that to be true?

6      A.   So just reviewing, I know that there were

7 some services that were billed to patients when he

8 was allegedly outside of the country.  There were

9 records showing that he was outside of the country.

10 There were prescriptions for controlled substances

11 that were given to patients, and I could not see

12 that there was a bona fide patient/prescriber

13 relationship.  As well as I couldn't find progress

14 notes to support a prescription being written.

15           The records that were provided, I felt the

16 documentation was a little iffy and below the

17 standard of care.

18           And then it did not appear as if he had

19 checked the Prescription Monitoring Program as you

20 should for controlled substances upon initiation and

21 every few months when being continued.

22      Q.   Okay.  Can you tell us what a bona fide

23 patient relationship is?

24      A.   So a bona fide patient/prescriber

25 relationship is when a provider is meeting with the

Page 71

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200

Okeke Adjudication 
129



1 patient, has done a complete assessment and, like,

2 an examination of a patient, and coming up with a

3 treatment plan.

4      Q.   Okay.

5      A.   To care for that patient.

6      Q.   Where and how did you learn the standard

7 of care for psychiatry?

8      A.   Well, I feel it's been experiential

9 learning.  Of course I learned a little bit about

10 the standard of care just in medical school and

11 residency and fellowship.  And then the bulk of my

12 learning has just been through practice itself.

13      Q.   Okay.  And what do you do to ensure that

14 your practice is up to the standard of care?

15      A.   So, of course, we do have our -- while I

16 was working at a hospital before, we would review

17 each other's work.  That could be one of it.  Of

18 course, we do continuing medical education

19 every year, and we have our board requirements for

20 that as well to help keep us up to date.

21      Q.   When you say "board requirements," do you

22 mean your ABMS board certifications?

23      A.   Yes.  And then also -- yeah, the Nevada

24 State Board, and for our specific boards as well.

25      Q.   Okay.  Let's talk first about the billing
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1 concerns that you had regarding Dr. Okeke's

2 practice.  We will turn to Exhibit 9.

3           So Exhibit 9 --

4           MR. AGWARA:  Counsel, I don't recall the

5 witness stating that she has billing concerns.

6           MS. BRADLEY:  She said that there was

7 billing that occurred while he was outside the

8 country.  That is what I want to ask her about.

9           MR. AGWARA:  Okay.  And that would be part

10 of the care that's rendered that she's testifying

11 about?

12           MS. BRADLEY:  She's testifying about the

13 standard of care.

14           MR. AGWARA:  Okay.  I just want to make

15 sure that her opinion is that billing is part of

16 that care.

17 BY MS. BRADLEY:

18      Q.   Well, Dr. Chen, do you believe it meets

19 the standard of care to bill for patients while

20 you're outside of country?

21           MR. AGWARA:  Objection.  That's not what

22 --

23           MS. BRADLEY:  Well, it's part of the

24 standard of care is what I'm asking her about.  And

25 her concerns regarding the standard of care, that
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1 was one of them, was that billing occurred while he

2 was outside --

3           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Here's the

4 concern:  Ms. Bradley, you get to put on your case

5 however you choose fits.  If you can't tie it into

6 an allegation or a complaint, then, Mr. Agwara, you

7 can argue that or put that on cross, but she gets to

8 present her case how she sees fit, and, of course,

9 your turn will be when she's done.

10           If that concern remains after her line of

11 questioning, then I'll expect you to address that

12 through your questioning or in closing.

13           MR. AGWARA:  No, no.  I understand that.

14 But I need to keep the record clear.  Okay?  If the

15 witness states that, yes, billing is part of her

16 opinion of what the standard of care is, I just want

17 her to state that.  Okay?  Because counsel is

18 assuming she said that, but I don't think she did.

19 It's a simple thing.

20           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  But that is

21 what you clarify in cross-examination.

22           MR. AGWARA:  Okay.

23           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Go ahead, Ms.

24 Bradley.

25
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1 BY MS. BRADLEY:

2      Q.   So if we turn to Exhibit 9, regarding

3 Patient A, and Exhibit 10, what are your concerns

4 about the billing for Patient A as shown in

5 Exhibit 10?

6      A.   I believe this is one of the patients that

7 was billed for services as being seen when he was

8 outside of the country.

9      Q.   Okay.  And if you look at the place of

10 service, I believe it's on the second page of

11 Exhibit 10, it's NSBME 0122.

12           What does it say the place of service is?

13      A.   Office.

14      Q.   If this visit was done via telemedicine,

15 is there a way to note that in record?

16      A.   Yeah.  You should chose telehealth

17 services, place of service, the location of service.

18      Q.   Is there any indication to you in this

19 record that this visit was conducted via

20 telemedicine?

21      A.   No.

22      Q.   Let's move on to Patient B.  And Patient B

23 is Exhibits 11 -- sorry.  Patient B is 11 and 12, if

24 you turn to Exhibit 12, that is also the billing

25 records again.
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1           Do you see that exhibit?

2      A.   I do.

3      Q.   Do you have concerns regarding this

4 billing record?

5      A.   Again, I believe it falls in the timeline

6 when he was out of the country.

7      Q.   And what is your opinion of billing for

8 services while someone is outside of the country and

9 it's not noted as a telemedicine visit?

10      A.   I mean, I feel like that's fraudulent if

11 he didn't see the patients.

12      Q.   Okay.  And if something is fraudulent, is

13 that also below the standard of care?

14      A.   Yes.

15      Q.   All right.  Let's move on to Patient C.

16 Patient C is in 13 and -- excuse me.  Not Patient C.

17 Patient D.  Okay.  It's actually Exhibit 19 is the

18 billing -- oh, it's 17.  If we go to Exhibit 17,

19 this is the billing record for Patient D.

20           Do you have concerns regarding this

21 billing record?

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   What are those concerns?

24      A.   Again, I believe it's in the same time

25 frame of not being in the country.
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1      Q.   Okay.  Is there anything in this record

2 that indicates that is done via telemedicine?

3      A.   No.

4      Q.   Then if we turn to Exhibit 19 for patient

5 E, this is another billing record.

6           Do you have concerns regarding this

7 document?

8           MR. AGWARA:  Which patient is this?

9           MS. BRADLEY:  Patient E.

10           THE WITNESS:  It is in that same time

11 frame as well.

12 BY MS. BRADLEY:

13      Q.   You believe Dr. Okeke was outside of the

14 country when this treatment was provided?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   And is there anything in this record that

17 leads you to believe this visit was conducted via

18 telemedicine?

19      A.   No.

20      Q.   Okay.  Let's move to Exhibit 23.  This is

21 the billing record for Patient F.

22           Do you have concerns regarding this

23 billing record?

24      A.   Yes.

25      Q.   What are those concerns?
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1      A.   Again, same concerns, he was supposedly

2 outside of the country.

3      Q.   I do note that the dates of service are

4 different here.  They are in 2017?

5      A.   Right.

6      Q.   But he was out of country?

7      A.   Both those dates of service, yeah.

8      Q.   And is there anything in this billing

9 record that leads you to believe this visit was

10 conducted via telemedicine?

11      A.   No.

12      Q.   What does it say the location of the place

13 of service is for this treatment?

14      A.   It says "office."

15      Q.   Let's move to Exhibit 25.  These are

16 billing records for Patient G.

17           Do you have concerns regarding these

18 billing records?

19      A.   Yes.

20      Q.   What are those?

21      A.   Again, he was outside of the country.

22      Q.   Is there anything indicating that this was

23 done via telemedicine?

24      A.   No.

25           MR. AGWARA:  Can I make a suggestion,
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1 Ms. Halstead and Ms. Bradley?  If the question is

2 going to be the same for most if not all the

3 patients, I'm willing to stipulate that it's the

4 same question, and we just weed the exhibits and her

5 response will be the same to save time.

6           MS. BRADLEY:  I have one more patient, and

7 so if you're -- that was patient 6 and this is

8 patient 7, and it's easier for me if you didn't

9 interrupt and then I could continue.

10 BY MS. BRADLEY:

11      Q.   Now let's turn to Exhibit 29.  This is

12 billing records for Patient H.

13           Do you have concerns regarding this

14 billing record?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   What are those?

17      A.   Again, he was outside the country.

18      Q.   So what does that make you think if he's

19 billing for services while he's outside of the

20 country, what does that mean to you?

21      A.   That the patient's not being seen by him.

22      Q.   Is there anything in this record for

23 Patient C that makes you believe it was occurring

24 via telemedicine?

25      A.   No.
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1      Q.   Okay.  Let's talk about the prescriptions

2 that were provided that you reviewed.

3           First of all, were these prescriptions

4 paper or electronic?

5      A.   They were paper.

6      Q.   Okay.  So what is a paper prescription,

7 just so we can distinguish the difference?

8      A.   It's just written on a prescription pad

9 and given to the patient.

10      Q.   Okay.  And an electronic one is?

11      A.   Usually it's prescribed through electronic

12 medical record through a prescribing platform and

13 sent digitally to the pharmacy.

14      Q.   Okay.  And so with electronic

15 prescription, a person would log in with a name and

16 a password in order to initiate that prescription?

17      A.   Yes.  And with controlled substances, we

18 usually have to have some sort of two-factor

19 authentication as well.

20      Q.   Okay.  For safety, paper prescriptions --

21 I don't believe paper prescriptions are used quite

22 as widely as they were at this time?

23      A.   No.  Especially nowadays we actually have

24 to prescribe all of our controlled substances

25 through electronic prescriptions.
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1      Q.   Okay.  But in this case, did you review

2 prescriptions for patients of Dr. Okeke that were

3 concerning to you?

4      A.   Yes.

5      Q.   And what were those concerns?

6      A.   So it seemed that some of these

7 prescriptions were written with his signature when

8 he was outside of the country.

9      Q.   Okay.  Turn to Exhibit 14.  Do you have

10 that in front of you now?

11      A.   I do.

12      Q.   And is this a copy of the paper

13 prescription or is that what it appears to be to

14 you?

15      A.   It does.

16      Q.   Is Adderall a controlled substance?

17      A.   Yes, it is.

18      Q.   What is the day of this prescription?

19      A.   November 20, 2018.

20      Q.   And what were your concerns regarding this

21 prescription?

22      A.   Again, that was within the time frame that

23 Dr. Okeke was apparently out of the country.

24      Q.   Okay.  What is your belief if you see a

25 prescription that is dated for a date when a person
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1 is outside of the country?  How could that happen?

2      A.   I would imagine that maybe it was

3 postdated or he could have signed the prescription

4 and left the prescription pad.

5      Q.   Okay.  What does "postdated" mean?

6      A.   Well, we used to have the ability to

7 prescribe three months-worth of controlled

8 substances with, like, a do not fill date until

9 sometime in the future.

10      Q.   Okay.  Do you see that on this

11 prescription?

12      A.   No.

13      Q.   And at the time on November 20, 2018, was

14 that practice, do not fill, allowed?

15      A.   Yes, it was.

16      Q.   It was.

17           So it could have said "do not fill until

18 November 20, 2018," but it doesn't?

19      A.   Right.

20      Q.   Okay.

21           MR. AGWARA:  Counsel, I need to make sure

22 I understand what she's saying.  I think that's

23 important for my client's sake.

24           Could the court reporter read back the

25 question and the answer or --
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1           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley,

2 can you repeat the question and have Dr. Chen repeat

3 her answer, please.

4 BY MS. BRADLEY:

5      Q.   At the time that you were reviewing this,

6 was it allowed for a doctor to write "do not fill"

7 until a certain date, and she said "yes."  But she

8 did not see the do not fill until a certain date on

9 this prescription.

10           MR. AGWARA:  I think before that she was

11 explaining what -- how the -- what she thinks may

12 have happened with respect to this Exhibit 14.

13           MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  That was before what

14 I just said, so that was a couple of sentences

15 before.

16           MR. AGWARA:  Yes.  Sorry.

17           MS. BRADLEY:  I think I asked her what she

18 believed could be occurring if she saw a

19 prescription that was dated for a date when a person

20 was outside the country.

21           MR. AGWARA:  Yes.  Can she answer that

22 again?  If possible, as much as she can remember.

23           THE WITNESS:  I stated that -- I mean, the

24 explanation that I could think of if maybe it was

25 pre-signed or postdated.
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1 BY MS. BRADLEY:

2      Q.   And isn't it your opinion -- does that

3 meet the standard of care to pre-sign a

4 prescription?

5      A.   No.

6      Q.   And I think you said postdating was

7 allowed at this time?

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   But there needed to be a phrase on there

10 that said "do not fill until."

11      A.   The date would reflect the date that you

12 initially wrote the prescription as well.

13      Q.   Okay.  You would put that date that you

14 saw the patient and gave it to them, and then say

15 "do not fill" until a certain date?

16      A.   Right.

17      Q.   So you can't think of a circumstance where

18 it would be appropriate under the standard of care

19 to date a prescription for a day when you're out of

20 country and don't see a patient?

21      A.   Right.

22      Q.   Okay.  Let's move to Exhibit 20, I believe

23 that's our next prescription.

24           Do you have concerns regarding this

25 prescription?
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1      A.   Yes.

2      Q.   The same basic concerns?

3      A.   Yes.

4      Q.   Okay.  So the dates -- the date is when he

5 was out of the country, and it doesn't say "do not

6 fill until," and the date that it was provided is

7 not there if it was postdated?

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   Okay.

10           MS. BRADLEY:  If Mr. Agwara wants to

11 stipulate -- I mean, I believe I'm going to ask the

12 same question regarding each of the prescriptions,

13 so I think I can ask her if she's reviewed them all

14 and has the same concerns.

15           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I think that

16 would be appropriate.

17           MR. AGWARA:  Yeah, that's fine.

18           MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.

19 BY MS. BRADLEY:

20      Q.   So I think for the record, Dr. Chen, there

21 are multiple prescriptions in this case.  The next

22 one that I have noted, Exhibit 26 -- I just want to

23 say them for the record.  Exhibit 26, Exhibit 31,

24 Exhibit 34, Exhibit 37, Exhibit 40, Exhibit 43,

25 Exhibit 45, 47, 49, 51, 53, 55, 57, 59, 61, 63, 65,
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1 67, 69, 71, 73, 75, 77, 79, 81, 83, 85, 87, 89, 91,

2 93, 95, 97, 99, 101, 103, 105, 107, 109, 111, 113,

3 115, 117, 119, 121, 123, 125, 127, 129, 131, 133,

4 135, 137, 139, 141, 143, 145, 174, and 149.

5           Have you reviewed all of those

6 prescriptions?

7      A.   Yes.

8      Q.   And do you have the same concerns about

9 all of them?

10      A.   Yes.

11      Q.   And so if we were to summarize the dates

12 on them are when Dr. Okeke was out of the country,

13 they do not have a do-not-fill date, and there is

14 not an actual date they were provided, if it was a

15 postdated prescription?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   Okay.

18           MR. AGWARA:  Counsel, can you, if you

19 don't mind, I have -- I wrote down the exhibits from

20 59.  Can you say the ones before 59?

21           MS. BRADLEY:  Sure.  Before 59.

22           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  I can do it

23 real quick.

24           It's 26, 31, 34, 37, 40, 43, 45, 47, 49,

25 51, 53, 55, and 57.
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1           MR. AGWARA:  Got it.  Thank you.

2           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  You're welcome.

3 BY MS. BRADLEY:

4      Q.   Is a provider, Dr. Chen, allowed to give

5 someone else access to prescribe controlled

6 substances for their patients?

7      A.   No.

8      Q.   But if Dr. Okeke was out of the country

9 and a patient was provided a prescription, it seems

10 like someone else would have had to provide it to

11 them; is that correct?

12      A.   Yeah.

13      Q.   Okay.  Let's move on to the third area of

14 concerns that you had.

15           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley,

16 do you mind if I ask a clarifying question?

17           MS. BRADLEY:  Sure.  Go ahead.

18           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Just for my

19 understanding, I've dealt with this in the past but

20 I don't have a clear memory, can another -- another

21 doctor can't prescribe for a doctor without seeing

22 the actual patient themselves; correct?  I just want

23 to make sure I understand that.  I know if I'm an

24 attorney and I'm out of town, I can have another

25 attorney sign for me.
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1           But that doesn't work that same way with

2 physicians; right?  They have to see the patient

3 personally, they can't just sign a script based on

4 the request of another doctor; is that accurate?

5           THE WITNESS:  No.  You can actually cover

6 for another physician.  If they do have a bona fide

7 relationship, you cover and refill a prescription.

8           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Right.  What

9 I'm saying is they would have had to personally seen

10 the patient.  Like say for instance Dr. A says, I'm

11 out of town, my patient needs this prescription

12 filled, Dr. B, can you sign this prescription for my

13 patient on my behalf?

14           Can that happen or no?

15           THE WITNESS:  It can happen.

16           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  And that's not

17 a problem?

18           THE WITNESS:  It's not a problem if they

19 are covering and there is a bona fide patient

20 relationship with other doctor.

21           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  With Dr. A?

22           THE WITNESS:  Yes.

23           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  Thank

24 you.

25
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1 BY MS. BRADLEY:

2      Q.   Okay.  Let's talk about the bona fide

3 patient relationship.  Yeah, not having a bona fide

4 patient relationship.  I believe that you identified

5 that as --

6           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley,

7 while you're looking for that, I just want to

8 clarify.  I understand that hypothetical that I

9 asked Dr. Chen is not what's at issue, but I just

10 wanted to understand the dynamic.

11           MR. AGWARA:  Understood.

12 BY MS. BRADLEY:

13      Q.   Okay.  I think with several of the

14 patients -- so just for the record, we only have

15 patient records for Patients A through M.

16           Does that sound accurate, Dr. Chen?

17      A.   Yes, it does.

18      Q.   Okay.  And you reviewed the records for

19 Patients A through M?

20      A.   I did.

21      Q.   Let's talk about your concern regarding

22 clear, legible, accurate, and complete records.  So

23 if we turn to the records for Patient A,

24 Exhibit 9 -- that's not a good example.

25           Let's go to what's marked as Exhibit 42

Page 89

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200

Okeke Adjudication 
147



1 for you, Dr. Chen.  We moved some pages around.  For

2 the record, I'm actually in 39, but I'm telling you

3 42.  And if you look at NSBME 0241, what's marked as

4 42, that's records for Patient L, and we have a lot

5 of them so it's a good example.

6           Can you tell me about some of the concerns

7 you identified regarding Dr. Okeke's records?

8      A.   Some of the concerns that I had was there

9 was not much new information between progress notes,

10 I guess.

11      Q.   Okay.  So in other words, some of the

12 information is repeated for several visits?

13      A.   Yeah.

14      Q.   Okay.  What would you call that?

15      A.   I feel like there could have been just

16 some copy/pasting from previous notes or some

17 reliance on just a template to fill out the notes.

18      Q.   Okay.  And for example, if we look at

19 NSBME 0242, which is hopefully around where you're

20 at, do you see a list of current medications?

21      A.   Yes.

22      Q.   And do you see repeated medications in

23 that list?

24      A.   I do.

25      Q.   What is your opinion regarding the
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1 accuracy of that list?

2      A.   So, I mean, I would say it was inaccurate

3 because, of course, the patient shouldn't be taking

4 two different doses of the clonazepam or the

5 Belsomra.

6      Q.   Okay.  And then I think we can turn

7 forward to 244, and there's a section on treatment

8 medications.

9           What would treatment medications be

10 usually?

11      A.   I would say that would probably the list

12 of current medications that they are taking.

13      Q.   Okay.  That's what is going to be changing

14 or maybe staying the same after the visit?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   Okay.  Did you have other concerns

17 identified regarding Dr. Okeke's records?

18      A.   I just feel, potentially, that sometimes

19 the treatment plan wasn't updated accordingly or

20 diagnoses weren't changed.  I'm having a hard time

21 finding an example of that.

22      Q.   Okay.  Do you feel like you could have

23 taken these records and understood if you were going

24 to, for example, start treating some of these

25 patients, understand their current plan of care to
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1 treat them?

2      A.   Sometimes it would be difficult, in my

3 opinion.

4      Q.   Why is it important for records to be

5 clear, legible, accurate, and complete?

6      A.   Like you said, for somebody to glance at

7 that and understand the medical decision-making or

8 be able to transition care.

9      Q.   How many patients do you see on average in

10 a month?  I know you're not at full practice right

11 now, but --

12      A.   In about a month, like 250.

13      Q.   Okay.  And it is the same 250 every month

14 or does it change?

15      A.   It changes.

16      Q.   Okay.  So is it fair to say that part of

17 the reason that the records should be clear,

18 legible, accurate, and complete is also for yourself

19 so you can remember what is going on with each

20 patient?

21      A.   Yes.  For sure.

22      Q.   Okay.  We talked about the prescriptions

23 that were done while Dr. Okeke was out of the

24 country.  And he earlier today stipulated to the

25 fact that he didn't not query.  Of those
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1 prescriptions -- it gets a little bit confusing --

2 57 of them fell after January 1, 2018.

3           Can you tell us about that time frame and

4 the PMP and what that means?

5      A.   So, yes, they did make it a law that

6 physicians or prescribers had to check the

7 Prescription Monitoring Program upon initiation of a

8 controlled substance and every 90 days thereafter,

9 if you're continuing to treat the patient with

10 controlled substances.

11      Q.   Okay.  And so, again, based on the

12 stipulation, he's agreed that there are 57 patients

13 at least that we've listed in the Complaint that he

14 did not query.

15           Does that meet the standard of care in

16 your opinion?

17      A.   No.

18           MS. BRADLEY:  I think I have no further

19 questions for Dr. Chen at this time.

20           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara?

21           MR. AGWARA:  Okay.

22                  CROSS-EXAMINATION

23 BY MR. AGWARA:

24      Q.   Dr. Chen, congratulations on giving birth.

25 I hate that we have to bother you so soon, but
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1 thanks for appearing via Zoom.

2      A.   You're welcome.

3      Q.   Now, was there an official notice sent to

4 our physicians regarding the mandatory PMP queries

5 in 2018?

6      A.   I believe so.  It would have gone through

7 whatever email you registered with the DEA.

8      Q.   So you did receive an email in January of

9 2018 regarding this?

10      A.   I should have.  I can't remember.

11      Q.   Okay.  Is it possible that you did not?

12      A.   It could be possible, but I was made aware

13 of this law.

14      Q.   The reason I ask, Doctor, is because I'm

15 -- I've asked many physicians and nobody remembers

16 when they found out about this rule.

17           I'm trying to ask you if you remember when

18 you became aware of this mandatory rule?

19      A.   I am lucky, I guess, because I do -- I am

20 working at Willow Springs Hospital, so our

21 pharmacist informed us of the law.

22      Q.   Okay.  All right.  Let's see.

23           And you -- I don't know if you remember

24 this, but do you recall how many of those 57

25 patients for whom Dr. Okeke did not run the PMP
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1 queries, do you recall how many of them were the

2 month of November of 2018?

3      A.   I can't recall that off the top of my

4 head.

5      Q.   Okay.  Now, let me take you to exhibit --

6 well, I guess you have it as 42.  I think counsel

7 just asked you about it.  It would be on NSBME 0242.

8           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I just want to

9 clarify for the record that that -- it was in

10 Exhibit 42 and it's now considered Exhibit 39.  I

11 appreciate you giving the number.  It's easiest way

12 to refer to it.  Thank you for doing that.

13 BY MR. AGWARA:

14      Q.   Ms. Bradley had asked you about the

15 current medications on that page, and that you

16 stated correctly that there's no way a patient could

17 be on all that stuff.

18           And then if you flip to the page after

19 that, 0244, I believe that there's another

20 indication that says "treatment medications," which

21 you correctly stated that would be what the patient

22 was on at the time.

23           Are you familiar with the software that

24 Dr. Okeke was using at the time?

25      A.   I am not familiar with this particular
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1 software, no.

2      Q.   Is it possible that the current

3 medications on the previous page that we talked

4 about would include all the medications that had

5 been prescribed to this patient since the clinic had

6 been seeing that patient?

7      A.   Yes.  But the heading would just be wrong.

8      Q.   I kind of agree with you.  But there's no

9 way one patient would be taking all that at the same

10 time?

11      A.   Right.

12      Q.   Okay.  Let's get to the prescriptions.

13 Well, before the prescriptions, let's talk about the

14 overseas trip.

15           When you were asked to review the records

16 for Dr. Okeke, where you told what to look for?

17      A.   They had just mentioned the complaint that

18 he was, yeah, out of the country.

19      Q.   Okay.  Did they tell you to look at the

20 prescriptions during that time, of did they tell you

21 to overall generally look at prescriptions?

22      A.   I think what was given to me were

23 prescriptions that fell in those time periods.

24      Q.   Okay.  Now, when you look at a

25 prescription, can you tell whether or not the doctor
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1 saw the patient?

2      A.   I cannot tell.

3      Q.   Okay.  So in other words, you have to be

4 told that the doctor didn't see the patient for you

5 to know that?

6      A.   I guess I don't understand the question.

7      Q.   Well, I mean, you stated that you can't

8 look at a prescription and tell whether or not the

9 doctor saw the patient.

10           So in other words, if the doctor didn't

11 see the patient, somebody would have to tell you

12 that for you to know that; is that correct?

13      A.   Yes.  I guess I'm just -- yeah.  Yes.

14      Q.   Okay.  Do you know what a "provider for

15 team" means?

16      A.   No.

17      Q.   Okay.  Let's see.  Bear with me.  I'm

18 trying to find one of the billings that Ms. Bradley

19 reviewed with you.

20           MS. BRADLEY:  Exhibit 10 should be the

21 first one.

22           MR. AGWARA:  Thank you.

23 BY MR. AGWARA:

24      Q.   Do you know what a provider --

25           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Actually, I'm
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1 sorry to interrupt you, Mr. Agwara.  I need both and

2 Dr. Okeke to fix your cameras so you're both in

3 view.

4           MR. AGWARA:  Yeah.  Okay.

5           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Thank you.

6 BY MR. AGWARA:

7      Q.   How about "provider 20," do you know what

8 that means?

9      A.   No, I'm not aware.

10      Q.   Okay.  You know what a licensed clinical

11 professional counselor is; correct?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   What type of provider would that be?

14      A.   Just a therapist or a counselor.

15      Q.   Is there a number for such a provider?

16      A.   I'm not aware of their numbers.

17      Q.   But are there numbers for types of

18 providers in psychiatry?

19      A.   Yes.

20      Q.   Okay.  But you're not aware of that?

21      A.   I -- I don't know what you're trying to

22 ask me.

23      Q.   How about a licensed clinical social

24 worker?

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   That is a provider under psychiatry; is

2 that correct?

3      A.   A mental health provider, yes.

4      Q.   How about a licensed marriage and family

5 therapist?

6      A.   They could provide mental health services,

7 yes.

8      Q.   How about qualified behavioral aide?

9      A.   Sure.

10      Q.   Qualified mental health associate?

11      A.   Sure.  They could be a provider.

12      Q.   And a qualified mental health

13 professional?

14      A.   They could be a provider of mental health

15 services, yes.

16      Q.   Okay.  Isn't it true that all the

17 categories of providers I just mentioned come under

18 the number 14, do you know?

19      A.   That, I wasn't aware of, no.

20      Q.   Okay.

21           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Just for the

22 record and my understanding, where is this reference

23 to number 14 coming from?  Is there a documentation

24 or a medical book or --

25           MR. AGWARA:  Well, these are widely
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1 accepted provider numbers in psychiatry.  I

2 believe -- I mean, the doctor has testified that

3 there are numbers, she's just not --

4           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  But I don't

5 understand for myself.  Do they come from a treaty,

6 do they come from -- where do they stem from or what

7 they --

8           MR. AGWARA:  My client is going to testify

9 to that.  They come from the professional.

10           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

11 BY MR. AGWARA:

12      Q.   Doctor, do you know the number for a

13 psychiatrist, the provider number for a psychiatrist

14 like yourself?

15      A.   No.  I didn't know there was.  I mean, I

16 just know our own provider, like an NPI number.

17      Q.   Okay.  Let's go to Exhibit 10, NSBME 0121.

18           Now, the categories of providers that I

19 had read through and mentioned to you that you

20 testified that those could be mental health

21 providers, when you bill for those services, do you

22 bill in the doctor's name or do they have NPIs also?

23      A.   They should have NPIs if they are billing.

24      Q.   Okay.  Are there occasions when their

25 services will be billed under the psychiatrist?
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1      A.   I don't believe so.  Not back then, I

2 don't think.

3           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  What is an

4 NPI?

5           MR. AGWARA:  That's the provider number.

6           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  But what does

7 that stand for?

8           MS. BRADLEY:  It's in Exhibit A, if that's

9 helpful.  It's the National Provider Identifier, I

10 think that's what it's called.

11           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Oh, okay.  So

12 when we're talking about numbers, we're not talking

13 about the 14 and 20 anymore; we're talking about the

14 provider information number that was assigned to Dr.

15 Okeke?

16           MR. AGWARA:  Well, that would be assigned

17 to either the doctor or anyone of these other

18 healthcare providers.  Yes, you're correct.

19           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I just want to

20 make clear because you mentioned 14, and then

21 there's a line in 14, so I just want to stay on the

22 same numbers for the same reason.

23           MR. AGWARA:  Thank you for clarifying

24 that.

25           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I want to make
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1 sure that I'm up to speed with you, and I don't --

2           MR. AGWARA:  You're doing great.

3 BY MR. AGWARA:

4      Q.   Now, this other professional that you and

5 I talked about before, they are not medical doctors,

6 but do they work under medical doctors like

7 yourself?

8      A.   I guess they work with us, yeah.

9      Q.   Okay.  And it's your testimony that their

10 services cannot be billed under the doctor's NPI?

11      A.   I think they have made some exceptions

12 with the pandemic.

13      Q.   Okay.  Prior to the pandemic, is it your

14 testimony that that was not allowed?

15      A.   I don't believe it was, or I don't know.

16      Q.   Okay.  When services are rendered and

17 billed under the doctor, does the doctor have to see

18 the patient?

19      A.   Yeah.  They should be a part of their

20 care.

21      Q.   For that visit?

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   So the doctor has to see the patient every

24 time that a licensed clinical professional counselor

25 sees the patient?
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1      A.   If they are billing under their name or

2 under their provider code.

3      Q.   Now, if the doctor calls in by phone while

4 any one of these other providers are seeing a

5 patient, is that an acceptable practice?

6      A.   That would be okay, yes.  You would have

7 to document that.

8      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.

9           Now let's talk about postdated

10 prescriptions.  Can a pharmacy fill those before the

11 due date?

12      A.   No.  They have fill it on the date that

13 you outline.

14      Q.   Okay.  And would that prescription show

15 the date that the doctor last saw the patient?

16      A.   It should, yes.  When it's being filled

17 out, that would be the date that they saw the

18 patient.

19      Q.   Okay.  And you said up to three months;

20 right?

21      A.   Yes.  That was the practice.

22      Q.   Okay.  So they'll be three prescriptions

23 or only one that would be postdated?

24      A.   All the prescriptions would have the

25 original date that the patient was seen, and then,
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1 of course, two postdated prescriptions for the next

2 month and the next next month.

3      Q.   And the only reason that you testified

4 that none of the prescriptions that you saw in the

5 exhibits were postdated was because they did not

6 contain a different date for visit and a different

7 date for when the prescription was supposed to be

8 filled; is that correct?

9      A.   Right.  You usually have to denote "do not

10 fill until" then the postdate.

11      Q.   And if that's missing, that, to you,

12 suggests that the prescriptions were pre-signed?

13      A.   Potentially, yeah.

14      Q.   Could it also mean something else?

15      A.   I don't think so.  If he was out of the

16 country, I don't know how his signature could have

17 gotten on the --

18      Q.   Well, it would mean that it was postdated,

19 but he forgot to indicate on there not to fill

20 before.  Is that possible?

21      A.   I would still say you would have to write

22 "do not fill until."

23      Q.   No.  I understand that.

24           Is it possible that doctors forget to

25 write what they're supposed to write sometimes?
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1      A.   Yeah, I suppose, but ...

2      Q.   Okay.  Are you a hand signature expert?

3      A.   A signature -- no.

4      Q.   Okay.  It is possible that also a doctor's

5 signature can be forged on a prescription pad by

6 employees?

7      A.   Yes.

8      Q.   Okay.  Is it also possible that his

9 signature could have copied onto the prescription

10 pad?

11      A.   It could be, I suppose.

12      Q.   Okay.  So you really don't know what

13 happened here?

14      A.   It looks like his signature, so -- I mean,

15 comparing with other prescriptions.

16      Q.   I understand that it looks like his

17 signature, but, I mean, you just stated to me that

18 you're not a signature expert?

19      A.   No, I'm not.

20      Q.   Okay.  So does it mean that if something

21 looks the same or looks similar, that means they are

22 the same.  Is that your testimony?

23      A.   No.  It could be forged.

24      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.

25           You testified about -- I don't know what
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1 the term counsel used for it was -- the notes had

2 similar entries, and I think your testimony was

3 there could have been some copying and pasting going

4 on?

5      A.   Yes.

6      Q.   So let me ask you this:  What is the

7 normal -- in psychiatry, how often do providers see

8 patients?  Every month?  Would that be the normal

9 range?

10      A.   It just is patient-dependent.  So some

11 patients if you're actively changing medications,

12 you probably want to see them a little sooner than

13 you would with someone who is stable, which when my

14 patients are stable, I try to see them every

15 few months.

16      Q.   So if there is some degree of stability

17 with the patient, do a lot of these entries change

18 from visit to visit in your professional experience?

19      A.   Not much will change if it is pretty

20 stable, but you should still update something.

21      Q.   Like?

22      A.   History.

23      Q.   I mean, if the history's been the same, is

24 it possible that the history could be the same for

25 three, four, five months?
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1      A.   Yeah, it could be the same.

2      Q.   Okay.  Now, you're not testifying that

3 every single note here is the same?  That's not your

4 testimony?

5      A.   I'd have to review everything.

6      Q.   But that wasn't your testimony?  That is

7 what I'm saying.

8      A.   No, it's not exactly the same.  It's very

9 similar.

10      Q.   And that similarity was with the same

11 patient.  You didn't see this problem from one

12 patient to another; is that correct?

13      A.   From what I can recall, a lot of the notes

14 were the same with regards to this specific patient.

15      Q.   Okay.  That's what I was getting to.

16           So you didn't see similarities from

17 Patient A to Patient B with history in terms of

18 taking -- copying and pasting stuff from Patient A

19 to Patient B, you didn't see that?

20      A.   No.

21      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.

22           When you started your testimony, I believe

23 you stated that you had reviewed records for the

24 Board and you had served as an expert for the Board

25 in about seven cases; is that correct?
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1      A.   Yeah.  I believe six or seven.  Not all of

2 them went to a hearing.

3      Q.   Okay.  How many of those involved Dr.

4 Okeke, do you remember?

5      A.   I believe four.

6      Q.   At least four.

7           Most of your work for the state board has

8 been on Dr. Okeke.  Is that fair to say?

9      A.   It is.

10      Q.   Okay.

11           MR. AGWARA:  That might be all the

12 questions I have for now.

13           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Do you want to

14 take a moment and confer with your client and be

15 sure of that?  I you said it might be.

16           MR. AGWARA:  I appreciate that.  Yeah,

17 let's do that.

18           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Why don't you

19 just put us on mute, you can confer with him, and

20 unmute when you're done.

21           MR. AGWARA:  Okay.  Hold on.

22 BY MR. AGWARA:

23      Q.   Just one last question.

24           Dr. Chen, have you ever billed Medicare or

25 any insurance company for your services?
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1      A.   I have a billing company that -- or the

2 place that I work for bills for me.

3      Q.   You've really never billed before?

4      A.   I've seen the billings, but I don't submit

5 them.  I just submit the codes that I charge for.

6      Q.   So you submit and they bill it for you; is

7 that correct?

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   Okay.  Do you think that may be why you're

10 not familiar with provider 20 and provider 24?  I

11 mean 14.  Sorry.  Not 24.  14 and 20?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   Okay.  Thank you so much.

14           MR. AGWARA:  That's all the questions I

15 have.

16           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I was asking

17 where those numbers are coming from and I understand

18 your client's going to testify to them.  So I'm

19 inferring that those are numbers related to types of

20 providers for Medicaid billing?

21           MR. AGWARA:  That's correct.

22           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you.

23           Are you done with your cross-examination

24 at this point?

25           MR. AGWARA:  Yes.
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1           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley,

2 redirect?

3           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.  Thank you.

4                 REDIRECT EXAMINATION

5 BY MS. BRADLEY:

6      Q.   Dr. Chen, who is responsible for ensuring

7 that a patient's medical records are clear, legible,

8 accurate, and complete?

9      A.   The physician.

10      Q.   And if there's an EMR system that doesn't

11 allow for clear, legible, accurate, and complete

12 records, who is responsible for, I guess, ensuring

13 that the system is changed to one that does allow

14 for clear, legible, accurate, and complete records?

15      A.   The physician.

16      Q.   Do you have other provider types that

17 assist you when you provide care to your patients?

18      A.   No.

19      Q.   So it's just you?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   Okay.  What would you do if you believed

22 your prescription pads -- although I think now it's

23 electronic credentials -- had been compromised?

24      A.   You would have to report it to the Board

25 of Pharmacy or the state board.
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1      Q.   Okay.  Would you also alert law

2 enforcement?

3      A.   I would probably go to the Board first --

4      Q.   Okay.

5      A.   -- if my prescription pad was stolen.

6 Yeah.

7      Q.   Is that something that you would take

8 seriously?

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   If you forgot to write something -- not

11 you, I guess.  If a physician forgets to write

12 something, can that render that care below the

13 standard of care?

14      A.   I don't quite understand.

15      Q.   I guess what I'm trying to say is if a

16 physician provides care that's below the standard of

17 care, is that always intentional?

18      A.   No.

19      Q.   Could it be forgetting?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   And so, for example, if a physician forgot

22 to write the date that they actually provided a

23 prescription as well as do not fill before, is that

24 still potentially below the standard of care for a

25 postdated prescription?
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1      A.   Yes.

2      Q.   Would you say that it is?

3      A.   I think with respect to controlled

4 substances, you got to be extra careful.

5      Q.   This wouldn't be the same in your mind as

6 forgetting to note someone's blood pressure in the

7 record or things like that?

8      A.   Yeah.  There's a difference.

9           MS. BRADLEY:  I have no further questions.

10           MR. AGWARA:  May I follow up on just that

11 last question?

12           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Yes.

13                 RECROSS-EXAMINATION

14 BY MR. AGWARA:

15      Q.   Dr. Chen, would you agree that standard of

16 care, the definition of standard of care could

17 differ from one doctor to another?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   Thank you.

20           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley,

21 do you want to follow up on that question?

22           MS. BRADLEY:  Well, yeah, I guess I do

23 because I'm not sure if it's a clear question.

24

25
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1             FURTHER REDIRECT EXAMINATION

2 BY MS. BRADLEY:

3      Q.   I think, Dr. Chen, I guess I would say

4 wouldn't it better be better phrased, perhaps, that

5 the standard of care depends on the patient you're

6 treating and what that patient needs, rather than

7 the individual physician?

8      A.   Yes, that's fair to say.

9      Q.   And if we were talking about the standard

10 of care -- I always go to because it helps me, if

11 we're going back to school, if you had an A student,

12 a B student, a C student, a D student, an F student,

13 where would the standard of care fall if we were to

14 grade it, for example?

15      A.   I guess you would have to go with a C

16 student, who would be passing.

17      Q.   Okay.  Some physicians -- going to what

18 Mr. Agwara's point is, some physicians may provide A

19 care or B care, which is exceeding the standard of

20 care?

21      A.   Yes.

22      Q.   And then some physicians provide care

23 that's D or F, which is below the standard of care?

24      A.   Right.

25      Q.   Okay.  And your opinion regarding Dr.
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1 Okeke's care in this case, where does that fall?

2      A.   I would say below the standard.

3           MS. BRADLEY:  I have no further questions.

4 Thank you.

5           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I have a

6 follow-up question if I may.

7           Dr. Chen, when you said that the standard

8 of care may be difficult for physicians, which was

9 Mr. Agwara's question and you answered in the

10 affirmative, what was the basis for your answer?  I

11 want to understand your answer and why you said

12 that.

13           THE WITNESS:  As Ms. Bradley said, there's

14 just kind of that from C to A, every physician is

15 different and subjective in thinking what would be

16 that standard of care.

17           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  So there's

18 only one standard of care and you're either above it

19 or below it; right?  So how is that different for

20 physicians, between physicians?

21           Their skill level's different and their

22 attention may be different, but how is the standard

23 of care itself different for different physicians?

24           THE WITNESS:  I misunderstood his

25 question.  I thought he was saying could each
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1 physician view the standard of care differently.

2           I guess that's what I'm trying to clarify.

3 Each physician, totally different than me, could

4 have a different opinion of standard of care, is

5 what I thought his question was.

6           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Okay.

7           THE WITNESS:  The standard of care is what

8 she had said.  You would have to -- I guess the

9 standard of care for me is what would not cause the

10 patient to be harmed.

11           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Any follow-up

12 questions based on that by either party?

13           MS. BRADLEY:  No thank you for me.

14           MR. AGWARA:  Not really.  I mean, I may be

15 more confused now than when we started.  That's

16 fine.

17           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I took Dr.

18 Chen's response -- since I'm the fact finder, I'll

19 say how I took it, and Dr. Chen you can correct me

20 if I'm wrong, I certainly don't want to put words in

21 your mouth -- that she understands that different

22 physicians will -- may review the standard

23 differently, although based on their skill set and

24 understanding, but there should be one standard that

25 you could fall above or below.

Page 115

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200

Okeke Adjudication 
173



1           Did I summarize that accurately, Dr. Chen?

2           THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Thank you.

3           THE COURT:  Any follow-up questions from

4 that?

5           MR. AGWARA:  I have one, actually.

6             FURTHER RECROSS-EXAMINATION

7 BY MR. AGWARA:

8      Q.   If another doctor disagrees with your

9 opinion, does mean that that doctor, his practice

10 will fall below the standard?

11      A.   I would have to look at his prescribing

12 practices or his --

13      Q.   I guess what I'm asking is another doctor

14 could disagree with you, but still not be practicing

15 below the standard?

16      A.   Right.  There could be differences of

17 opinions when treating a patient.  You just have to

18 back up your medical decision-making.

19      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.

20           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley,

21 are you releasing Dr. Chen?

22           MS. BRADLEY:  I am.

23           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you, Dr.

24 Chen.  We appreciate your time.

25           THE WITNESS:  Thank you.
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1           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley, do

2 you have any further witnesses?

3           MS. BRADLEY:  I do not.

4           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  So

5 you're resting your case?

6           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

7           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

8           Mr. Agwara?

9           MR. AGWARA:  Can we take a quick bathroom

10 break?

11           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Sure.  It is

12 2:56.  Why don't we come back at 3:10.

13           (Recess from 2:56 p.m. to 3:10 p.m.)

14           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Where we left

15 off is Ms. Bradley had rested her case on behalf of

16 the IC.

17           Then, Mr. Agwara, did you want to call any

18 witnesses?

19           MR. AGWARA:  Well, I wasn't prepared

20 today.  I thought we were going to spend all the

21 time on Dr. Chen.  That's a good question.  We still

22 have some time.

23           MS. BRADLEY:  I was intending to ask some

24 cross-examination questions of Dr. Okeke based on, I

25 guess, the belief that he was going to be
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1 testifying.  I didn't call him in our case in chief.

2           MR. AGWARA:  I can call him if you want to

3 go first.

4           MS. BRADLEY:  No.  I'll let you go first.

5           MR. AGWARA:  My notes are all over the

6 place.  Let's see.

7           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Is he going to

8 be your only witness?

9           MR. AGWARA:  Yes.

10           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Go ahead and

11 call him -- I'll note that you're going to call him

12 and I'll ask him right now to raise his right hand

13 and be sworn.

14           (The oath was administered.)

15           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you.

16 Okay.

17           Mr. Agwara, your witness.

18                  DIRECT EXAMINATION

19 BY MR. AGWARA:

20      Q.   Okay.  Doctor, how long have you been in

21 psychiatry?

22      A.   Over 30 years.

23      Q.   Okay.  How long have you been a

24 psychiatrist in Nevada?

25      A.   Twenty-three years.
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1      Q.   Okay.  In those 23 years, have you had any

2 patients overdose?

3      A.   No.

4      Q.   Have you had any patients end up in the

5 emergency room as a result of following your

6 instructions regarding medications?

7      A.   No.

8      Q.   You heard Dr. Chen, the Board's expert,

9 testify as to different aspects of your medical

10 records for the patients that are the subject of

11 this hearing?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   Okay.  So we're going to start, let me ask

14 you, you also heard Mr. Diaz this morning was

15 testifying regarding some of the records?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   Okay.  Do you recall that earlier today we

18 agreed for the -- you admitted that you did not run

19 the PMP queries from 57 or 58 patients?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   Okay.  Can you explain to the Hearing

22 Officer why you did not run those PMP --

23      A.   The EMR that I use gives a list of all the

24 patients -- a list of all the medications the

25 patient taken from any doctor in Nevada.  Those are
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1 what the PMP does.

2           So when you see the patient, you go to the

3 prescription, you're able to see all the list of

4 medicines they are currently taking from every

5 physician that prescribed or dispensed in Nevada,

6 which is similar to running the PMP.

7           And I think the EMR was designed that way

8 because of the changing the law, because that was a

9 new thing that started in 2018.

10      Q.   So what is EMR?

11      A.   Electronic medical record.

12      Q.   Okay.  Do you -- you utilize that in your

13 practice?

14      A.   That is the only way you can write notes

15 and prescribe medication or see the previous notes

16 for the patient.

17      Q.   And you were using that in 2018?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   And it's your testimony that when you pull

20 up the patient records, it also shows the

21 medications the patient is on?

22      A.   Yes.  If you go to the medication

23 platform.

24      Q.   Okay.

25      A.   And that's the same for most of the
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1 electronic medical records from different providers.

2      Q.   And that's your reason for not running the

3 PMPs; is that correct?

4      A.   Right.

5      Q.   Okay.  Is it true that back in 2018 that a

6 doctor could do prescriptions, postdate them for up

7 to three months?

8      A.   Yes.  They do that.  In fact, I've seen --

9 I've -- yes, usually they can give postdated

10 prescriptions for up to three months or even more in

11 same cases, but they do give prescription up to

12 three months for controlled substance because you

13 have to have a new prescription every month for

14 people on controlled substances.

15           If it's not a controlled substance, people

16 give up to six months or three months because they

17 see patients every three months or as the case may

18 be.

19      Q.   Okay.  And was that what happened in your

20 case while you were traveling?

21      A.   Yes.  I knew I was traveling, so I had to

22 make sure that patients had their prescriptions,

23 especially the controlled substance, so they don't

24 run out causing them to relapse or go through

25 withdrawal symptoms.
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1      Q.   Okay.  How about the patients that were

2 seen while you were overseas, can you explain what

3 happened in those situations?

4      A.   We have a big practice with different

5 practitioners and doctors.  If the patients come in

6 when I'm not around, they see some other person or

7 provider at the clinic.  And some that needs to be

8 seen every month can be arranged for them to come

9 and be seen by different provider when I'm not

10 around.

11      Q.   Were there occasions when you are on the

12 phone while the patients were being seen by other

13 providers?

14      A.   That happened in a few cases where the

15 provider had some questions for me or had to manage

16 the patient.  There was some patients that I was on

17 the phone when they were seen.

18      Q.   Okay.  And was that because whoever was

19 seeing them had questions for you?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   Now, you seen the different exhibits that

22 had the patient records.  Some of them had the

23 current medications and they listed a lot of

24 medications, and then on a different page you would

25 have treatment medications.
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1           Can you explain to the Hearing Officer the

2 difference between those two?

3      A.   The template we use for writing the notes

4 does not even appear as the note is printed.  You

5 print something much different from what the

6 template presents while we're writing it.

7           The current medication as listed, they

8 always keep a running record of all the medications

9 that patient had ever been prescribed.  In fact,

10 sometimes they include medications that other

11 practitioners in different clinics prescribe.  But

12 we know the difference by having our own treatment

13 record that shows exactly what the patient is taking

14 for that month.

15           And I believe one of the reasons that

16 happened with software producers, the software

17 company actually got their information from

18 Medicare, Medicaid.  They designed what they thought

19 was necessary.  And for them, complying with

20 Medicare, Medicaid, we get reimbursed every month

21 for using the record.

22           The last time I remember, we get almost

23 $20,000 every month for using the medical record as

24 designed by the Medicare, Medicaid.  And this is

25 payment from Medicare, Medicaid.
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1           So we are required to use their record.  I

2 keep record.  The current medication I received is

3 the medicine the patient has ever taken.  It appears

4 on the notes.  When the same happens with the vital

5 signs, where they keep running record of the vital

6 signs until current.  So even if you pull the

7 records from 2016, 2018, or 2020, it will still have

8 all the vital signs that was taken yesterday.

9           But if you see the patient today, they

10 will not have vital signs for the patient that was

11 taking the vital signs for, say, December or

12 November.  It will only have vital signs for the

13 last time you saw the patient.

14           We don't have control over that

15 recordkeeping.  I have talked to the software

16 developers, and they informed me that that is a

17 requirement from the Medicare, Medicaid corporation.

18      Q.   You have currently been on inactive status

19 with your license; is that correct?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   And when you were active and your clinic

22 was functioning, you employed how many providers?

23 What were the maximum number of providers you had

24 working for you?

25      A.   At one time, we had like six different
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1 providers.

2      Q.   Okay.  How many psych patients were you

3 guys seeing in a daily, on the average?

4      A.   About 120.

5      Q.   Every day?

6      A.   Yes.

7      Q.   So you say that it was a very busy

8 practice?

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   You heard Dr. Chen testify as to the

11 standard of practice, and her opinion was that your

12 care of these patients fell below that standard.

13           Do you agree with her?

14      A.   No.

15      Q.   Okay.  Why do you think her opinion

16 differs from yours?

17      A.   I think it's easy to go into any doctor's,

18 pick up and make a decision as to the standard of

19 care.  But I can pride myself in the fact that my

20 patients get well, and I get new referrals based on

21 the kind of treatment patients get.

22           We use this -- if I was hand writing the

23 notes, there would probably be a different outcome.

24 We use a software that some of the information that

25 we put in it, we tried several times to update or
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1 change the way the information is summarized by the

2 software, but we couldn't do that.

3           But no patient, nobody had reported that

4 to the Medical Board or anybody that they had an

5 adverse affect because of the treatment they got

6 from my clinic.  And in all the reviews of our

7 records that were kept, that did not have anything

8 to do with patient outcome or how the patient felt

9 with the treatment they got from our clinic.

10           I think it would be a disservice for

11 patients if I traveled for the month and I did not

12 make a provision for them to continue to get their

13 medication, which will result in them having adverse

14 reaction either with withdrawal symptoms, some may

15 relapse and go to hospital or an emergency clinic

16 just to get their medication because I did not have

17 the due diligence to ensure to get their medication

18 when I'm not around.

19      Q.   Okay.  Let me ask you about provider

20 types.  You heard me ask Dr. Chen if she was

21 familiar with provider type 20 and 14.

22           Can you explain what those are?

23      A.   Yeah.  For the purposes of billing

24 insurance company, the class providers, the provider

25 types, for example, in psychiatry, can only bill on
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1 that provider 20.  That have the social workers, the

2 psychologists, they bill on that provider 14.  Most

3 practitioners bill on that provider 24.

4           But you can only notice this if you bill.

5 Most doctors submit bills to a third party or to

6 their managers and they bill for them without them

7 understanding what it goes through for this billing

8 to be done.  But my practice, I've worked with them

9 to understand the billing system.

10           The provider 20, the only way that the

11 psychiatrist have to bill his services.  Provider 14

12 is a situation where you have a company.  Back then,

13 Medicaid required our company to bill, to have a

14 psychiatrist supervising, that psychiatrist have to

15 bill in order for that psychiatrist.  With only 2021

16 that admitted that the billing does not have to go

17 to the psychiatrist.  It can now be without the

18 psychiatrist billing for provider 14.

19           But prior to 2021 or thereabouts, I'm not

20 sure the exact date, you have to have a psychiatrist

21 as the provider for provider 14.

22           So when they have my name as a provider,

23 it doesn't mean that I have to be there or even see

24 the services.  It is the provider for the company,

25 and then company bills for the services of the other
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1 medical providers that's in that company.

2      Q.   Let me make sure, you are saying that your

3 office will contract with another company that

4 provides one of the --

5      A.   No.  We employ.

6      Q.   Oh, you guys employ them as contractors?

7      A.   Independent contractors, yeah.

8      Q.   Those people will bill under your name or

9 your company?

10      A.   Under the company name.  The company has

11 to have a medical doctor whose NPI they use for

12 billing.

13      Q.   Okay.  And at the time, why was that?

14 Because these other people did not have their own --

15      A.   No.  That was the mandate from Medicare or

16 Medicaid.

17      Q.   Okay.  They bill under --

18      A.   A provider.

19      Q.   Okay.  Like psychiatrist?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   Okay.  So let me, once again, gone through

22 that list that I questioned Dr. Chen about.

23 Licensed clinical professional counselor, licensed

24 clinic social worker, licensed marriage and family

25 therapist, qualified behavioral aide, qualified
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1 mental health associate, qualified mental health

2 professional.

3           All these people can provide some mental

4 health care; is that correct?

5      A.   Yes.  Under provider 14.

6      Q.   Under provider 14.

7           But at the time, in 2018, they have to

8 bill using the psychiatrist NPI?

9      A.   Under that, yes, NPI and the company.  The

10 company has to be registered with Medicaid.  And the

11 Medicare required the name of a qualified mental

12 health practitioner, which is either a psychiatrist

13 at the time or psychologist.

14      Q.   Okay.  That would explain some of the

15 billing when you were overseas, even though you

16 weren't physically here?

17      A.   Yes.

18      Q.   Do you recall when you -- strike that.

19           You heard Dr. Chen talk about templated

20 material, copying and pasting on the patient

21 schedule.  Let me ask you something I asked Dr.

22 Chen.

23           Is it possible in psychiatry that the same

24 patient could be seen over three or four months and

25 most of the notes in records and vital signs remain
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1 the same?

2      A.   Well, the vital signs usually change, very

3 little, by one or two degrees.  Occasionally, they

4 could be the same, but the physical condition,

5 anxiety, depression, and other psychiatric symptoms

6 remain the same because they have been stabilized

7 and they are continuing on their medication.

8      Q.   Okay.  So if they're stable it's not

9 unusual?

10      A.   Not to reflect similar outcomes.  There

11 are different standards for active patients.  Are

12 you depressed?  No.  Any anxiety?  No.  Any sleeping

13 problem?  No.

14           If you record this the same every month,

15 it will look as if those were copied, but it's

16 because the patient is not showing any symptoms and

17 has continued to remain stable.

18      Q.   Did you ever charge for services not

19 rendered?

20      A.   No.

21      Q.   Okay.  The patients that were billed were

22 seen by someone your office; is that correct?

23      A.   Yes.  But the bill that provided was

24 mostly for provider 14 company.  If you look at, it

25 was all for Discovery Mind Center, which is a
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1 provider 14 company.

2           That provider type does not have to have a

3 psychiatrist see the patients as other psychiatric

4 workers have seen them.  Like for the -- they

5 literally have to go out on the street, pick the

6 patient who is homeless sometimes and bring them to

7 the office, treat them, provide food and

8 accommodation for that.  And the billing code for

9 this, you can see, most of those code has H code,

10 H004 code.  Those services do not to have a

11 psychiatrist for the patients to be treated.

12      Q.   Okay.  So the list of other providers who

13 those people can see patients without a psychiatrist

14 being there?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   And those services will be billed as

17 provider code 14?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   Okay.

20           MR. AGWARA:  I'll pass the witness.

21           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley,

22 before you start, can I ask a follow-up question and

23 then you can follow up on your questioning if need

24 be?

25           MS. BRADLEY:  Sure.
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1           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you.

2           Dr. Okeke, can you turn to Exhibit 10,

3 please.

4           THE WITNESS:  Yes.

5           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Just take that

6 first line, for example, where the service date says

7 "November 12, 2018."  Can you walk me through each

8 of those entries?

9           THE WITNESS:  Okay.  The billing provider

10 tax ID is the company's tax ID.  Then the billing

11 provider ID is the NPI for the company.  Then

12 billing provider code is the provider who provided

13 the service, like a social worker.  Then the company

14 name is billing provider --

15           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Let me back

16 you up.  On the billing provider NPI code --

17           THE WITNESS:  Yes.

18           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  -- whose number

19 was that, do you know?

20           THE WITNESS:  I don't know the person in

21 particular, no.

22           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  But that was

23 someone who falls in the category of 14.  You're

24 saying that was their provider number?

25           THE WITNESS:  Yes.
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1           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Okay.  Go on,

2 please.

3           THE WITNESS:  Then the company name is

4 Discovery Mind Center, LLC.  I don't know what the

5 PT is.  The provider ID.

6           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  That's your

7 provider ID; correct?

8           THE WITNESS:  No.  I don't know whether

9 this is for the company or I'm not sure exactly what

10 this provider ID is.

11           Then the next provider NPI code, that's my

12 provider NPI.  And then my name, and the speciality

13 is psychiatry.  Person ID, I believe is for the

14 patient because it have the date of birth next to it

15 and the age, the patient's name, and the date of

16 service.

17           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  You

18 said there were -- and so how many other

19 psychiatrists were in your office?

20           THE WITNESS:  I think there was one

21 psychiatrist and four or five nurse practitioners.

22           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Were you the

23 only psychiatrist or were there others?

24           THE WITNESS:  There was one other

25 psychiatrist.
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1           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  You and one

2 other?

3           THE WITNESS:  Yes.

4           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  This is --

5 correct me if I'm wrong, but this is -- is this your

6 billing records or a summary of billing records by a

7 program or some other party?

8           THE WITNESS:  This is the summary of the

9 billing record by a company that offers provider 14

10 services.

11           For example in my other company, Matthew

12 Okeke, M.D. Ltd., we could not have billed the code,

13 the procedural here, which is H2011.  Cannot be

14 billed in the other company, which is a provider 20.

15 But this is a provider 14, and they are authorized

16 to bill this code.

17           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  How is this --

18 they way this is set up with the different columns,

19 are you saying that that's the way the EMR system

20 sets it up?

21           THE WITNESS:  This is something that the

22 Medicaid set up.

23           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  Thank

24 you.

25           Mr. Agwara, do you have any other
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1 questions based on what I asked before Ms. Bradley

2 starts her cross?

3           MR. AGWARA:  No.

4           MS. BRADLEY:  May I have a couple of

5 minutes to look through, based on what he was just

6 talking about, the billing records?

7           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Yeah.  Let's

8 all go on mute, and indicate, Ms. Bradley, when

9 you're ready to commence.

10           MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  Ready.

11           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you,

12 Ms. Bradley.

13                  CROSS-EXAMINATION

14 BY MS. BRADLEY:

15      Q.   Dr. Okeke, based on the questions that

16 Ms. Halstead asked you, I have some questions now

17 that I'm just coming up with regarding the billing

18 records.

19           If you would turn to Exhibit 17,

20 page NSBME 0158.

21      A.   Yes.

22      Q.   Do you see in that first column there,

23 it's not all 014s, under PT.

24           Does that does mean -- because your name

25 is listed as well with the 020, and that is in that
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1 whole line.  Is your testimony the other

2 psychiatrist would have been providing care in this

3 case?

4      A.   The nurse practitioners.

5      Q.   I thought that you said that the nurse

6 practitioners bill with the code of 023?

7      A.   No.

8      Q.   That's what you said.

9      A.   I never mentioned 023.

10      Q.   Okay.  Maybe I misunderstood you.  But I

11 understood that you were 020, they were 023, and 014

12 was everyone else.

13           What was the nurse practitioner code?

14      A.   The nurse practitioner could be 024 if

15 they have their own practice.  But they are allowed

16 to work with other physician.

17      Q.   Yes, I'm aware.

18      A.   And use the physician's code.

19      Q.   Okay.  But this is 020.  I'm looking at

20 NSBME 0158, and there's three entries where it says

21 "020" in that first PT --

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   -- code.  And so my question is does that

24 mean that the other psychiatrist in your practice

25 was working on this case?
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1      A.   The psychiatrist or the nurse

2 practitioner.  It would be the nurse practitioner

3 because they would have put the name of the

4 psychiatrist if the psychiatrist had seen the

5 patient.

6      Q.   Okay.  But you just said, I think, that

7 024 is the provider type code for APRNs?

8      A.   But I also explained that if the APRN is

9 working in the office of the psychiatrist, they use

10 020.

11      Q.   Okay.  Okay.  So the 020 would be nurse

12 practitioner in this case?

13      A.   Yes.

14      Q.   Okay.  Then I don't think I have more

15 questions about that.

16           You testified at the start of this that

17 your EMR system shows any medicine that's been

18 prescribed in Nevada similar to running the PMP; is

19 that correct?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   Are you aware that some EMR systems can be

22 integrated with the PMP?

23      A.   That is something that is done

24 automatically by the EMR system.  It's not something

25 we make them do.
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1      Q.   Okay.  But are you aware that if the

2 system -- if your EMR system is, in fact, integrated

3 with the PMP that it would show you made the query?

4      A.   I'm not aware of that.

5      Q.   Okay.  Because earlier today, isn't it

6 true that you stipulated to 57 patients and not

7 running the PMP?

8      A.   Because I get the EMR system that updates

9 me of their current medication.

10      Q.   Okay.  And it was your testimony a few

11 minutes ago that it was legal for you to postdate a

12 prescription for three months.

13           Are you aware of the requirement to

14 postdate a prescription?

15      A.   I wasn't aware of the requirement to

16 postdate a prescription, no.

17      Q.   So were you postdating prescriptions?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   And you were not following the

20 requirements?

21           MR. AGWARA:  Objection.  Assumes

22 information that's already in the record.  What is

23 the requirement?

24 BY MS. BRADLEY:

25      Q.   Okay.  Were you aware that you had to put
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1 the date that you provided the prescription to the

2 patient on the prescription?

3      A.   I was not aware of that.  What I was aware

4 of is that if you postdate a prescription, the

5 pharmacy notes the date of the prescription.  And

6 even if the patient went to the pharmacy one day

7 before, the pharmacy will always call us to verify

8 when it's okay to fill it one day before the date of

9 prescription.

10           So it was my understanding that the

11 patient only presents the prescription to the

12 pharmacist the same day it was supposed to be that's

13 written on the prescription.

14           And more importantly, we give it to

15 patients that we have seen for in many, many months

16 and are aware of the prescribing habits and their

17 consumption of the medication.

18      Q.   Okay.  Is your testimony, then, that, for

19 example, if we turn to Exhibit 14, do you see that

20 one?

21      A.   Yes.

22      Q.   That one is dated for November 20, 2018?

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   Is it your testimony, then, that you did

25 not provide it to the patient on November 20, 2018,

Page 139

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200

Okeke Adjudication 
197



1 you provided it on a prior day?

2      A.   I provided it on a prior date.  When the

3 patient saw me, I was aware that I would not be in

4 the country November 20, 2018, and so I gave them a

5 prescription for that particular date.

6           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley,

7 could you refer me to that exhibit again, please.

8           MS. BRADLEY:  It's Exhibit 24, NSBME 0145.

9 BY MS. BRADLEY:

10      Q.   Then, Dr. Okeke, your testimony is that --

11 so we don't know, looking at this prescription

12 today, when you actually saw that patient?

13      A.   I probably saw the patient October 20,

14 2018.

15      Q.   But you didn't put that date anywhere on

16 here?

17      A.   No.

18      Q.   And you didn't put "do not fill before

19 November 20, 2018"?

20      A.   No.  I knew that the pharmacies will only

21 look at the date on the prescription and fill the

22 medication on the date of the prescription and not

23 before.

24      Q.   Okay.  I believe that your testimony in

25 response to one of the questions on direct with
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1 Mr. Agwara was that you have never charged for

2 services that were not rendered; is that correct?

3      A.   Yes.

4      Q.   Isn't it true that in the connection with

5 this case as shown in your response to the Board in

6 NSBME 0013 that you reimbursed the Department of

7 Health and Human Services $4,806.66 for billings

8 where you were overpaid?

9      A.   That's for different reasons, not

10 necessarily because I charged them for services that

11 were not rendered.

12      Q.   Okay.  But isn't it true that you

13 reimbursed $4,806.66, yes or no?

14      A.   Yes.  Can I make --

15      Q.   No.

16           MR. AGWARA:  It's okay.

17 BY MS. BRADLEY:

18      Q.   I'm a little confused regarding the

19 prescriptions that we through all of them.  It is

20 your testimony, then, that these prescriptions that

21 were dated for dates while you were out of the

22 country were, in fact, provided by you?

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   All of them?

25      A.   I didn't look through all of them, but if
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1 my signature is there, it's most likely that I saw

2 them and gave them prescriptions before I left the

3 country.

4      Q.   Okay.

5           MS. BRADLEY:  I have no further questions.

6           MR. AGWARA:  Can I follow up?

7           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Yes.

8                 REDIRECT EXAMINATION

9 BY MR. AGWARA:

10      Q.   The reimbursement that Ms. Bradley just

11 referred to, was it for billing or charging for

12 services not rendered?

13      A.   The --

14      Q.   Yes or no?  Did you charge or bill anybody

15 for not rendering service?

16      A.   No.

17      Q.   Okay.  So that reimbursement was for a

18 different reason?

19      A.   Yes.

20           MR. AGWARA:  That's all I have.

21           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Anything

22 further for Dr. Okeke?

23           MR. AGWARA:  Nope.

24           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley?

25           MS. BRADLEY:  I do need to call Ms. Zarley
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1 from the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy in rebuttal

2 regarding the EMRs and the integration of the PMP

3 and whether or not the query would show if it was in

4 fact done.

5           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

6           MS. BRADLEY:  We did release her earlier

7 because I thought that the admission was sufficient,

8 but ...

9           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  When do you

10 anticipate --

11           MR. AGWARA:  I'm confused.  What is it

12 that she's going to be confirming?

13           MS. BRADLEY:  She will say, under oath,

14 that if the EMR system is integrated with the PMP,

15 that the PMP will show that he made a query.

16           So the fact that he's saying he's seeing

17 this, it's not accurate, number one.  Number two,

18 the query would show up for that patient.  So when

19 it is integrated -- and that is something that could

20 happen with an EMR system -- that query still shows

21 on the Pharmacy Board side that it was done.

22           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Well, let me

23 ask you this.  I didn't -- the testimony, I

24 understood, and Dr. Okeke you can clarify for me if

25 need be.  The testimony as I understood it was that
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1 he didn't testify that that system was integrated

2 with the PMP.  He testified that it was linked to

3 prescriptions through Medicaid and wasn't integrated

4 with PMP.

5           MS. BRADLEY:  The only way for the

6 system -- what I wrote down that he said is that his

7 EMR shows any medicine in Nevada that has been

8 prescribed to that patient and it's similar to

9 running the PMP.  He said that's why he didn't run

10 the PMP.

11           Number one, the law still requires it,

12 but, number two, what he's saying is inaccurate.

13 The EMR cannot show that unless it's linked with the

14 PMP, which is possible.  It can be integrated,

15 however, then the query would show and I have --

16           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Right.  But my

17 point being is I think he is acknowledged that it

18 was not integrated with the PMP.

19           There was no explanation, other than it

20 comes from Medicaid, as to how that information was

21 populated.  But my understanding was, his testimony

22 was specifically that the EMS system was not

23 integrated with the PMP.

24           MS. BRADLEY:  It's also not correctly

25 saying -- he can't get that information from
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1 Medicaid for every medicine that the patient gets.

2 It's a very big deal, what is in the PMP.

3           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley,

4 this is what I'm saying:  He said it wasn't

5 integrate with the PMP.  That was his testimony.

6           So he didn't run the PMP.  If it's not

7 integrated, it wasn't run.  So that supports your

8 position.

9           MS. BRADLEY:  It does, but his testimony

10 is inaccurate.

11           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  It could be

12 inaccurate, but it doesn't matter because --

13           MS. BRADLEY:  Well, I have --

14           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  If he's

15 required to run the PMP, then he didn't do it.

16           MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  But, I mean, I have a

17 witness that can dispute that testimony regarding

18 what he says is in his EMR.

19           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  But it doesn't

20 matter what's in his EMR because he didn't run the

21 PMP if he was required to if the system was not

22 integrated.  And he's admitted that it was not

23 integrated.

24           MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.

25           MR. AGWARA:  Let me make sure I understand
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1 what's going on.

2           The -- I mean, we're getting testimony

3 from counsel.  Whether or not the two things are

4 integrated, we don't have an expert here to tell us

5 that.  We don't have anybody to tell us that.  Okay?

6           But I don't know how many types of EMRs

7 are out there or if it's just one type that has to

8 be integrated before someone can see the list of

9 medications or controlled substances that a patient

10 is on.

11           So I think we're kind of jumping to

12 conclusions here.  If she wants to call Ms. Zarley

13 to explain, I'm not against that.  I just want to

14 know what it is she's going to be saying.

15           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  That's what

16 I'm saying.  Dr. Okeke, himself, said that it was

17 not integrated.  That is what he said.

18           If he wants to modify that testimony, then

19 we're going to come back and we're going to hear

20 from the witness Ms. Bradley wants to call in

21 rebuttal.

22           I will go through the transcript and

23 confirm that was my understanding when I get it.

24           MR. AGWARA:  He's here whispering to me

25 that's not what he said or intended to say.  So, I
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1 mean, we're still on.  If you want him to clarify in

2 response to that, that's fine.

3           I just want to know what Ms. Zarley is

4 going to say.  Well, if she's even the one that

5 would be -- I think there's an overemphasis on the

6 PMP.

7           There's another way to see the -- what the

8 PMP requires.  All I'm saying is we need to note

9 that.  He's already said he did not run the PMP,

10 like Ms. Halstead correctly summarized.

11           Now, if there's an exception of what he's

12 saying is possible, I guess it's up to the Board now

13 to decide, okay, yeah, we understand that.  You can

14 also see it this way.

15           But, Ms. Halstead, what I understand

16 you're saying is the fact that he said he didn't run

17 it, that's enough.

18           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  If the law

19 says he needed to require the PMP and he did not run

20 the PMP, then that's he either or he didn't.

21           My understanding was his system did not

22 incorporate the PMP for running.  And now I'm

23 hearing you indicate that that's not necessarily

24 accurate, my understanding.

25           MR. AGWARA:  No, no, no.  Here's my
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1 concern:  The word "integrate" was used by counsel,

2 not by --

3           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Well, does Dr.

4 Okeke know if the PMP was integrated in his system

5 on not?  That's not what he testified to prior, as I

6 recall.  I'll go back and read it, but that was my

7 recollection.

8           THE WITNESS:  Okay.  My statement -- well,

9 what I know is that when we pull up the prescription

10 system in our EMR, it shows you all the medications

11 the patient is on, both controlled and

12 non-controlled.

13           Now, does that mean that the system is

14 integrated with the EMR?  I've never asked the

15 software provider.  But I know that we get all the

16 list of the medications of our patient once you open

17 the prescription portal.

18           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  You don't know

19 how those prescriptions were populated, then, you

20 just know they were there?

21           THE WITNESS:  Right.

22           And that was more useful information than

23 running the PMP because you get a list of all the

24 medications the patient is taking, rather than just

25 the controlled substances that you get running the
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1 EMR -- the PMP.

2           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley,

3 when do you want to call your witness in rebuttal?

4           MS. BRADLEY:  I would need to call her on

5 a future date.  I'm not sure her availability.  I

6 can text her right now, but I just don't know.  I

7 think she leaves work at 4:00.

8           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  I think the

9 questioning would be brief, so maybe she could come

10 first thing tomorrow morning.  I don't know if

11 that's possible.

12           MS. BRADLEY:  Yeah.  She's going to be

13 here in the morning anyway.

14           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  So

15 we'll just -- you can call her first thing in the

16 morning.

17           MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.

18           MR. AGWARA:  Yeah, that's fine.

19           MS. BRADLEY:  And then we will do closings

20 on this case and start the other one?

21           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Yes.

22           MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.

23           MR. AGWARA:  Okay.  You're saying no

24 closings until we hear from Ms. Zarley.  All right.

25 Are we going to reopen questioning or just going to
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1 hear from her and that's it.

2           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Well, she's a

3 rebuttal witness, so we will just hear from her and

4 that will be it.

5           MR. AGWARA:  Okay.  Thank you.

6           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Anything else

7 before we conclude today?

8           MR. AGWARA:  Not from us.

9           MS. BRADLEY:  Not from me.

10           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Then -- and

11 so, Mr. Agwara, will you and Dr. Okeke being

12 appearing in the Vegas office of the Medical Board

13 tomorrow?

14           MR. AGWARA:  I mean, I guess we have to

15 because we're not doing Zoom again, are we?

16           MS. BRADLEY:  At 1:30 tomorrow again we

17 will be on Zoom.  And 1:30 again on Thursday on Zoom

18 for Dr. Chen.

19           MR. AGWARA:  Okay.

20           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Let me ask you

21 this:  Instead of going back and forth between the

22 offices, do we all want to stay on Zoom?

23           MR. AGWARA:  That would be much better.

24           MS. BRADLEY:  We can if you'd like.

25           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  I would prefer
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1 that.  I think that's easier for the court reporter.

2           MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  I thought your

3 preference was in person, so we were trying to do

4 that in the morning and Zoom in the afternoon.

5           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  I appreciate

6 that.  It's still -- there's still remote for me

7 when I'm in person, but do appreciate the in person.

8           MR. AGWARA:  Ms. Bradley, what is the case

9 tomorrow?

10           MS. BRADLEY:  It's 24-22461-2.

11           MR. AGWARA:  The subject, do you know?

12           MS. BRADLEY:  I do.  We're still on the

13 record in this case, aren't we?

14           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  We are.  We

15 have not gone off the record.

16           Is there anything more that we need to

17 address in this case before we meet tomorrow

18 morning?

19           MR. AGWARA:  No.

20           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  So we will

21 start by Zoom.  We will reconvene on this matter,

22 8:30.  We'll start with Ms. Zarley in rebuttal, then

23 we'll do closing, and then we will move to the other

24 matter.

25           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.
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1           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Then we will

2 see everyone, virtually, tomorrow at 8:30.  We will

3 start promptly then.

4           All right.  Thank you, everyone.

5           (Hearing adjourned at 3:06 p.m.)

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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1 STATE OF NEVADA     )

                    )  ss.

2 COUNTY OF WASHOE    )

3

4           I, BRANDI ANN VIANNEY SMITH, do hereby

5 certify:

6           That I was present on October 22, 2024,

7 for the hearing at the Nevada State Board of Medical

8 Examiners, 9600 Gateway Drive, Reno, Nevada and in

9 the afternoon via Zoom, and took stenotype notes of

10 the proceedings entitled herein, and thereafter

11 transcribed the same into typewriting as herein

12 appears.

13           That the foregoing transcript is a full,

14 true, and correct transcription of my stenotype

15 notes of said proceedings consisting of 153 pages,

16 inclusive.

17           DATED:  At Reno, Nevada, this 9th day of

18 November, 2024.

19

20                         /s/ Brandi Ann Vianney Smith

21

                         ___________________________

22                          BRANDI ANN VIANNEY SMITH

23

24

25
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1    RENO, NEVADA -- OCTOBER 23, 2024 -- 8:51 A.M.

2                        -o0o-

3

4

5           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  We're back on

6 the record in case number 24-22461-1, In The Matter

7 of Charges and Complaint against Dr. Matthew Obim

8 Okeke, MD.  We had this hearing yesterday, it's

9 continued to today.  We're on the rebuttal case by

10 the IC.  Ms. Bradley wanted to call Ms. Zarley, who

11 I see is present.  Ms. Zarley was not sworn in this

12 case.

13           Ms. Zarley, can you please raise your

14 right hand to be sworn?

15           (The oath was administered.)

16           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley,

17 your witness.

18           MS. BRADLEY:  Thank you.

19                  DIRECT EXAMINATION

20 BY MS. BRADLEY:

21      Q.   Ms. Zarley, please state your name and

22 spell your last name for the record.

23      A.   Sure.  Darla Zarley, Z-A-R-L-E-Y.

24      Q.   Who is your employer?

25      A.   Nevada State Board of Pharmacy.
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1      Q.   How long have you had that position?

2      A.   Six years.

3      Q.   Do you have any other Pharmacy Board

4 experience?

5      A.   It was appointed by the Governor to serve

6 as a board member from 2015 to 2018.

7      Q.   And are you licensed pharmacist?

8      A.   Yes, I am.

9      Q.   How long have you been a licensed

10 pharmacist?

11      A.   Twenty-seven years.

12      Q.   As the Prescription Monitoring Program

13 administrator, what are your duties?

14      A.   I oversee the daily functions of the

15 Prescription Monitoring Program operations, and part

16 of that role is our team registers all of the PMP

17 users.  We are the gatekeepers to who gets access to

18 the system, and we only grant access to those

19 individuals who have statutory authority to have

20 access.

21           We also oversee analyzing all of the data

22 that is submitted to the Prescription Monitoring

23 Program.  We look for compliance, data reporting,

24 doctor shoppers, high prescribers, and those type of

25 duties.
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1      Q.   Are you familiar with EMR systems and how

2 they may access PMP information?

3      A.   Yes.

4      Q.   And just for the record, what does EMR

5 stand for, if you know?

6      A.   Electronic medical record.

7      Q.   How would it work that an EMR system would

8 access the PMP?

9      A.   So if someone wants to connect directly to

10 the Prescription Monitoring Program, they have to

11 submit a request, it's called an "integration

12 request," to get access.

13           There are several steps that take place to

14 get the access connected.  They have to complete a

15 contract with our vendor, they have to fill out a

16 Nevada-specific questionnaire, and then they have to

17 be approved by me in order to gain access to the PMP

18 directly from their electronic medical record.

19           And once they connected -- once they are

20 connected, it actually is a tab in their system

21 where they could run the patient's PMP right from

22 there.

23      Q.   And if a physician uses an EMR system

24 that's integrated with the PMP to query a patient,

25 does the PMP capture that query in your records?
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1      A.   Yes, absolutely.  That's required to have

2 an audit trail for any patient query that's done in

3 the system.  Those queries show up on our audit

4 report as a gateway request.

5      Q.   Okay.  So does Dr. Okeke -- or I should

6 say "did," because I believe his office is closed

7 now because he's inactive.

8           Did he at one time have an integrated

9 system?

10      A.   Yes, he did.

11      Q.   When did he have an integrated system?

12      A.   His office submitted a request to be

13 connected to the PMP September 20, 2019.

14      Q.   Okay.

15      A.   But the system was not fully connected, we

16 had to do all of the steps to get connected.  They

17 requested in September of 2019, but it wasn't fully

18 operational until July of 2020.

19      Q.   July of 2020.  Okay.

20           So the time we're talking about for this

21 case, June 30, 2018, through July 7, 2018, and

22 November 9, 2018, through November 23, 2018, was his

23 integrated?

24      A.   No.  That's not possible.  We didn't even

25 launch PMP integration until February 11, 2019.  So
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1 no one was integrated before that time.

2      Q.   Okay.  So yesterday Dr. Okeke testified

3 that at the time of the events at issue in this

4 case, those November and June 2018 dates, he said

5 that the EMR system he was using showed any

6 medication that a patient was prescribed anywhere in

7 Nevada, and he said it was the same as running a

8 PMP.

9           Is that possible?

10      A.   No.  They would have to be connected to

11 the PMP in order to see the complete controlled

12 substance history of a patient.

13      Q.   Do you have an idea of what Dr. Okeke

14 might have been accessing?

15      A.   He might have been accessing their

16 insurance records, which would be limited to only

17 that insurance company, but I can guarantee you he

18 wasn't connected to the Prescription Monitoring

19 Program.

20      Q.   So it's not something that would have been

21 equal access?

22      A.   No.  Because if a patient had more than

23 one insurance, it would only show the insurance

24 records from one.  If a patient paid cash, it

25 wouldn't show those records.  It would not be a
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1 complete record or a history of all the controlled

2 substances for the State.

3      Q.   Okay.  In this case, Dr. Okeke stipulated

4 to not querying the prescription, the prescribing

5 history for 57 patients.  And it's, for the record

6 C, E, J, K, N, through triple N.

7           Does that match the records for the Board

8 of Pharmacy for the time period we're talking about,

9 which is June 30, 2018, through July 7, 2018, and

10 November 9, 2018, through November 23, 2018?

11      A.   Yes, that is correct.

12      Q.   What did the law require with regard to

13 checking a PMP during the time period at issue in

14 this case?

15      A.   The practitioner needs to query the

16 patient's controlled substance history report prior

17 to prescribing a controlled substance.  And if they

18 are going to continue to prescribe, they need to

19 check it every 90 days thereafter.

20      Q.   When was that requirement effective?

21      A.   January 1, 2018.

22      Q.   Does the law have an exception that allows

23 a physician not to query the patient's prescribing

24 history if the physician has access through

25 insurance records?

Page 9

Veritext Legal Solutions
Calendar-NV@veritext.com 702-314-7200

Okeke Adjudication 
259



1      A.   No, there's no exceptions.

2      Q.   And I think you already addressed it,

3 that's because that information may not be complete?

4      A.   Correct.

5      Q.   According to information that you reviewed

6 in the exhibits in connection with this case, did

7 Dr. Okeke meet the requirements of Nevada law to

8 query the prescribing history for patients C, E, G,

9 J, K, N, through triple N?

10      A.   No, he did not.

11           MS. BRADLEY:  I have no further questions

12 at this time.

13           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Mr. Agwara?

14                  CROSS-EXAMINATION

15 BY MR. AGWARA:

16      Q.   Which specific Nevada law requires a

17 doctor to query the PMP of a patient?

18      A.   NRS 639.23507.

19      Q.   Do you have the language of that law?

20      A.   I do.  Do you want me to read it to you?

21      Q.   Please.

22      A.   Okay.

23           "NRS 639.23507, patient utilization report

24 required before initiating a prescription and

25 periodically thereafter for a controlled substance
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1 in certain circumstances.

2           "1.  Except as otherwise provided in

3 subsection 2, a practitioner, other than a

4 veterinarian, shall, before issuing an initial

5 prescription for controlled substance listed in

6 Schedule 2, 3, 4, for an opioid that is a controlled

7 substance listed in Schedule 5, at least once every

8 90 days and at least once 90 days thereafter for the

9 duration of the course of treatment using the

10 controlled substance."

11           Do you want me to continue?

12      Q.   No.

13           Now, what are the certain circumstances

14 referenced in that -- what you just read?  If you

15 know.

16      A.   I'm not sure what you're --

17      Q.   Well, if you look at the beginning it said

18 "in certain circumstances"?

19      A.   Oh, I don't know that.  It's subsection 2,

20 it says, "as otherwise provided in subsection 2."

21      Q.   Okay.  And do you have that subsection 2?

22      A.   Yes.  Subsection 2 is referring to a

23 patient who is diagnosed with cancer, sickle cell,

24 or hospice and palliative care.

25           They have a little bit different
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1 parameters for querying than your normal patients.

2      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.

3           Now, do you know if any of the 57 patients

4 had or did not have insurance?

5      A.   I don't have that information.

6      Q.   Okay.

7      A.   What I can see in the system is that we

8 can see how the system reports as to how they paid,

9 but I don't have that information.  I don't have the

10 patient-specific information.

11      Q.   All right.  Have you notice a difference

12 in how practitioners used the PMP from, perhaps,

13 what the law expects?

14      A.   You mean are they compliant with what the

15 law requires?

16      Q.   I mean, compliant, consistently compliant,

17 somewhat compliant, does it depend on the field of

18 medicine?

19           I mean, if a pain doctor -- I mean, have

20 you noticed a difference, say, between pain doctors

21 and, say, family practitioners?  Do you understand

22 what I'm saying?

23      A.   I do.  We don't have -- in our system, we

24 don't know what type of a practitioner they are.  We

25 don't know if they are pain management, we don't
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1 know if they are family practice, we don't know if

2 they are a dentist.  We don't have that information

3 for us to be able that do that analysis.

4      Q.   Okay.  Now, in 2018, do you know how

5 providers were notified of this law?

6      A.   The Medical Board actually did -- they had

7 a news letter that it was published in, and it

8 was -- let me see -- December of 2017, this news

9 letter was sent out to their licensees.  It was

10 posted on our website, the Board of Pharmacy's

11 website.  It was also posted on the Medical Board's

12 website, the Medical Association, they all had this

13 information available.  And then we published the

14 white paper that was -- the Medical Association sent

15 out.

16      Q.   You said -- okay.  Did you send it to

17 individual doctors?

18      A.   I don't know if it was sent to individual

19 doctors.

20      Q.   Okay.  Are all EMRs the same?

21      A.   No.

22      Q.   So your testimony was that if they were

23 looking at the insurance records, some patients who

24 have insurance, that the history of prescriptions or

25 medications will be on there; is that correct?
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1      A.   They potentially may be, depending on how

2 they are set up.  I don't know what Dr. Okeke saw.

3      Q.   Okay.  How about Medicare patients?

4      A.   Medicare or Medicaid?

5      Q.   No.  Medicare.

6      A.   Medicare, it depends on how their system

7 is set up.  It just varies.  There are hundreds of

8 EMR systems, so it just depends on how it's set up.

9      Q.   And Medicaid, the same answer?

10      A.   Same thing.

11      Q.   Okay.  As you sit here, you don't know

12 what type of EMR Dr. Okeke had in 2018; is that

13 correct?

14      A.   I have no idea.

15           MR. AGWARA:  That's all the questions I

16 have.

17           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you.

18           Ms. Bradley?

19           MS. BRADLEY:  I have no further questions

20 at this time.

21           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Do you have

22 any further rebuttal witnesses?

23           MS. BRADLEY:  I don't.  Thank you.

24           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  Can

25 Ms. Zarley be released?
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1           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.  We will need her in

2 the case we're doing later today, but I'm done with

3 her in this case.  Thank you.

4           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

5           In this case, Ms. Zarley, you're released.

6 Thank you for your time this morning.  We will see

7 you this afternoon, later today.

8           THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

9           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  If there are

10 no further witnesses, we will move to closings.

11           Ms. Bradley, you're going to go first.

12           MS. BRADLEY:  I'm ready.

13           I want to start with -- before I get to

14 the actual closing -- in amending the complaint

15 yesterday, I realized that I still need to amend

16 paragraph 339 to be consistent, and so I should

17 replace the C, E, G, I through triple N with A

18 through M.  I just want to make that clear because

19 we removed it to the counts, but I did update

20 paragraph 339.

21           I also failed to amend --

22           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Wait.  Let me

23 just make sure I understood that.

24           Paragraph 339, patient's C, E, G, I

25 through triple N will say "A through M," like Mary?
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1           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

2           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

3           Mr. Agwara, are you fine with that, note

4 that change?

5           MR. AGWARA:  No, that's fine.  That is

6 okay as long as it's consistent with what we did

7 yesterday.  That's fine.

8           MS. BRADLEY:  Yeah, it's consistent with

9 what we did yesterday.  I just realized that this is

10 also needed to be changed and I didn't say it.

11           And then the second one that also would

12 need to be changed would be paragraph 342, because

13 this is where we're talking about the medical

14 records, and it should just be patients A through M,

15 like Mary, because we only have medical records in

16 the record for A through M, like Mary.

17           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  And what about

18 paragraph 341?

19           MS. BRADLEY:  I'm sorry.  I misspoke when

20 I said 341.  It's 339 and 342.

21           341 is about the prescriptions that were

22 signed or we believe were pre-signed.

23           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.

24           MS. BRADLEY:  And we still stand with

25 that.
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1           I am going to remove -- and I did not say

2 this yesterday, but going through the closing, I'm

3 going to remove paragraph 337 and 338, just strike

4 those.

5           And, again, we will be doing an amended

6 complaint that has all these changes so that we have

7 an accurate document for the record.

8           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Any other

9 changes?

10           MS. BRADLEY:  Those are the only changes.

11           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  So for

12 the record, I'm striking paragraph 337 and paragraph

13 338 of the Complaint that was filed on February 21,

14 2024.

15           As to paragraph 339, I'm changing patients

16 to Patient A through M.  And on paragraph 342, I'm

17 changing patients to A through M.

18           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes, that's correct.

19           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  Those

20 changes will be reflected as well as the others that

21 were done yesterday in an amended complaint that

22 will be filed by you subsequent to the hearing.

23           MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.  Thank you.

24           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Anything else

25 before we proceed to closing argument?
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1           MS. BRADLEY:  That's all I had.

2           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  The floor's

3 yours.

4           MS. BRADLEY:  Thank you.

5                  CLOSING STATEMENT

6           MS. BRADLEY:  With regard to this case,

7 the Investigative Committee has introduced into

8 evidence records that support the 66 claims that it

9 has alleged of malpractice.

10           For 57 patients, which is C, E, J, K, N

11 through triple N, Dr. Okeke admitted to failing to

12 query the patient's PMP history.  This is required

13 by NRS 639.23507, and failing to conduct these

14 queries violates the Medical Practice Act pursuant

15 to NRS 630.306(1)(b)(3).  It also constitutes a

16 failure to follow the standard of care with regard

17 to treating these patients and constitutes

18 malpractice pursuant to NRS 630.301(4).

19           Malpractice under the Nevada Medical

20 Practice Act is different than it may be in a civil

21 court, and NAC 630.040 defines malpractice for

22 purposes of the Medical Practice Act as, "The

23 failure of a physician or other provider licensed by

24 the Board in treating a patient to use the

25 reasonable care, skill, or knowledge ordinarily used
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1 under similar circumstance."

2           Failure to comply with the law is not

3 reasonable.  It just isn't.  I think that's

4 something that is pretty well established under the

5 legal framework that we have.  A reasonable

6 physician would query the PMP history of his

7 patients as required by law.  Period.

8           Dr. Okeke said in his testimony that his

9 EMR showed any medicine or medications in Nevada and

10 it was similar to running a PMP report for the

11 patient.  In other words, his way works just as well

12 so he doesn't think that he has to follow the law,

13 but it doesn't work that way.  We don't get to pick

14 and chose what the law says.

15           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley.

16 I'm sorry to interrupt you.  I just want to remind

17 you that when you read, you have to read slower for

18 the court reporter, because you're speeding up

19 pretty good.

20           MS. BRADLEY:  Sorry.

21           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  We all do it.

22 I just wanted to remind you so we have a good

23 record.

24           MS. BRADLEY:  I cannot drive 50 miles per

25 hour when the speed limit says 35, even if I'm
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1 careful.  The speed limit always applies regardless

2 of the care I take or even if no one is hurt by my

3 speeding.

4           Dr. Okeke failed to query the prescribing

5 history for 57 patients, as he admitted, as the

6 record and evidence show, and this constitutes both

7 a violation of NRS 630.306(1)(b)(3), and NRS

8 630.301(4).

9           Dr. Okeke also admitted to writing the

10 paper prescriptions in the record that were signed

11 by him and dated for a date while he was out of the

12 country.  He says that he provided these

13 prescriptions to his patients because he knew he was

14 going to be out of the country.  But this also does

15 not comply with Nevada law.

16           In her testimony, Dr. Chen said it was

17 permissible to postdate a prescription, but the

18 prescription had to have the date that it was

19 written, the actual date that it was written on it

20 and provided to the patient, along with a note that

21 said that it may not be filled before a specific

22 date.

23           Neither of those items were included on

24 these prescriptions.  Again, that violates Nevada

25 law.
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1           I also want to note that this postdating

2 is allowed only for Scheduled 2 prescriptions.  I

3 believe most of the ones, if not all of the ones, in

4 this case are.  I did not go back and double check

5 them, but it's Schedule 2 that allows this.  This

6 requirement is contained in NAC 453.450(4).

7           Dr. Okeke failed to properly write these

8 postdated prescriptions for his patients in

9 violation of that NAC, which is 454.450(4), and he

10 rendered -- that renders these prescriptions

11 fraudulent, illegal, unauthorized, or otherwise

12 inappropriate prescribing in violation of the

13 Medical Practice Act, specifically NRS

14 630.3062(1)(h).

15           And, again, failure to follow a statutory

16 duty may also constitute malpractice because it

17 falls below the standard of care.

18           We talked yesterday about the standard of

19 care and the fact that it's universal, the law

20 specifically is universal.  And if you fall below

21 what law requires, that's just not reasonable.

22 That's following below the standard of care, and so,

23 therefore, we submit that that also is malpractice.

24           It is not reasonable for Dr. Okeke as a

25 privileged license holder and educated person to
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1 fail to follow the law --

2           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Ms. Bradley,

3 I'm sorry.  We seemed to have lost Mr. Agwara.

4           (Mr. Agwara rejoined the hearing.)

5           HEARING OFFICER HALSTEAD:  Welcome back,

6 Mr. Agwara.

7           Sorry about that, Ms. Bradley.  Please

8 continue.

9           MS. BRADLEY:  It is not reasonable for Dr.

10 Okeke as a privileged license holder and educated

11 person to fail to follow the law with regard to

12 prescribing controlled substances, given how

13 dangerous they can be.

14           Dr. Okeke is required to take 40 hours of

15 continuing education courses every time he renews

16 his license.  He has a duty to ensure that 20 of

17 those hours are taken in his scope of practice and

18 to ensure that he remains competent and

19 knowledgeable regarding the requirements of his

20 practice.

21           To quote an old adage, "Ignorance of the

22 law is no excuse."  It's not an excuse and it's also

23 not reasonable.

24           Dr. Okeke testified that he knew the

25 pharmacy would not fill the prescription before the
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1 date that he wrote in the prescription, essentially.

2 Again, he is implying that he didn't need to follow

3 the law because the pharmacy wouldn't fill it prior

4 to that, and his way, essentially, is fine even if

5 it doesn't comply.  But that's not what the law

6 says.  That's not what the law allows.  And, again,

7 we don't get to pick and choose what the law says.

8           Dr. Okeke's counsel asked Dr. Chen if it

9 was possible that he simply forgot to include the

10 dates the prescriptions were provided and the "do

11 not fill before" language.  He then asked her if

12 forgetting to write something falls below the

13 standard of care.

14           Forgetting to write something by itself

15 may be enough just by itself to fall below the

16 standard of care.  However in this case, this is not

17 one instance of forgetting to write something that

18 is required, but 72 instances of forgetting to write

19 something.

20           That isn't reasonable and the IC asserts

21 that it is enough to fall below the standard of care

22 and, therefore, if it was a forgetting, it's still

23 sufficient to meet the burden that the Board has of

24 a preponderance of the evidence.

25           As Dr. Chen said, prescribing controlled
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1 substances is important and serious.  It's important

2 to ensure that it's done correctly.  There's a

3 reason that not everyone can write controlled

4 substance prescriptions.  There's a reason that

5 actually to do so requires both a license from our

6 board, the Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners,

7 and a registration with the Nevada State Board of

8 Pharmacy.  This isn't something that's automatically

9 handed out.  And all of the requirements for

10 prescribing need to be followed very carefully and

11 very strictly.

12           Finally, the Investigative Committee wants

13 to take a second to point out the discrepancies

14 between Dr. Okeke's story today versus what he said

15 to the Board in his written responses in connection

16 with this case, because this goes to the credibility

17 of his testimony provided during the hearing.

18           In Exhibit 2 on page NSBME 0013, the same

19 words are also included in Exhibit 3, NSBME 0026,

20 which is the second letter, so there's the first

21 letter in Exhibit 2, a second letter in Exhibit 3.

22 I believe the difference between the two primarily

23 is that the second one was signed by Dr. Okeke and

24 it has a few additional things, but the same

25 admission is made that his office was overpaid in
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1 the amount of $4,806.66.  However yesterday, Dr.

2 Okeke asserted that he and his office had never

3 billed for services that were not rendered.

4           Additionally yesterday, Dr. Okeke admitted

5 to writing all of the prescriptions that are in the

6 record, signed by him, and dated for dates while he

7 was out of the country.  He said that he provided

8 them to his patients because he knew he was going to

9 be gone.

10           The IC appreciates that Dr. Okeke has

11 finally admitted to writing those prescriptions for

12 those patients.  However, in two prior written

13 responses to the Board, Dr. Okeke firmly denied

14 writing these prescriptions.  In fact, first in

15 Exhibit 2, NSBME 011, in a response dated May 16,

16 2019, and in Exhibit 3, also dated May 16, 2019, he

17 stated he did not pre-sign or authorize unlicensed

18 individuals to sign on his behalf prescriptions for

19 controlled substances for any patient.  And second

20 in a response dated August 27, 2019, contained in

21 Exhibit 4, NSBME 0032, second paragraph, Dr. Okeke

22 stated that he stood by his response that he did not

23 see those patients on those dates and did not sign

24 or authorize anyone to sign of his behalf

25 prescriptions for those patients.  He also asserted
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1 in that same paragraph that his former office

2 manager may have stamped the subject prescriptions

3 with his time-stamped signature.

4           However, yesterday this all changed, and

5 Dr. Okeke admitted to writing the prescriptions and

6 providing them to patients on days other than the

7 date included on the prescription.

8           Now the issue is that he just forgot to

9 include the information that the law requires for

10 postdated prescriptions, which is fine, because the

11 pharmacy would not fill it before the date written

12 anyway.

13           We also just heard testimony from

14 Ms. Zarley indicating that Dr. Okeke's

15 representations about his EMR system were not

16 accurate for the time at issue in this Complaint.

17 Specifically, the June 30, 2018, to July 7, 2018,

18 and November 2018 dates, because that is when the

19 requirement to query was in place.  And those are

20 the prescriptions we're focusing on mostly here.

21           That is when it was required for him to

22 query, and there's no way, she said, that his system

23 would have shown what he said.  It might have shown

24 some of the insurance records, but it certainly

25 wasn't equivalent to the PMP.  And the PMP
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1 information is strictly limited and it's not

2 accessible by just anyone, and to have an integrated

3 system wasn't even possible until the

4 following year.  A regular EMR system would not have

5 this information, and his system was not integrated

6 until July 2020, she said.

7           For those reasons, we would suggest that

8 Dr. Okeke's representations have not always been

9 accurate and credible, and this goes to the

10 credibility of his testimony.

11           In summary, we would ask that you make a

12 recommendation to the Board that the Investigative

13 Committee has proved the alleged facts and

14 violations of law as contained in the first amended

15 complaint that we will be filing in this matter

16 early next week after these hearings are concluded.

17           Thank you.

18           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you,

19 Ms. Bradley.

20           Mr. Agwara?

21                  CLOSING STATEMENT

22           MR. AGWARA:  Let me start by saying

23 that -- or by noting that about 90 percent of the

24 prescriptions we're talking about were written in

25 November or for November 2018, which would be almost
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1 six years ago.

2           Now, Ms. Bradley spent a lot of time

3 talking about the law and whether or not the doctors

4 can pick and choose what law they obey.  Nobody is

5 saying anybody can choose and pick the law they

6 obey.  The point, however, is in practice, whether

7 it's law or whether it's medicine, since it's not

8 done exactly the same by every practitioner.

9           I was amazed that she spent as much time

10 as she did on an issue that has already been

11 admitted, that there was no query done for the PMP.

12 I think the Hearing Officer tried to make that point

13 yesterday.  That part has already admitted.

14           Now, whether or not the Board chooses to

15 accept his reason for not running it is up to the

16 Board.  Listening to Ms. Bradley, you would think

17 that Dr. Okeke committed some heinous felony.  Okay?

18           But the point is he's been practicing for

19 a long time.  If you talk -- if you go back and talk

20 to a lot of psychiatrists and look into their

21 practice in 2018, I can guarantee you over 90

22 percent of them were not running the PMPs the way

23 they were expected or supposed to.  That's the point

24 that we're trying to make.

25           It's not that he's excusing not running
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1 it.  I mean, we lawyers are required to show up in

2 person to do conferences, but most lawyers do it

3 over the phone.  That doesn't mean that we're

4 picking and choosing certain laws to obey.  The

5 point we're trying to make is in practice, things

6 are done for several reasons a little differently.

7           Now, if you have a system that allows you

8 to see what the patient is taking, whether from the

9 insurance history or whether you ran the PMP, it's a

10 judgment he made at the time.  That was six years

11 ago.  The rules have changed now.  And I guess the

12 Board will have to make of that what they think.

13           Now, there were other allegations of

14 billing for services not rendered, and there was no

15 single evidence that the IC produced of that.

16 Ms. Bradley made a reference to a reimbursement of

17 $4,000 and change, but what she did not tell you is

18 what that reimbursement was for.  That if someone

19 reimburses, it doesn't mean they billed for services

20 not rendered.  Okay?  Maybe there was a mistake in

21 coding, maybe -- I mean, there's several reasons why

22 reimbursements are made.  So to make an assumption

23 is wrong.

24           Also, there's a difference in saying when

25 Dr. Okeke says he postdated prescriptions, unless
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1 you have evidence to the contrary, I don't know the

2 basis for the assertion or the belief he didn't.

3           Now, Dr. Chen, I mean, it is not -- she

4 didn't write the law on this.  She has her opinion.

5 She's only been practicing for eight years, since

6 2016, and her expertise so far, four to six times as

7 an expert, was on Dr. Okeke's cases.  So just

8 because she disagrees with the way Dr. Okeke

9 practiced doesn't make Dr. Okeke an outlaw, someone

10 who doesn't practice according to the standards.

11           He has practiced medicine in the United

12 Kingdom, he has practiced medicine here, and hasn't

13 had an incident of overdose, haven't had a patient

14 die while being treated.  When we are going through

15 this hearing, we need to keep that in mind.  And

16 boards that temper and not imply that somehow my

17 client is out there running around doing whatever he

18 wants while the law requires something else.

19           Now, they allege that Dr. Okeke charged

20 for visits to the physician's office which did not

21 occur.  I think we spent a good time yesterday going

22 over that where he explained the difference between

23 type 14 providers and 20 providers and whether or

24 not the physician is required to be there when type

25 14 providers are seeing patients.
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1           I think there's enough in the record to

2 show that the IC did not carry its burden on that

3 charge.  I don't want go through the whole thing.

4 All I'm going to do -- other than for the PMP,

5 which, I mean, it is what it is.  If he didn't run

6 it, he didn't run, but he had his reasons.  I think

7 that's sufficient lack of evidence, whether

8 testimonial or documentary, to show that the IC did

9 not carry its burden on the remaining counts.

10           And with that, we will submit.

11           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Thank you,

12 Mr. Agwara.

13           Anything further from the parties in

14 relation to this particular matter?

15           MS. BRADLEY:  Not from me.  Thank you.

16           MR. AGWARA:  No.

17           HEARING OFFICER HEALSTEAD:  Okay.  Thank

18 you.  We will go off the record for a moment just

19 for logistical purposes.

20           (Hearing concluded at 9:33 a.m.)

21

22

23

24

25
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1 STATE OF NEVADA     )

                    )  ss.

2 COUNTY OF WASHOE    )

3

4           I, BRANDI ANN VIANNEY SMITH, do hereby

5 certify:

6           That I was present on October 23, 2024,

7 for the hearing via Zoom, and took stenotype notes

8 of the proceedings entitled herein, and thereafter

9 transcribed the same into typewriting as herein

10 appears.

11           That the foregoing transcript is a full,

12 true, and correct transcription of my stenotype

13 notes of said proceedings consisting of 32 pages,

14 inclusive.

15           DATED:  At Reno, Nevada, this 9th day of

16 November, 2024.

17

18                         /s/ Brandi Ann Vianney Smith

19

                         ___________________________

20                          BRANDI ANN VIANNEY SMITH

21

22

23

24

25
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NEVADA STATE BOARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS 
6010 S. Rainbow Blvd., Bldg. A, Ste. 2 

Las Vegas, NV 89118 
Rachakonda D. Prabhu, M.D. 

Board President 

䅰物汬 2, 2019 

Matthew Okeke, M.D. 
2021 South Jones Blvd. 
Las Vegas, NV 89146 

RE: BME CASE #:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  
PATIENT:  

Dear Dr. Okeke: 

Edward 0. Cousineau, J.D.. 
Executive Director 

We have received information and a complaint that you are allegedly pre-signing prescriptions, or 
authorizing your staff to sign your name on prescriptions, for controlled substances when you are not in 
the United States, you are billing for services not rendered, and you may be failing to maintain accurate 
and complete medical records. 

It is alleged: 

1. You either pre-signed, or authorized unlicensed individual(s)) to sign on your behalf, multiple 
prescriptions for controlled substances for multiple patients while you were not in the United States 
from February 26, 2017, through March 11, 2017, when you traveled to Paris, France; from 
September 27, 2017, through October 2, 2017, when you traveled to Ikeja, Lagos State, Nigeria; June 
30, 2018, through July 7, 2018, when you traveled to Port of Spain; November 10, 2018, through 
November 23, 2018. when you traveled to Ikeja, Lagos State, Nigeria. 

Sh VIA unsigned 

6 /Mb signed e 
Telephone 702-486-3300 • Fax 702-486-3301 • www.medboard.nv.gov • nsbme@medboard.nv.gov  
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2017, 
2. You are billing Medicaid under your NPI number 1730272709 for services not rendered when you 

traveled outside the United States from February 26, through March 11, 2017, when you 
traveled to Paris, France; from September 27, 2017, through October 2, 2017, when you traveled to 
lkeja, Lagos State, Nigeria; June 30, 2018, through July 7, 2018, when you traveled to Port of Spain; 
November 10, 2018, through November 23, 2018, when you traveled to Ikeja, Lagos State, Nigeria, 
and for services not rendered by yourself to patients at Discovery Mind Center LLC, Forward 
Impressions LLC, Grand Desert Medical and Psychiatric Group, Grand Desert Psychiatric Services, 
Nevada Care Center, Nevada Treatment Center and The Center for Behavioral Health Service. 

3. You are failing to maintain accurate and complete medical records relating to the treatment 
and care of patients by documenting yourself as the provider of care while you were not in the United 
States from February 26, 2017, through March 1 1, 2017, when you traveled to Paris, France; from 
September 27, 2017, through October 2, 2017, when you traveled to Ikeja, Lagos State, Nigeria; June 
30, 2018, through July 7, 2018, when you traveled to Port of Spain; November 10, 2018. through 
November 23, 2018, when you traveled to Ikeja, Lagos State, Nigeria. 

It is further alleged: 

4. You may have been deceptive with the Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners (Board) on your 
2017 license renewal, which was uploaded (submitted) on June 8, 2017, by failing to answer "yes" to 
question 6: "Have you been arrested, investigated for, charged with, convicted of, or pled guilty or 
nolo contendere to any offense or violation of any federal (including the Uniform Code of Military 
Justice), state or local law, or the laws of any foreign country, which is a misdemeanor, gross 
misdemeanor, felony, violation of the Uniform Code of Military Justice, or synonymous thereto in a 
foreign jurisdiction, excluding any minor traffic offense (driving or being in control of a motor 
vehicle while under the influence of a chemical substance, including alcohol, is not considered a 
minor traffic offense), or for any offense which is related to the manufacture, distribution, 
prescribing, or dispensing of controlled substances? Please note that you MUST disclose ANY 
investigation or arrest, including those where the final disposition was dismissal, or expungement 
during this time period." by failing to report to the Board you were notified in writing on April 17, 
2017, that you were under investigation by the Department of Health and Human Services Division of 
Health Care Financing and Policy Medicaid Surveillance and Utilization Review (SUR) Unit for 
receiving overpayments in the amount of $4,806.66 at Discovery Mind Center LLC located at 2021 S. 
Jones Blvd. Las Vegas, NV 89146. On June 5, 2017, you signed an acknowledgement of policy 
education and agreement for reimbursement. 

It is further alleged: 

5. You either pre-signed, or authorized unlicensed individual(s) to sign on your behalf, a prescription for 
the controlled substance Adderall for patient , who is also your 
employee, while you traveled outside the United States to Paris on March 6, 2017. 

It is further alleged: 

6. From February 26, 2017, through March 1 1, 2017, you were outside the United States; however, you 
billed Medicaid for services rendered for multiple patients who were treated at Nevada Care Center 
aka Nevada Integrated Behavioral Services Inc. and Grand Desert Medical and Psychiatric Group. 
You received reimbursement from Medicaid for approximately $31,135.17, even though you were 
outside the United States, you did not examine the patients and you did not provide the associated 
psychotherapy following patient biofeedback treatments. 
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It is further alleged: 

7. From September 27, 2017, through October 2, 2017, you were outside the United States; however, 
you billed Medicaid for services rendered for multiple patients who were treated at Grand Desert 
Medical and Psychiatric Group. You received reimbursement from Medicaid for approximately 
$698.18, even though you were outside the United States, you did not examine the patients, you did 
not provide the associated psychotherapy following patient biofeedback treatments, and you had 
already been investigated, and found to be not in compliance with Medicaid policies, on April 17, 
2017. 

it is further alleged: 

8. From June 30, 2018, through July 7, 2018, you were outside the United States; however, you billed 
Medicaid for services rendered for multiple patients who were treated at Grand Desert Medical and 
Psychiatric Group and Grand Desert Psychiatric Services. You received reimbursement from 
Medicaid for approximately $976.50, even though you were outside the United States, you did not 
examine the patients, you did not provide the associated psychotherapy following patient biofeedback 
treatments, and you had already been investigated, and found to be not in compliance with Medicaid 
policies, on April 17, 2017. 

It is further alleged: 

9. From November 9, 2018, through November 23, 2018, you were outside the United States; however, 
you billed Medicaid for services rendered for multiple patients who were treated at Discovery Mind 
Center LLC, Grand Desert Medical and Psychiatric Group, Grand Desert Psychiatric Services and 
Forward Impressions LLC. You received reimbursement from Medicaid for approximately 
$149,747.24, even though you were outside the United States, you did not examine the patients, you 
did not provide the associated psychotherapy following patient biofeedback treatments, and you have 
already been investigated, and found to be not in compliance with Medicaid policies, on April 17, 
2017 and again on March 21, 2018. 

It is further alleged: 

10. You may be billing Medicaid, Medicare and private insurance companies for services not provided 
by you while you were outside the United States from February 26, 2017, through March 1 1, 2017, 
when you traveled to Paris, France; from September 27, 2017, through October 2, 2017, when you 
traveled to Ikeja, Lagos State, Nigeria; June 30, 2018, through July 7, 2018, when you traveled to Port 
of Spain; November 10, 2018, through November 23, 2018, when you traveled to Ikeja, Lagos State, 
Nigeria 

In addition please provide a response to the following question: 

11 . Please provide a list of any and all business entities you are affiliated with including, but not limited 
to, being the owner, medical director, employee, sub-contractor, managing director, registered agent 
and/or officer. 

14. Please provide DETAILED RESPONSES to each of the allegations noted above. 

According to these allegations, you may have violated the Nevada Medical Practice Act, Nevada Revised 
Statutes, Chapters 629 and 630, and Nevada Administrative Code, Chapters 629 and 630 (NMPA). 
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In order to determine whether or not there has been a violation of the NMPA, please provide a written 
response to each allegation noted above, as well as complete health care and billing records for the 
aforesaid (above listed) patients. Include copies of any imaging, x-ray or other films that were 
produced during treatment of these patients. Please include any further information you believe would 
be useful for the Board to make a determination in this matter. Please reply to this request within 21 
calendar clays. 

Please return the health care and billing records with the signed Custodian of Records Affidavit, 
enclosed herewith. If you are not a custodian of the patient(s)) records, please indicate where the 
health care records can be obtained. 

The Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners investigates all information received concerning possible 
violations of the NMPA. We make no determination as to whether or not there has been a violation of the 
NMPA until a thorough investigation is completed. As a physician under investigation by the Board, you 
are required by the NMPA to provide the requested information, and your cooperation is not subject to the 
whistle-blower protections provided to physicians in NRS 630.364(3). 

Please be advised that if the particular allegations referenced above did occur, and depending on the facts 
and circumstances, then you may have violated the NMPA, specifically including but not limited to: NRS 
630.301(4), NAC 630.040, NRS 630.304(4), NRS 630.305(I)(d)), NRS 630.306(1)(b)(1)&(3), (1)(c), 
(1)(i), NRS 630. 62(1)(a), (1)(c), (1)(g), (1)(h). 

Respectfully 

Kim Friedman, CMBI 
Sr. Investigator 
Las Vegas Office 
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The Investigative Committee of the Board of 

Medical Examiners of the State of Nevada 

In the Matter of the Investigation of: ) 

) 
) 

Matthew Obim Okeke, M.D. ) 
) 

License No. 14957 ) 

  ) 

Case No.  

ORDER TO PRODUCE HEALTH CARE RECORDS 

The Investigative Committee (IC) of the Board of Medical Examiners of the State of Nevada sends 

greetings to: 

Matthew Obim Okeke, M.D. 
2021 South Jones Blvd. 
Las Vegas, NV 89146 

Pursuant to the authority of Nevada Revised Statute (NRS) 630.311(1), the IC directs you to 

produce and deliver to the Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners, the materials as set forth in 

this Order: 

1. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records, of  

2. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records. to include 

billing records, of . 

3. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records, of  

4. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records, of . 

5. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records, of  
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6. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records. to include 

billing records, of . 

7. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records. to include 

billing records. of . 

8. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records, of . 

9. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records. to include 

billing records, of . 

10. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records, of . 

11. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records, of . 

12. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records, of . 

13. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records, of . 

14. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records. to include 

billing records, of . 

15. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records, of . 

16. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records, of  

17. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records, of . 

18. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

billing records. of . 

19. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records. to include 

billing records. of  
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20. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

2 billing records, of . 

3 21. Properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health care records, to include 

4 billing records, of . 

5 22. Properly authenticated and complete patient list for any and all patients treated at 

6 Discovery Mind Center LLC, Grand Desert Medical and Psychiatric Group, Grand 

7 Desert Psychiatric Services located at 2021 S. Jones Blvd., Las Vegas, NV 89146 for the 

8 following dates: 

9 • November 9, 2018, through November 23, 2018. 

10 23. Properly authenticated and complete patient list of any and all patients, to include billing 

11 records, treated at Forward Impressions LLC located at 3925 N. Martin Luther King 

12 Blvd., Ste. 124, Las Vegas, NV 89032 for the following dates: 

1'3 • November 9, 2018, through November 23, 2018. 

14 23. Properly authenticated and complete patient list of any and all patients, to include billing 

15 records, treated at Grand Desert Medical and Psychiatric Group and Grand Desert 

16 Psychiatric Services located at 2021 S. Jones Blvd., Las Vegas, NV 89146 for the 

17 following dates: 

18 • June 30, 2018, through July 7, 2018. 

19 24. Properly authenticated and complete patient list of any and all patients, to include billing 

20 records, treated at Grand Desert Medical and Psychiatric Group located at 2021 S. Jones 

21 Blvd., Las Vegas, NV 89146 for the following dates: 

22 • September 27, 2017, through October 2, 2017. 

23 25. Properly authenticated and complete patient list of any and all patients, to include billing 

24 records, treated at Nevada Care Center aka Nevada Integrated Behavioral Services Inc. 

25 located at 1721 E. Charleston Blvd., Las Vegas, NV 89104 for the following dates: 

26 • February 26, 2017, through March 11, 2017. 

27 

28 
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26. Properly authenticated and complete patient list of any and all patients, to include billing 

records, treated at Grand Desert Medical and Psychiatric Group located at 2021 S. Jones 

Blvd., Las Vegas, NV 89146 for the following dates: 

• February 26. 2017, through March 1, 2017. 

27. Properly authenticated and complete list of any and all employees, agents, and/or 

contractors, to include schedules, of Forward Impressions LLC located at 3925 N. Martin 

Luther King Blvd., Ste. 124, Las Vegas, NV 89032 for the following dates: 

• November 9, 2018, through November 23, 2018. 

28. Properly authenticated and complete list of any and all employees, agents, and/or 

contractors, to include schedules, of Grand Desert Medical and Psychiatric Group and 

Grand Desert Psychiatric Services located at 2021 S. Jones Blvd., Las Vegas, NV 89146 

for the following dates: 

• November 9, 2018, through November 23, 2018. 

29. Properly authenticated and complete list of any and all employees, agents, and/or 

contractors, to include schedules, of Grand Desert Medical and Psychiatric Group and 

Grand Desert Psychiatric Services located at 2021 S. Jones Blvd., Las Vegas, NV 89146 

for the following dates: 

• June 30, 2018, through July 7, 2018. 

30. Properly authenticated and complete list of any and all employees, agents, and/or 

contractors, to include schedules, of Nevada Care Center aka Nevada Integrated 

Behavioral Services Inc. located at 1721 E. Charleston Blvd., Las Vegas, NV 89104 for 

the following dates: 

• February 26, 2017, through March 11, 2017. 

31. Properly authenticated and complete list of any and all employees, agents, and/or 

contractors, to include schedules, of Grand Desert Medical and Psychiatric Group located 

at 2021 S. Jones Blvd., Las Vegas, NV 89146 for the following dates: 

• February 26. 2017, through March 1, 2017. 
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Said records shall be provided to an investigator of the Nevada State Board of Medical 

Examiners within 21 days of service of this Order (Investigation Division, Attn.. Kim Friedman, Sr. 

Investigator, Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners, 6010 S. Rainbow Blvd., Bld.. A, Suite 2 

Las Vegas, NV 89118). Failure to comply and produce said records in the aforesaid manner may 

subject you to potential disciplinary action, to include a violation of NRS 630.3065(2)(a) and NRS 

630.3062(4); further, the Investigative Committee may seek administrative sanctions as set forth in 

NRS 630.352. 

Additionally, compliance with this order is deemed compulsory and shall not be deemed to 

be cooperation subject to the protections provided to a physician pursuant to NRS 630.364(3). 

Dated this 2nd day of April, 2019. 

NEVADA STATE BOARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS 
INVESTIGATIVE COMMITTEE 

Wayne Hardwick, M.D., Chairman 
Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners 
Investigative Committee 
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RECEIVED 

LAW OFFICES OF LIBO AGWARA, LTD 
2785 E. DESERT INN RD., SUITE 280 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89121 

LIBO AGWARA, ESQ.. PH: (702) 385-4800 
FAX: (702) 385-4900 

May 16, 2019 

VIA: EMAIL: kfriedman@medboard.nv.gov 
Kim Friedman, Sr. Investigator, CMBI 
Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners 
6010 S. Rainbow Blvd., Bldg. A, Ste. 2 
Las Vegas, NV 89118 

MAY 1 6 ?019 
NEVADA STATE -CARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS 

Re: Matthew Okeke, MD — Complaint  

Dear Ms. Friedman: 

As you are aware, this office represents Matthew Okeke, MD ("Dr. Okeke"), 
in connection with the above-referenced Complaint. On April 2, 2019, you sent a 
letter to Dr. Okeke, wherein you enumerated several instances of alleged 
misconduct by Dr. Okeke in connection with his treatment, or lack thereof, of 
several patients. Your letter was served contemporaneously with an Order To 
Produce Health Care Records issued by the Investigative Committee of the 
Nevada Board of Medical Examiners ("IC" or "Board"). The Order directs Dr. 
Okeke to produce "properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health 
care records, to include billing records," of exactly 21 patients. With respect to the 
expansive language of this Order, Dr. Okeke presumes that the IC wants medical 
records that are in Dr. Okeke's possession or in the custody of his practices, as he 
could not possibly have "any and all" of these patients' records. The IC's Order 
also seeks a list of all employees of several medical establishments that the IC 
suspects that Dr. Okeke owns or is associated with, as well as a list all patients 
treated at these same establishments during different time periods when the IC is 
alleging Dr. Okeke was not in Las Vegas. 

The purpose of this letter, therefore, is to formally respond to your letter and 
produce, in accordance with the IC's Order, the records and information requested. 
First and foremost, I have attached to this letter, as Exhibit "A," a list of the entities 
owned by Dr. Okeke, or with which he is associated. As you can see from the list, 
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some of these entities are not functional, as they are either holding companies or 
active entities created to preserve the name for future use, or to preclude other 
people from using them. 

Additionally, of the patients listed in your letter and in the IC's Order, the 
following patients were not seen by Dr. Okeke during any of the periods stated in 
the IC's order:  

    
. The records 

for the remaining patients are contained on a flash drive, which will be dropped off 
with this letter. 

Regarding the IC's request for employee names, I have attached, as Exhibit 
"B," a list of the employees of MATTHEW OKEKE, MD, LTD d/b/a GRAND 
DESERT PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES, located at 2021 S. Jones Blvd., Las Vegas, 
Nevada 89146. I have also enclosed, in one of the envelopes in the box that is being 
delivered with this letter, the personnel files of the employees of DISCOVERY 
MIND CENTER respectively. There is no entity called Grand Desert Medical and 
Psychiatric Group. Dr. Okeke is the medical director at FORWARD 
IMPRESSIONS, LLC. He does not see patients there and has no ownership interest 
in that entity. If that entity billed for services using Dr. Okeke's name, that was 
wrong and unauthorized. Likewise, Dr. Okeke is the medical director at Nevada 
Care Center, aka Nevada Integrated Behavioral Services. He does not see patients 
there and has no ownership interest in the entity. He also has not authorized anyone 
at that entity to bill for services using his name. 

Response to Allegation No. 1: 

Dr. Okeke did not pre-sign, or authorize unlicensed individuals to sign on his 
behalf, prescriptions for controlled substances for any patients, whether while in the 
United States or while traveling overseas. 

Response to Allegation Nos. 2, 7, 8 and 10: 

These allegations probably arose out of a misunderstanding of how Dr. 

Okeke's practice is structured. In the first place, Dr. Okeke did not travel out of the 

2 
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C 

United States from February 26, 2017, through March 11, 2017. More importantly, 
the official name of Dr. Okeke's practice is MATTHEW OKEKE, MD, LTD. 
There is only one billing number for that practice, irrespective of what individual 
provider sees the patient. So, when a bill is prepared, it shows Matthew Okeke, MD 
as the billing physician. However, right below that, there is another category for a 
Rendering physician, which is where the name of the care provider would go. So, 
while Dr. Okeke's name may appear as the billing physician on the billing statement 
of a patient that was not seen by him, it does not mean that he was the physician that 
rendered the service. As you may not know, Dr. Okeke has a very busy practice and 
employs six (6) nurse practitioners ("NPs"), who are licensed and authorized to see 
and treat patients. On the average, Dr. Okeke and his NPs see more than 120 
psychiatric patients a day. 

Response to Allegation No. 3: 

Once again, Dr. Okeke did not travel out of the United States from February 
26, 2017 through March 11, 2017. For the remaining periods stated in this 
allegation, Dr. Okeke did not document himself as the rendering care provider and 
did not authorize anyone to do so. Accordingly, the allegation of not keeping 
complete and accurate records is denied. 

Response to Allegation No. 4: 

Dr, Okeke categorically denies that he was deceptive with the Board on his 
2017 license renewal when he answered "No" to question 6, which asked: 

"Have you been arrested, investigated for, charged with, convicted of, 
or pled guilty or nolo contendere to any offense or violation of any 
federal (including the Uniform Code of Military Justice), state or local 
law, or the laws of any foreign country, which is a misdemeanor, gross 
misdemeanor, felony, violation of the Uniform Code of Military 
Justice, or synonymous thereto in a foreign jurisdiction, excluding any 
minor traffic offense (driving or being in control of a motor vehicle 
while under the influence of a chemical substance, including alcohol, is 
not considered a minor traffic offense), or for any offense which is 
related to the manufacture, distribution, prescribing, or dispensing of 
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controlled substances? Please note that you MUST disclose ANY 
investigation or arrest, including those where the final disposition was 
dismissal, or expungement during this time period." 

While Dr. Okeke's practice was notified by the Department of Health and 
Human Services ("DHHS") that it was investigated and a determination made that 
the practice was overpaid in the amount of $4,806.66, Dr. Okeke completed his 
2017 renewal form as an individual physician. The question did not ask if his 
medical practice had been investigated. However, even if the investigation had been 
of him, his answer would arguably still be correct, because an investigation by the 
DHHS' Division of Health Care Financial and Policy Medicaid Surveillance and 
Utilization Review (SUR) Unit is not a criminal investigation in the sense 
contemplated by question 6. It is a review; hence, the name SUR. 

Response to Allegation No. 5: 

Dr. Okeke did not pre-sign, nor authorize anyone to sign on his behalf, a 
prescription for Adderall for . As you correctly noted in the 
allegation,  is employed by Dr. Okeke. However, she is also a patient. As 
a result, access to her file is restricted to Dr. Okeke, so the other employees would 
not know that she is a psychiatric patient. Before Dr. Okeke traveled,  
was already taking Adderall, but her prescription was going to run out before Dr. 
Okeke's return date. As a result, Dr. Okeke gave  a post-dated 
prescription for Adderall, to be used only when she ran out of her existing 
prescription. 

Response to Allegation No.: 6 

As I have already stated above, Dr. Okeke was in the United States from 
February 26, 2017, through March 11, 2017. He also does not see patients at 
Nevada Care Center, a/k/a Nevada Integrated Behavioral Services, Inc. 

Response to Allegation No. 9: 

Again, there is no entity called Grand Desert Medical and Psychiatric Group 

that is associated with Dr. Okeke, and Dr. Okeke does not see patients at Forward 
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Impressions, LLC, where he is the medical director. Discovery Mind Center, LLC 
is a behavioral health agency, owned by Dr. Okeke. He and his NPs provide 
services at that location. To the extent that his NPs provided care to patients at that 
location while Dr. Okeke was gone, then those services would be billed accordingly. 

Finally, although Dr. Okeke serves as the medical director and has no 
ownership interest in First Impressions, LLC, he did request, and the owner of that 
entity graciously provided, medical records for patients seen (not by Dr. Okeke) at 
that facility during the time periods stated in the IC's order. The personnel files of 
the employees of that entity have also been provided by the owner and are enclosed 
in the box accompanying this letter. We will supplement whatever records are not 
included herein next week and will provide the duly completed and notarized 
custodian of records affidavits then. 

Thanks for your patience, and let me know if you have any questions or need 
additional information. 

Truly yours, 

Libo • Agwara, JD, Ph 
Attorney at law 
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Finally, although Dr. Okeke serves as the medical director and has no 
ownership interest in First Impressions, LLC, he did request, and the owner of that 
entity graciously provided, medical records for patients seen (not by Dr. Okeke) at 
that facility during the time periods stated in the IC's order. The personnel files of 
the employees of that entity have also been provided by the owner and are enclosed 
in the box accompanying this letter. We will supplement whatever records are not 
included herein next week and will provide the duly completed and notarized 
custodian of records affidavits then. 

Thanks for your patience, and let me know if you have any questions or need 

additional information. 

Truly yours, 

Libo Agwara, JD, Ph.D.. 
Attorney at law 

Approved as to form and content: 

Matthew Okeke, M.D. 
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List of entities owned by Dr. Okeke, 
Or with which he is associated 

1 Act Now Inc. - Real Estate Company 

2. Las Vegas Psychiatric Services-(Not doing business) 

3. Desert Oasis Charity-(Not doing business) 

4. Grand Desert Hospital-(Not doing business) 

5. Matthew Okeke MD LTD - DBA Grand Desert Psychiatric Services 

6. Sea Breeze Wellness Center — Drug & Alcohol Treatment 

7. Discovery Mind Center — Behavioral Health Agency 

8. Grand Desert Psychiatric Services LTD-(Not Doing Business) 

9. Forward Impressions, LLC (Medical Director Only) 

10. Nevada Care Center (Medical Director Only) 
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• 
Employee Name Hire date 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

term date 
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LAW OFFICES OF LIBO AGWARA, LTD 
2785 E. DESERT INN RD., SUITE 280 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89121 

LIBO AGWARA ESQ. PH: (702) 385-4800 
FAX: (702) 385-4900 

June 13,2019 

VIA: EMAIL: kfriedman@medboard.nv.gov 
Kim Friedman, Sr. Investigator, CMBI 
Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners 
6010 S. Rainbow Blvd., Bldg. A, Ste. 2 
Las Vegas, NV 89118 

Re: Matthew Okeke, MD — Complaint  

Dear Ms. Friedman: 

RECEIVED 

JUN 1 2019 
NEVADA BOARD i0ARD OF 

MEDICAL EXAMINERS 

Please find attached hereto as Exhibit "C," a copy of my previous letter to 
you, which now has Dr. Okeke's signature. Please note that Dr. Okeke was, indeed, 
out of the United States from February 26, 2017, through March 11, 2017, contrary 
to my statement in the previous draft, which said he was not. I have also attached, 
as Exhibit "D," a copy of a duly completed and executed Custodian's Affidavit. 

Regarding patient , please note that Dr. Okeke 
has never seen anyone by that name. Accordingly, he has no medical or billing 
records for this person. 

Finally, I have enclosed billing records for the following patients: 

1.  

2.  

3.  

4.  

5.  
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• 
7.  

8.  

9.  

10.  

11.  

12.  

13.  

14. ) 

15.  

Thanks for your accommodation and understanding, and let me know if you 

have any questions or need additional information. 

Truly yours, 

Libo Agwara, JD, Ph.D.. 
Attorney at law 

Approved as to form and content: 

Matthew Okeke, M.D. 
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• 
LAW OFFICES OF LIBO AGWARA, LTD 

2785 E. DESERT INN RD., SUITE 280 
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89121 

LIBO AGWARA, ESQ. PH: (702) 385-4800 
FAX: (702) 385-4900 

May 16, 2019 

VIA: EMAIL: kfriedman@medboard.nv.gov 
Kim Friedman, Sr. Investigator, CMBI 
Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners 
6010 S. Rainbow Blvd., Bldg. A, Ste. 2 
Las Vegas, NV 89118 

Re: Matthew Okeke, MD — Complaint  

Dear Ms. Friedman: 

As you are aware, this office represents Matthew Okeke, MD ("Dr. Okeke"), 
in connection with the above-referenced Complaint. On April 2, 2019, you sent a 
letter to Dr. Okeke, wherein you enumerated several instances of alleged 
misconduct by Dr. Okeke in connection with his treatment, or lack thereof, of 
several patients. Your letter was served contemporaneously with an Order To 
Produce Health Care Records issued by the Investigative Committee of the 
Nevada Board of Medical Examiners ("IC" or "Board"). The Order directs Dr. 
Okeke to produce "properly authenticated and complete copies of any and all health 
care records, to include billing records," of exactly 21 patients. With respect to the 
expansive language of this Order, Dr. Okeke presumes that the IC wants medical 
records that are in Dr. Okeke's possession or in the custody of his practices, as he 
could not possibly have "any and all" of these patients' records. The IC's Order 
also seeks a list of all employees of several medical establishments that the IC 
suspects that Dr. Okeke owns or is associated with, as well as a list all patients 
treated at these same establishments during different time periods when the IC is 
alleging Dr. Okeke was not in Las Vegas. 

The purpose of this letter, therefore, is to formally respond to your letter and 
produce, in accordance with the IC's Order, the records and information requested. 
First and foremost, I have attached to this letter, as Exhibit "A," a list of the entities 
owned by Dr. Okeke, or with which he is associated. As you can see from the list, 
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some of these entities are not functional, as they are either holding companies or 
active entities created to preserve the name for future use, or to preclude other 
people from using them. 

Additionally, of the patients listed in your letter and in the IC's Order, the 
following patients were not seen by Dr. Okeke during any of the periods stated in 
the IC's order:  

    
. The records 

for the remaining patients are contained on a flash drive, which will be dropped off 
with this letter. 

Regarding the IC's request for employee names, I have attached, as Exhibit 
"B," a list of the employees of MATTHEW OKEKE, MD, LTD d/b/a GRAND 
DESERT PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES, located at 2021 S. Jones Blvd., Las Vegas, 
Nevada 89146. I have also enclosed, in one of the envelopes in the box that is being 
delivered with this letter, the personnel files of the employees of DISCOVERY 
MIND CENTER respectively. There is no entity called Grand Desert Medical and 
Psychiatric Group. Dr. Okeke is the medical director at FORWARD 
IMPRESSIONS, LLC. He does not see patients there and has no ownership interest 
in that entity. If that entity billed for services using Dr. Okeke's name, that was 
wrong and unauthorized. Likewise, Dr. Okeke is the medical director at Nevada 
Care Center, aka Nevada Integrated Behavioral Services. He does not see patients 
there and has no ownership interest in the entity. He also has not authorized anyone 
at that entity to bill for services using his name. 

Response to Allegation No. 1: 

Dr. Okeke did not pre-sign, or authorize unlicensed individuals to sign on his 
behalf, prescriptions for controlled substances for any patients, whether while in the 
United States or while traveling overseas. 

Response to Allegation Nos. 2, 7, 8 and 10: 

These allegations probably arose out of a misunderstanding of how Dr. 
Okeke's practice is structured. The official name of Dr. Okeke's practice is 
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MATTHEW OKEKE, MD, LTD. There is only one billing number for that 
practice, irrespective of what individual provider sees the patient. So, when a bill is 

prepared, it shows Matthew Okeke, MD as the billing physician. However, right 

below that, there is another category for a Rendering physician, which is where the 
name of the care provider would go. So, while Dr. Okeke's name may appear as the 
billing physician on the billing statement of a patient that was not seen by him, it 
does not mean that he was the physician that rendered the service. As you may not 
know, Dr. Okeke has a very busy practice and employs six (6) nurse practitioners 
("NPs"), who are licensed and authorized to see and treat patients. On the average, 

Dr. Okeke and his NPs see more than 120 psychiatric patients a day. 

Response to Allegation No. 3: 

For the periods stated in this allegation when he was out of the country, Dr. 
Okeke did not document himself as the rendering care provider and did not 
authorize anyone to do so. Accordingly, the allegation of not keeping complete and 
accurate records is denied. 

Response to Allegation No. 4: 

Dr. Okeke categorically denies that he was deceptive with the Board on his 
2017 license renewal when he answered "No" to question 6, which asked: 

"Have you been arrested, investigated for, charged with, convicted of, 
or pled guilty or nolo contendere to any offense or violation of any 
federal (including the Uniform Code of Military Justice), state or local 
law, or the laws of any foreign country, which is a misdemeanor, gross 

misdemeanor, felony, violation of the Uniform Code of Military 

Justice, or synonymous thereto in a foreign jurisdiction, excluding any 
minor traffic offense (driving or being in control of a motor vehicle 
while under the influence of a chemical substance, including alcohol, is 

not considered a minor traffic offense), or for any offense which is 
related to the manufacture, distribution, prescribing, or dispensing of 

controlled substances? Please note that you MUST disclose ANY 

investigation or arrest, including those where the final disposition was 

dismissal, or expungement during this time period." 
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While Dr. Okeke's practice was notified by the Department of Health and 
Human Services ("DHHS") that it was investigated and a determination made that 
the practice was overpaid in the amount of $4,806.66, Dr. Okeke completed his 
2017 renewal form as an individual physician. The question did not ask if his 
medical practice had been investigated. However, even if the investigation had been 
of him, his answer would arguably still be correct, because an investigation by the 
DHHS' Division of Health Care Financial and Policy Medicaid Surveillance and 
Utilization Review (SUR) Unit is not a criminal investigation in the sense 
contemplated by question 6. It is a review; hence, the name SUR. 

Response to Allegation No. 5: 

Dr. Okeke did not pre-sign, nor authorize anyone to sign on his behalf, a 
prescription for Adderall for . As you correctly noted in the 
allegation,  is employed by Dr. Okeke. However, she is also a patient. As 
a result, access to her file is restricted to Dr. Okeke, so the other employees would 
not know that she is a psychiatric patient. Before Dr. Okeke traveled,  
was already taking Adderall, but her prescription was going to run out before Dr. 
Okeke's return date. As a result, Dr. Okeke gave Ms. Wade a post-dated 
prescription for Adderall, to be used only when she ran out of her existing 
prescription. 

Response to Allegation No.: 6 

Dr. Okeke does not see patients at Nevada Care Center, a/k/a Nevada 
Integrated Behavioral Services, Inc. 

Response to Allegation No. 9: 

Again, there is no entity called Grand Desert Medical and Psychiatric Group 
that is associated with Dr. Okeke, and Dr. Okeke does not see patients at Forward 
Impressions, LLC, where he is the medical director. Discovery Mind Center, LLC 
is a behavioral health agency, owned by Dr. Okeke. He and his NPs provide 
services at that location. To the extent that his NPs provided care to patients at that 
location while Dr. Okeke was gone, then those services would be billed accordingly. 
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Finally, although Dr. Okeke serves as the medical director and has no 
ownership interest in First Impressions, LLC, he did request, and the owner of that 
entity graciously provided, medical records for patients seen (not by Dr. Okeke) at 
that facility during the time periods stated in the IC's order. The personnel files of 
the employees of that entity have also been provided by the owner and are enclosed 
in the box accompanying this letter. We will supplement whatever records are not 
included herein next week and will provide the duly completed and notarized 
custodian of records affidavits then. 

Thanks for your patience, and let me know if you have any questions or need 
additional information. 

Truly yours, 

o Agwara, JD, Ph.D.. 
Attorney at law 

Approved as to form and content: 

Matthew Okeke, M.D. 
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kf2An) 

CERTIFICATE OF CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS OR MATTHEW OKEKE, M.D. 

STATE OF NEVADA 
) ss.. 

COUNTY OF 

NOW COMES   (name of custodian of 
records), who after being first duly sworn, deposes and says: 

That I am the  n( -̀q r,b . (5-g- P.;()K on or title) of 

Mattcm..,i 0-(k.akl-e-) O.449 1 tn(nan7e of company or employer) and in my capacity as 
IAA j „_,U• c_0... C k.cy-g,_44s- V  (position or title), I am a custodian of the records of 

1  ,,,1 84. f--MI4me ofjco company or employer). 

'Wili- 
I:i.e....Yr-4r ?cry reiv‘n ...2/-3 

2.(1 That -t —S—litUdt /02_,.J critatioa- 4,44nalyompany or employer) is licensed to do business as a 
Clinic s vv's C  in the State of Nevada. 

3. That on theK 8th  day of the month of  April  of the year 2019 6/, I received 
an order for health care records in connection wit the Nevada State Board of Medical 
Examiners Case No. , calling for the e_production of records pertaining to 

4. That I have examined the original of those records and have made or caused to be made a 
true and exact copy of them and the reproduction attached hereto is true and complete. 

5. That the original of those records was made at or near the time of the act, event, 
condition, opinion or diagnosis recited therein by or from information transmitted by a person 
with knowledge, in the course of a regularly conducted activity of cg-1(,2.1,64—(PVt LT )
of company or employer). 

Executed on: (S I 
Date 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this 
 day of , 20 . 

NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the 
County of , State of Nevada. 

My commission expires: 

Signature of Custodian of Records 
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LAW OFFICES OF LIBO AGWARA, LTD 
2785 E. DESERT INN RD., SUITE 280 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89121 

LIBO AGWARA, ESQ. 

August 27, 2019 

VIA: EMAIL: kfriedman@medboard.nv.gov 
Kim Friedman, Sr. Investigator, CMBI 
Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners 
6010 S. Rainbow Blvd., Bldg. A, Ste. 2 
Las Vegas, NV 89118 

PH: (702) 385-4800 
FAX: (702) 385-4900 

RECEIVED 

AUG 2 6 2019 

NEVADA 
MEDICAL EXAMINERS AL EXAMINERS 

ST STATE BOARD OF 

MEDICAL 

Re: Matthew Okeke, MD — Complaint  

Dear Ms. Friedman: 

Thanks for your patience while Dr. Okeke and this office sought answers to the 
questions in your letter. Please accept this letter and its attachments as Dr. Okeke's 
formal response to your second request and the IC's second order to produce medical 
records. Enclosed with this letter is a flash drive, which contains the lists of patients 
requested by the IC. Please note that the lists are broken down by the entity where the 
service was provided, and only cover the dates identified by the IC's order. 

Regarding the allegation that Dr. Okeke pre-signed prescriptions, or authorized 
someone to sign prescriptions on his behalf, for patients while he was outside the 
United States, Dr. Okeke stands by his response that he did not see those patients on 
those dates and did not sign, or authorize anyone to sign on his behalf, prescriptions for 
those patients. More importantly, he did not authorize anyone to affix his stamp- 

on any prescriptions for the same patients. However, after interviewing his 
nurse practitioners, as well as other staff, it appears it was Dr. Okeke's former office 
manager, , who stamped the subject prescriptions with Dr. Okeke's stamp-

She was the only person who had access to Dr. Okeke's stamp-signature. 
Dr. Okeke wants the Board to understand that neither , nor any other 
employee of Dr. Okeke's, had any reason whatsoever to stamp his signature on 
prescriptions for patients seen by other authorized providers. Every provider employed 
by Dr. Okeke has an unrestricted DEA number, which allows them to prescribe 
controlled substances and psychotropic drugs. These providers could, and would, have 
signed prescriptions for the patients they saw. 
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Regarding patients that were allegedly seen at Nevada Integrated Behavioral 
Services a/k/a Nevada Care Center, Dr. Okeke's response remains unchanged. The 
patients identified in your letter  

 have never been seen by Dr. Okeke, irrespective of any coverage 
agreements and/or medical director agreements signed by Dr. Okeke and Festus 
Ebonka. To resolve this apparent confusion, I personally interviewed Festus Ebonka, 
who owns Nevada Care Center. He confirmed that Dr. Okeke did not see those patients 
at his facility for the dates stated in your letter. Mr. Ebonka also confirmed that two of 
those patients were seen by Josephine Vasquez, NP, and the third patient was seen by 
Ida Davis, MFT. Mr. Ebonka further stated that his facility received payment from 
Medicaid for those three patients. So once again, Dr. Okeke could not have, and did 
not, see any patients at Nevada Care Center in March 2017 while he was outside the 
country. He also did not authorize anyone to use his name or NPI in connection with 
any patients seen at Nevada Care Center while he was outside the country. 

Regarding Dr. Victor Bruce, he is employed as a physician at Brightstar Urgent 
Care, LLC, on an independent contractor basis. Brightstar is owned by Dr. Okeke. In 
response to your request, I have enclosed herewith, a folder, which contains a copy of 
Dr. Bruce's employment agreement, a letter from the Board to Dr. Bruce, a letter from 
the Department of Health and Human Services' Office of Inspector General to Dr. 
Bruce, and a medical director agreement between Brightstar and Dr. Bernard Addo-
Quaye. 

Once again, thank you for your patience, and let me know if you have any 
questions or need additional information. 

Truly yours, 

LIbo Agwara, JD, 
Attorney at law 

Dr. Matthew Okeke 
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Nevada State Board of Pharmacy 
1050 E Flamingo Rd • SUITE E217 • LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89119-7524 

1-800-364-2081 • FAX (702) 486-7903 • www.bop.nv.gov. 

CONFIDENTIAL 

04/17/2019 
Matthew Okeke, M.D. 
C/O Liborius Agwara, Esq 
320 E Charleston Blvd Ste 203 
Las Vegas, NV 89104 

Re: Nevada Board of Pharmacy Investigative Case  

Dear Dr. Okeke, 

The Nevada State Board of Pharmacy (Board) has received information indicating that you may 
have violated, or may be violating various provisions of Nevada Revised Statues (NRS), 
Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) and/or Code of Federal Regulations. The Board has a case 
open to investigate the matter. Under the authority of NRS 639.234, I am writing to request that 
you respond to the allegations below and provide copies of certain documents and information 
relevant to the Board's investigation. 

The information indicates that prescriptions were written under your name while you were out of 
town and/or out of country as well as occurrences of improper practice, billing, and/or 
documentation. Specifically, records show that you were out of the United States from 
02/26/2017 - 03/11/2017; 09/27/2017 - 10/02/2017; 06/30/2018 - 07/07/2018; and 11/09/2018 
- 11/23/2018. During these periods, there were approximately 120 controlled substance 
prescriptions written or authorized in your name. Please note that this total does not include 
any prescriptions written on travel days. Furthermore, it is alleged that you, as the medical 
director of NV Integrated Behavioral Services, Inc., authorized prescriptions under a different 
provider's name. Specifically, during APRN Festus Ebonka's periods of travel out of country, 
numerous patient charts/notes indicate you authorized controlled substance refills to be called 
into pharmacies under his name and DEA and billed under his NPI. 

1) Please provide your travel/work schedule for 2017, and 2018, specifically 
confirm/state the dates you were out of town or out of country thus unable to 
physically sign controlled substance prescriptions. 

2) Please examine your prescriber PMP report for the dates listed above and any 
additional dates you were out of town. 

a. Please explain how and why the prescriptions written and/or authorized on 
these dates were obtained. (i.e.. you pre-signed prescriptions or another 
practitioner signed your name, etc) 

b. Please provide documentation such as patient charts that show which 
practitioner actually examined/treated these patients on the dates that the 
prescriptions were written. 
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dmcclish@pharmacy.nv.gov 

c. If applicable, please provide a written statement from each practitioner that 
wrote a prescription under your name confirming which prescriptions they 
wrote and why they wrote them using a different practitioner's name. 

3) The patient visits and prescriptions during these dates were oftentimes billed to 
insurance to include Medicaid using your NPI number. 

a. Provide an explanation as to why these prescriptions and patient visits were 
billed under your NPI when you were not the practitioner providing treatment. 

4) Please explain why prescriptions were authorized and billed under Ebonka's name, 
DEA, and NPI when you were the authorizing provider. 

Please provide the information referenced above and a written response to the foregoing 
allegations below within 14 calendar days of receipt of this request. Include with your response 
any records or other information you believe will help the Board make a determination in this 
case. Any written statement must include your handwritten signature attesting that it is 
true and accurate. 

Please feel free to contact me with any questions. I can be reached at (702) 486-6420, Ext.. 
154. 

Respectfully, 

Dena McClish, Investigator 
Nevada State Board of Pharmacy 
1050 E Flamingo Rd Ste E217 
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
Office: 702-486-6420 ext 154 
Fax: 702-486-7903 
Email: 
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PH: 

LAW OFFICES OF LIBO AGWARA, LTD 
2785 E. DESERT INN RD.. SUITE 280 

LAS VEGAS. NEVADA 89121 

LIBO AGWARA. ESQ. (702) 385-4800 
FAX: (702) 385-4900 

June 13, 2019 

VIA EMAIL: dmcclish@pharmacy.nv.gov @ dmcclish@pharmacy.nv.gov 
VIA FAX: (702) 486-7903 
Dena McClish, Investigator 
Nevada State Board of Pharmacy 
1050 E. Flamingo Rd., Suite E-217 
Las Vegas, NV 89119 

Re: Matthew Okeke, MD (Investigative Case ) 

Dear Ms. McClish: 

As you are aware, this office represents Matthew Okeke, MD, in connection 
with the above-referenced investigation by the Board. Regarding the allegations 
contained in your April 17, 2019, letter, which was faxed to my office on May 16, 
2019, the following is Dr. Okeke's response, which corresponds to the numerical 
chronology contained in your letter. Please note that, in accordance with your 
request, I have asked Dr. Okeke to sign on the signature page. His signature herein, 
therefore, confirms his attestation to the truth and accuracy of the statements 
contained herein. Additionally, the Board should be aware of how Dr. Okeke's 
practice is structured, as such knowledge would help explain some of the 
misunderstandings surrounding patient care and prescriptions written by the seven 
(7) practitioners at the practice. 

As you may not know, Dr. Okeke has a very busy practice and employs six 
(6) nurse practitioners ("NPs"), who are licensed and authorized to see and treat 
patients, as well as write prescriptions. The official name of Dr. Okeke's practice is 
MATTHEW OKEKE, MD, LTD. All billings are done under the group's NPI, 
irrespective of what individual provider saw the patient. So, when a bill is prepared, 
it shows Matthew Okeke, MD, LTD as the billing physician's NPI, but that is 
because the group's name is his name. It does not mean that he is the individual 
provider doing the billing. 

1. As to allegation number one, your letter has already pointed out the 
dates that Dr. Okeke was out of the country, which are as follows: 
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February 26, 2017 through March 11, 2017; 
September 27, 2017 through October 2, 2017; 
June 30, 2018 through July 7, 2018; 
November 9, 2018 through November 23, 2018. 

Please note that Dr. Okeke does not keep track of what days he is not in the office, 
unless he is traveling overseas. 

2. 
a. As explained above, Dr. Okeke's practice employs six NPs, who see 

patients daily, even when Dr. Okeke is out of the country. To the extent that 
prescriptions were authorized and/or written on the days that Dr. Okeke was 
traveling, then any one of the six NPs must have written or authorized them. Dr. 
Okeke did not pre-sign prescriptions and did not authorize anyone to sign his name. 
He would have no reason to do so. All six NPs are licensed to authorize and/or 
write prescriptions. 

b. If the Board has the names of the patients, providing them to us would 
make it easier for Dr. Okeke to produce the charts for the above dates. 

c. Dr. Okeke is not aware of any practitioners that wrote prescriptions under 
his individual name, or why they would need to. Again, it is possible that the Board 
is confusing his group's name for him as an individual. 

3(a). As already explained above, Dr. Okeke's practice has a group NPI, and 
because the group's name is the same as Dr. Okeke's name, any billings done by 
other providers in his group would show as if he did it. 

4. Dr. Okeke has never authorized and/or billed for prescriptions under Mr. 
Ebonka's name, DEA and/or NPI. 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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Thanks for your patience and understanding, and let me know if you have any 
questions or need additional information. Please note our correct address above. 

Truly yours, 

Liborius Agwara, J.D., Ph.D. 
Attorney at law 

Approved as to arm and content 

Matthew Okeke eke, M.D. 
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Pax Lst Nm Pax Frst Nm Date of Birth Elcr Adr Ph Nb Skymiles Acct Nbr Tot Tkt Amt Credit Card # CC Code Pnr Create Dt Pnr Recloc Pnr Recloc1 Tkt Nbr Tkt Nbr1 Tkt Cpn Stt DprtDt Mkd Crr Cd Mds Flt Nbr Cpn Orig Cpn Dest
OKEKE MATTHEW          543.75 CA 01/08/2017 HXFCJG 01/07/2017 0062368577268  1 Exchanged 02/24/2017 DL 1450 LAS  MSP  
OKEKE MATTHEW          1141 CA 01/07/2017 0062368606851  1 Exchanged 02/24/2017 DL 1450 LAS  MSP  
OKEKE MATTHEW          1258.4 VI 02/24/2017 0062178099975  1 Flown 02/25/2017 DL 2423 LAS  JFK  
OKEKE MATTHEW          2951.86 02/26/2017 0062178576122  1 Flown 02/26/2017 AF 689 ATL  CDG  
OKEKE MATTHEW          2951.86 02/26/2017 0062178576123  1 Flown 03/11/2017 DL 2 LHR  JFK  
OKEKE MATTHEW     932.16 - - 08/14/2017 GCTSCA 08/15/2017 0068646563759  1 Flown 09/27/2017 DL 734 LAS  ATL  
OKEKE MD MATTHEW          3263.43 VI 10/01/2018 0062162534815  1 Flown 11/09/2018 DL 214 JFK  LOS  
OKEKE MD MATTHEW          1685.4 VI 10/01/2018 0062162871374  1 Flown 11/09/2018 DL 1467 LAS  JFK  
OKEKE MD MATTHEW          3263.31 CA 07/25/2018 G5MSYZ 07/25/2018 0062333354611  1 Exchanged 11/09/2018 DL 214 JFK  LOS  
OKEKE MD MATTHEW          1421.4 CA 07/25/2018 G5NV7Z 07/25/2018 0062333384505  1 Exchanged 11/09/2018 DL 1986 LAS  JFK  
OKEKE MD MATTHEW          -         1206.6 09/15/2019 0062176847269  1 Exchanged 11/07/2019 DL 630 LAS  JFK  
OKEKE MD MATTHEW          -         1356.6 VI 09/26/2019 0062177930856  1 Flown 11/07/2019 DL 1057 LAS  JFK  
OKEKE MD MATTHEW          -         1206.6 VI 09/14/2019 GC2FPR 09/14/2019 0062388530917  1 Exchanged 11/07/2019 DL 630 LAS  JFK  
OKEKE MD MATTHEW          3408.03 VI 09/24/2019 GA9CP9 09/24/2019 0062389177919  1 Flown 11/08/2019 DL 214 JFK  LOS  
OKEKE MD MATTHEW          6403.85 CA 01/30/2021 HVSVUC 01/29/2021 0062440041685  1 Flown 02/22/2021 DL 863 LAS  ATL  
OKEKE MATTHEW          -         1025.6 03/21/2021 0062445047127  1 Flown 04/29/2021 DL 876 LAS  DTW  
OKEKE MATTHEW          3662.75 VI 08/27/2023 GJOQGT 03/19/2021 0062445243435  1 Flown 04/29/2021 DL 9392 JFK  AMS  
OKEKE MATTHEW          3662.75 VI 03/19/2021 GMSAV8 03/19/2021 0062445243435  1 Flown 04/29/2021 DL 9392 JFK  AMS  
OKEKE MATTHEW          -         1025.6 VI 03/19/2021 GNK8AU 03/19/2021 0062445659026  1 Exchanged 04/29/2021 DL 876 LAS  DTW  
OKEKE MATTHEW          -         1596.8 VI 09/15/2021 HJE6LX 09/15/2021 0062474506863  1 Flown 11/10/2021 DL 471 LAS  JFK  
OKEKE MATTHEW          -         3627.75 VI 09/11/2021 GUMKSN 09/11/2021 0062473609916  1 Flown 11/11/2021 DL 859 JFK  ATL  
OKEKE MATTHEW          3475.17 CA 05/06/2023 HZIAXR 04/15/2022 0062311400951  1 Exchanged 04/20/2022 DL 419 LAS  ATL  
OKEKE MATTHEW          3475.17 CA 05/06/2023 HZIAXR 04/15/2022 0062311400952  1 Exchanged 04/30/2022 DL 2696 SLC  LAS  
OKEKE MATTHEW          432.8 AX 05/09/2023 HYM9HR 05/08/2023 0062107600577  1 Flown 05/14/2023 DL 2253 LAS  LAX  
OKEKE MATTHEW          3549.55 05/14/2023 0062108761786  1 Flown 05/14/2023 DL 290 LAX  CDG  
OKEKE MATTHEW          1 3410.55 05/29/2023 0062113283882  1 Flown 05/29/2023 DL 777 ATL  LAS  
OKEKE MATTHEW          507.8 VI 08/26/2023 0062138805103  1 Exchanged 10/06/2023 DL 555 LAS  ATL  
OKEKE MATTHEW          467.8 09/03/2023 0062141799061  1 Flown 10/06/2023 DL 555 LAS  ATL  
OKEKE MATTHEW          170.1 AX 05/11/2024 H67BAB 05/11/2024 0062234507940  1 Flown 05/11/2024 DL 2573 MIA  MCO  
OKEKE MD MATTHEW        180.1 VI 05/14/2024 GJPHWW 05/14/2024 0062235690577  1 Flown 05/14/2024 DL 2925 MCO  MIA  
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%?&*?&2s�'&t*%��� ��
,.:�,
�. ��?����?���#7�/�;�7,
/�
�
,�<�u

<

��t??uuu.��
,.:�,
�. ��?����?���#7�/�;�7,
/�
�
,�<�u '?*
Okeke Adjudication 

345



�����������������	
���
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
�����
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
��	�	�
������!�



������"
�

�	�	�
������!�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������	#����	
��"��

����$�	�	�
������!�����
��%��
���&

��$
�&�����������������������������������������������������������������������������	#����	
����



���$�	�	�
������!�����
��%��
���"

��$
�&�����������������������������������������������������������������������������	#����	
�����
�����$�	�	�
������!�����
��%��
���
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
��	�	�
������!�



������"
�

�	�	�
������!�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#������	
��"��

����$�	�	�
������!��&�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���
���������� ��&��$��	�	�
������!����������������������������������������������������������������������������������#������	
����



���$�	�	�
������!��%�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�

������ �����%��$��	�	�
������!�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���
��"
$�	�	�
������!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
���
'�
�

$�	�	�
�$������!�����
"$�(
%$# 
�$��"
�"�
�
�$���&
��"��������������������������������������������������������������������	
���
'�
�
�$�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	#����	
�����
�����$�	�	�
������!�����
��%��
���


��$
�&�����������������������������������������������������������������������������	#����	
��
"�
�����$�	�	�
������!�����
��%��
����

��$
�&������������������������������������������������������������������������#����)(���������������������*������������������������ ���������������#������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"&����������%�������
������	���������	
�	����
���&("%���������("����������������������������������������������������������������������"&����������%�������
������	����������
�#���"�����	�	�
������!��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����������� ����	
�	����
����(%��������
�(%����+
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����������� �����
�#���
�����	�	�
������!�����������������������������������������������������������������������
"�������������������
������ ��������##
�	����
����(
����������(&���������������������������������������������������������������������
"�������������������
������ ����������
�����
�����	�	�
������!�����������������������������������������������������������������������"�����������
��������
����������� ���##
�	����
��

(%%���������(�����+
���������������������������������������������������������������"�����������
��������
����������� �����
�#���������	�	�
������!�������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������

�������
������ ��������##
�	����
��
�(
%�������
�(&%����������������������������������������������������������������������
���������

�������
������ ����������
�#���������	�	�
������!�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������

�������
�����������	���##
�	����
��
�(&���������&("���������������������������������������������������������������������������������

�������
�����������	�����
�#���
�����	�	�
������!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������)������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ �������)����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ������������	
��"��

��������
"������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ ������������	
����



������
%������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ������������
���	�	�, ���)��'���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
��	�	�
������!�



������"
�

�	�	�
������!���������������������������������������������������������������������������� ������������������	
��%������"������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

���#
����#���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"&����������%�������
������	��������##
������
���&("%���������("����������������������������������������������������������������������%"����������%�������
���������������##
������
��

(&���������"(&%���+
���������������������������������������������������������������"�����������
��������
����������� ���##
������
��

(%%���������(�����+
�����������������������������������������������������������������
���������

�������
������ ��������##
������
��
�(
%�������
�(&%��������������������������������������������������������������������������������

�������
�����������	���##
������
��
�(&���������&("�����������������������������������������������������������������
���	������	������"&���%�����	����

"���������������
��%��������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������	����������������$���&���	����

"���������������
��%�����$������������������������������������������������������������������������&������	������ ��&&%��&&%����
��
�����������������������������������-�����������������������������������������������������������������"������	��� �����
�
��
�
����
��"���������������������
&������������������������������������������������������������������������������%������	������	���&&�$����������	�������������������
��%�������"���������������������������������������������������������������.��"����$������&

'����-��"�'��������������������%
'���!!����#������������������������������������������������������������������������������#)�����-
�
������������
�%�'������������-
�
�������-
�
��#����#)���
��
'�����
���#���&

'���#�����
'���-�����������������������������	"'%���"'%���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
#�#���
�� ����
����#�)����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������-�����������������-������ ��!!���-����-���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�	�
������!�




������"
�

�	�	�
������!�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���
�����
�������������
������"�%
����- �!!������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ �������	#���	

�����������#��
��.����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���
�����
�������������
������"�%
����- �!!������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ ������������	
��	�	�
������!�

$�	�	�
�$������!
"$�	�	�
%$���#)���
�$���������������������������������������������������������������� ������������	
��	�	�
������!�
�$��%�%��"%���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�	�	�
������!�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���
�����
�������������
������"�%
����- �!!�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������-����	��$��

���#
����#�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	#����	
��"��

����$�	�	�
������!�����&���

�""�&
�""$�"%�����������������������������������������������������������������������������	#����	
����



���$�	�	�
������!�����&���

�""�"
�""$�"%��������������������������������������������������������������������������	
��
�"
��
����#�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������&���

�""$"%/���	�	�
������!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���
�����
�������������
������"�%
����- �!!������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ �������	#���	

�����������#��
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ������������	
���
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���
�����
�����������������������������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���
��"
$�	�	�
������!��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���
�����&"������������
��������"&����� �!!�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$-��
��"�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���
�����"����������
���������%��
����� ��-�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$#)�

&����
���
�
&��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���
�����"
�����������
""�����%"�
�������	������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$���

&����
���
&�"��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���
����"
&������������%"����
&�������� ��#�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$���
&�"�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���
����
�����������

&������
"��
&���� �!������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ������������
�%���
��	
����
�� ������������#�����#�������������������������������������������������������������������������������%�������
����������������
"&%�����
�
�&&���	��!!����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ���	�	�
������!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����"�&
�%���������	�������%%��&&
�%&������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ �����"&
�%������	����������%%��&&
�%&������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ �����%"
�%�����������������%%��&&
�%&�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%���
"�%������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ���	�	�
������!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����"�&
�%���������	�������%%��&"
�&������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �����"&
�%������	����������%%��&"
�&������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �����%"
�%�����������������%%��&"
�&������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%���
"�%���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$�� ������������#�������������������&��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%�������
���
�"�����������&%�������&�%�����	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
���
'�
�

$�	�	�
�$������!�����
"$�(
%$# 
�$��"
�"�
�
�$���&
��"��������������������������������������������������������������������	
���
'�
�
�$�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�	�	�
������!������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�	�	�
������!�����
�
# �
��"
�"�
�
# �
�
�"�&��

��"
�
���
��)��������������������������������������������������������

01231245�62730�89 :;<=>?@=AB>CDE1F8GH1HDDIJ;K@LBJ=AK@AB<=FMDN

MAA;:711NNN>:;<=>?@=AB>CDE1F8GH1HDDIJ;K@LBJ=AK@AB<=FMDN 213
Okeke Adjudication 

346



�������������	���
���
����������
����������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
���
����������
����������	���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����������������������
��
������
������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!����"�������� ������������	�����#��$����������
������������������
�����	������������������������������������������������������������������	���
���
����������
����������	��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ���������$������������
�

����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"��$���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%���������������������
�����	��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&�����������������������

����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$��"���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%���������������������
�
	�
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&������������������������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"��$���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%���������������������
���
���������	������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&�����������������������	
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���&������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!����"����"$����������������������� �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������'�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"�������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�����������$���
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$���
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������
�����			���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������
�����			����������������������&��(���������'��)'�'���������������������������������������������������������������������)���)�&�����	
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������
��������������������������!��#�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������)���)�&

 ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�����	�
����������	����������������'�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#*�������&'��������+����#����+�������������������
��+������	��$�����������������������������������������������������������������������#������$ �����#�������������������+��
��
'�����#����������#�����$����$ �������+��
���'��$'�����+���$������+���#�������������������������������+�����+�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�����&'�����&��+���# &	+���)�&��+���)#&��+���� &�+���#�&�+
�� �&���+��� �&�+�����&�+���'�&��+���#�&
+���'�&��+�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#������&,$�$������!���������$� �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�����	�
����������	����������������'�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������
�������	���������������(��!���&��(����#����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������	��������������$$������������������������������-������������������������������������������������"���&������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������&���"���&�$������$���"���&������	&����
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�����	�
�����
	�
�����������������!���&��(����#����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������&���"���&�$������$���"���&������	&���	
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������
������
�����������
��	����!���&��(����#��������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�������������������
�������������	��������������$$������������������������������-����������������������������������������������������#�����������$���
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������.�����������������&
���������/��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����
�������������	����������!���"�������������������������������-������������������������������������������������������������������������
����	��������	�����!��������"������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�����!�����������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�����!�����������������������������
������	������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������
������
�����������
��	����!���&��(����#���������������������������������������������������������������������������������!��������$�������
�)�"����������
*���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������
������
�����������
��	����!���&��(����#���������������������������������������������������������������������������������!����������������� ������������������"����"������#�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������
������������������������'�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!��������$�������
�)�"����������
,����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!���������������'���
�)�"������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������
������������������������'����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�������������
�����
�������������	����������!���"�������������������������������-�����������������������������������������������������!��������������,��	�������,�����

����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!����"����,��(,��������

������������!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,�������������,�����
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������
�������������	����������!�����������������������������������-�����������������������������������������������������(�������������!������!�����������������!������'���������������������������"���������������������������������������������������������������$�����������������$��������������$�"��$��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,�������������,������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,�������������,������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������&���"���&�$������$���"���&������	&����
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������
������
�����������
��	����!���&��(����#������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,,��+��,��&�������&����������"���&����&$!��&����	�����	&�
���
������������������������������������������������������������������������,,��+��,�
&���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,,��+��,��&�������&����������"���&����&$!��&����	�����	&�
���
������������������������������������������������������������������������,,��+��,�
&�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������&("����)��$���������	������
������������
��
������	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

01231245�62730�89 :;<=>?@=AB>CDE1F8GH1HDDIJ;K@LBJ=AK@AB<=FMDN

MAA;:711NNN>:;<=>?@=AB>CDE1F8GH1HDDIJ;K@LBJ=AK@AB<=FMDN O13
Okeke Adjudication 

347



������������������	�	�
����	
����
���������������������
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�	�
����	
����
���������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������!����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"����#!$�	��"��$��"�#!	������!	�$���	���$���� ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� ������������������������!#����$"#����	%#��������������������������������������������������������������������������������"����#!$�	��"��$��"�#!	������!	�$���	���$���� ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������
����$"#����	%#�������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������
����$"#���	$��	�	
�!�&�
��!'#�
���������������������������������������������������������������������"���	�	�
����	
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!��������	����!#���!����!�����������!����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	��#��!���!����!�����������!����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������!���#�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%������������������� �������	�����������!��#�������������������(����
������(����
)���"������������������������������������������������%������������������� �������	���������#����!�������������������(����
������(����
����"������������������������������������������������������"*����!���+��������	�+������ ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"�����!��#��#	!!��������	���������#�	�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �����������������������
�#��"
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,���,"$��#����,	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������!���"�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,���,"$�������,	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������	�����!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,���,"$��#���,	����!������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������	�����!���"������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"����#!$�	��"��$��"�#!	������!	�$���	���$���� ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������!����$"#����	%#��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �������	�����������!��#�������������������(����
������(����
)���"�������������������������������������������������������������������� �������	���������#����!�������������������(����
������(����
����"������������������������������������������������������!���!�������������!��������������!#���!���!�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"�#���!����� �,������	����� -���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"�����!�����������	����������	"
��	�
�!!��	�%!����������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �����������������������
�#��"
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"�#���!����� �,������	����� +���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������""!�#�!���
�#�� �,��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �����������������������
�#��"
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%������������������� �������	�����������!��#�������������������(����
������(����
)���"������������������������������������������������������"*����!���+��������	�+������ ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�+�#�+��������� ����	����!#�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"��#��!���+��	�	�
����	
+������
�"���
����	�	�
����	
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�������������� �������	�����������!��#�������������������(����
������(����
)���"������������������������������������������������������������!#�����!#����������������!#�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!���!�������������!�������"��"���!����!���!�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�+��	�	�
����	
+�������
�"���
����	�	�
����	
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�+��	�	�
����	
+�������
�"���
����	�	�
����	
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������!��"�#	���"�����	����� �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"�����!���++��'��+��$��	�	��$
����	
����
��$�(��$����$�����������$��������������������������������������������������������������������"�����!���++��'��+��$
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"�����!���++��'��+��$��	�	��$
����	
����
��$�(��$����$�����������$��������������������������������������������������������������������"�����!���++��'��+��$
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"����#!$�����",������������������������!����	������ ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�	�
����	
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�	�
����	
����
���������������������
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�	�
����	
����
���������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������!����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������-�������$���������'����%����'��������������!�������'��������	�������������������������������������������������������������������������#�������#��!�%�	���!��!�!���
����'�� �"�����!�%�	���"��!�%�	�!����!���#�
����'�� �"������#����'��	���"�	�'���%���������������������������*���'���!�'���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�$����!�"	"���	������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%������$����	���������*����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�����
�
��!��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
����	
���	�	���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	��������*��	���!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���!����	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�����
���!!���.����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
����	
���	�	���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	��������*��	���!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���!����	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%������+��������������'�����������*����++��'���������#��������������������$���$#���
����	
���	�	�������������������������������������������	����������	���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���	�!���+�������
�"$��	�	�
����	
+�������������#�����$������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���	�!���+�������
�"$��	�	�
����	
+�������������#�����$������������������������������������������������������������������������%�������$�	����������	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���	�����+��������	�$��	�	�
����	
+�������������#�����$������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���	�����+��������	�$��	�	�
����	
+�������������#�����$������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���	�!���+�������
�"$��	�	�
����	
+�������������#�����$������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���	�!���+�������
�"$��	�	�
����	
+�������������#�����$��������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����������	�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"����#!$��#����!�	������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$��/�	��	�	�
����	
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%��������"��������������$�����*�����	���	�	�
����	
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���	�!���+��������	�$��	�	�
����	
+�������������#������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"��#��!���+��	�	�
����	
+������
�"���
����	�	�
����	
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������""!�#�!�����,�� �,��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�+��	�	�
����	
+�������
�"���
����	�	�
����	
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�+��	�	�
����	
+�������
�"���
����	�	�
����	
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������!��"�#	���"����	����� ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"�����!���++��'��+��$��	�	��$
����	
����
��$�(��$����$�����������$��������������������������������������������������������������������"�����!���++��'��+��$
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"�����!���++��'��+��$��	�	��$
����	
����
��$�(��$����$�����������$��������������������������������������������������������������������"�����!���++��'��+��$
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�	�
����	
����
���������������������
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�	�
����	
����
���������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������� �������������������������!����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���!�������������� �������	�����������!��#�������������������(����
������(����
)���"�������������������������������������������������!������������!����	����� �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

01231245�62730�89 :;<=>?@=AB>CDE1F8GH1HDDIJ;K@LBJ=AK@AB<=FMDN

MAA;:711NNN>:;<=>?@=AB>CDE1F8GH1HDDIJ;K@LBJ=AK@AB<=FMDN 413
Okeke Adjudication 

348



���������������������	�����
���	����
�	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
������������������	���
���	
��������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�	���
������������������������������������������������������������������������	����
�	��������	�
����������������	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  ��!�� ��"������	"���������
#��$"����"%���"��$��$	����"	��&���$����������������������������������������������������������������������  ��!�� ��"���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  ��!�� ��"������	"���������
#��$"����"%���"��$��$	����"	��&���$����������������������������������������������������������������������  ��!�� ��"�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
#����%�����$��$	���%������$�&	�����$���'���(�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
#����%�����$��$	���%������$�&	�����$���%���(�������������������������������������������������������������	����
�	��������&�
�������$��������		�
&��������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"���(�������(��#�#������		�
&&�&����������	���
���$	
����$��$	������������������������������������������������������������	����
�	��������&�
�������$��������		�
&��������
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�������������������������������������	�	���
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���)��������������������������������$��	���
������������������������������������������������������������������������
��
�%�������
������	���
���&
���$����		�
&���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#��%�������������������������������������	�	���
�������������������������������������������������������������������������*����������
�	���
���$
���$����		�
&
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������+���+�"����&����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����
�	������	���
���������$�������$���&�)�)��%������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������+���+�"%����&�+���������&���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����
�	������	$	�
����������$$������
��������'�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������+���+�"�����&�+�������&�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����
�	������$���
�������	���$�����&�$���������%�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������+���+�"����&����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����
�	������$&	�
���������&�������$�����)�)��%���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����������)��������������������������������������������������������������������������	����������
������$���������	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  ��!�� ��"������	"���������
#��$"����"%���"��$��$	����"	��&���$����������������������������������������������������������������������  ��!�� ��"���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  ��!�� ��"������	"���������
#��$"����"%���"��$��$	����"	��&���$����������������������������������������������������������������������  ��!�� ��"�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������	����������)�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
#����%�����$��$	���%������$�&	�����$���%���(�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
#����%�����$��$	���%������$�&	�����$���'������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��
�����������������������)���%�
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��
��������	����������)���)���%�
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�����&����������&
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,
��
�����������������������)���%�
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,
��
��������	����������)���)���%�
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��
�����������������������)�����	�������	$�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��
��������	����������)���)�����	�������	$����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#����������������$
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��
�����������������������)�����	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��
��������	����������)���)�����	�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#������	���������$
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#��������		����$�"���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%�������� �$��������"������������� �&)�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#����������������$�����������������&)�"�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#��������		����$�"���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%�����������������������������������$�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	&��
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����������	�����������������%%�������������������������&�����������������������������������������������������#���"����������������������	�
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#��������		����$�"���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%�������� ����������"������������� ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�������������������������������������"�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#��������		����$�"���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$�
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����������	�����������������%%�������������������������&�����������������������������������������������������#���"����������������������&&
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  ��!�� ��"������	"���������
#��$"����"%���"��$��$	����"	��&���$����������������������������������������������������������������������  ��!�� ��"���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  ��!�� ��"������	"���������
#��$"����"%���"��$��$	����"	��&���$����������������������������������������������������������������������  ��!�� ��"�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
#����%�����$��$	���%������$�&	�����$���'���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
#����%�����$��$	���%������$�&	�����$���'���(�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
#�����'������	�&	�	�%������$�&	��	��$�$�'���(�������������������������������������������������������������������	�������		�
����������������	�	
&
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"(#����+�������		�
	����	�	�������	���
���&�
����$��$	���������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������		�
����������������	�	
&
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���#�������������������������������������	����������)�������������������������������������������������������������������
��
�%���������������������		
��������	�	
&
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#��%�������������������������������������	����������)��������������������������������������������������������������������*����������
��������&	
�&��&���		�$������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������+���+�",#���	&���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�����	������&$��
��������$	�����������������'�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������-.�/0123�4567�89:8;:<8==�>6�?@55AB>�CD5E65�>6�89:8;:<8==�/01/F.G�����0H�/0123�IJ5@�8=:98:<8=8 K/L.�M��L7NOEBO�M�KAN>�PND3�M�.6O6@

Q:<R:<ST�=<URQ�/P 3DEVWXAV>NW?67:K/L.:.66Y@D-A4N@V>-A>NEVKJ6Z

J>>D3U::ZZZW3DEVWXAV>NW?67:K/L.:.66Y@D-A4N@V>-A>NEVKJ6Z R:R
Okeke Adjudication 

349



�����������	
�	������
����������	��������������������������� �
�! "#$�#% $
 &�
���'��(�)�����* ��+������+�,
*�*�-./0123--4��!����5��+�,
*�*�./012346!�78��
�6()�!���* ,
*�*�+�./01239:;-4<��(�������
�!�=�
��
������>
�(=���!����! ?���() �+������#�=�� ��5�����#�=���+�����@��>!���-0A-;A/-..�
�� 8!!��
�,�!
�!�
��-0A-;A/-..�����B�4������5����@��$?!8�-.A0-A/-.- �!
�
�����+�
�
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3A/2A/1s�./t29��� ��
(*=�(
�* ��A����A���&8�+�>�8(
+�
�
(�?�u

?

��tAAuuu*��
(*=�(
�* ��A����A���&8�+�>�8(
+�
�
(�?�u .A0
Okeke Adjudication 

350



�������������������������������	���
��	�
������������������������
��

�������������	�����
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�
������������������������
��
��������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������
��	����������������	�
������������������������
��

����������
	�	�����������������������������������������������������������������
����������������
�
��
��������������������������������	��������	
��������������������������������������������������������������������	������������������������������������������������������	��������	��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����
�
���������������������������������������	��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����	�����������������������������������������
����������������������������������������������������������������������
�������
������� ���������������������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����!�	�
���
����"�������������������
���#��
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
��	�
������������������������
���	�������������	���������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
��	�
������������������������
��

�������������	�����
����������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����	�
������������������������
��
��������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������		�
����������	�����	�
������������������������
�����
�����������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���	����������������$!��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������		��������������$!�����������������������		�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������������$!��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�
��
	���������������$!����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���






��!�% ��������������$!�����
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����!�	�
���
����"��������������������
	�#��
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������&����������
��
���������	���
��	�
������������������#�����
��������������
������������������������������������������������������������&�����������������������	���
��	�
������������������#�����
��

�������������	�����
���������������������������������������������������&������������������������������	�
������������������#�����
��
��������������������
���������������������������������������������������&����������
��	����������������	�
������������������#�����
��

����������
	�	������������������������������������������������������������������
�������
������� ���������������������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����!�	�
���
����"�����������������������#��
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������	� ����
�
�����#
���������������������	��
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������!����
�
�����#
���������������������	��
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������!����
�
�����#
����������������������
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����������������
�
�����#
����������������		�
��	���������������������������������������������������������������������������
����!�	�
���	����"�����������������������#��
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!��������
��#�
���
�
������!��%�'�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!��������
��#�
���
�
������!��%�'�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!��������
��#�
���
�
������!��%�'�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!��������
��#�
���
�
������!��%�'������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����!�	�
���	��
�"�����������������������#��
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����!�	�
���	����"�������
���	������
�������!��&�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!��&�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����!�	�
���	����"�������
���	������
�������!��&������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�������#�
�$$
))���������*+�	����
���!
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�������#�
�$$
))����%�%$��%���*
���$�
�
��*+�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�������#�
�$$
))�����$��
� ��
����
����+��
��%�
��$�
���%
��������
������������������������������������������������������������������!�������#�
�$$
))� �%���
��������*+�
���%
����
���+��
�����%$��
*%��
������������������������������������������������������������
����!�	�
�����	
�"�������
���	������


�����!��&�������%����������������������������������������������������������������������������������!����%������������������%���������������������
&�����	
���#!���$��
	
�����������������������������������������������������������������!����%�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ������)��
�
�����#
�)�����	������������
�
�����#
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����!�	�
���
�
��"�����������������������#��
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
������
���!
�
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%������������������,�
��
�
�����#
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!
$�+�
����
���!
�
�"�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$
��#�
)����	��
�)��������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$
��#�
)���	��
�)��������������	������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$
��#�
)����
���)���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$
��#�
)		�
��	���)������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����!�	�
���
�
��"�����������������������#��
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�����������#�
)��
�
�����#
�)�
���
�
�	�����#
�����
��%$
���������������������������������������������������������������������������� ������)��
�
�����#
�)���$!�����
��	
��$!��	���������
����
����
�
�����#
������������������������������������������������������������� ������)��
�
�����#
�)�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
��	�
�����	��"�������
��������
���
����� ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#�
)��
�
�����#
�)�
���
�
�	�����#
�����
��%$
����������������������������������������������������������������������������!�����������#�
)��
�
�����#
�)�
���
�
�	�����#
�����
��%$
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%�������$����
���
����
���������	��
����	�"�����
��	
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������)��
�
�����#
�)���$!�����
��	
��$!��	���������
����
����
�
�����#
��������������������������������������������������������������������)��
�
�����#
�)���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ������)��
�
�����#
�)���$!�����
��	
��$!��	���������
����
����
�
�����#
������������������������������������������������������������� ������)��
�
�����#
�)�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
��	�
�����	��"�������
��������
���
����� ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!����%������%�	��
������			�����������
���������	��
���
	������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
��	�
�����	��"�������
��������
�	�
����� ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������&����
������&����!����
�
�����#
���������������������	��
������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�����
&%���#�
)���	��
����
�
�����#
�-���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������	� ����
�
�����#
���������������������	��
�������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
��	�
�����	��"�������	������������
�������*�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�����������#�
)���	��
����
�
�����#
�)%�

���
���	� ������
����
�����
���������������������������������������������������������������!�����������������
��'�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
��	�
�����	��"�������	������������
�������*������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!����
�
�����#
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������*��*�!��������	��
�������������$�*�!��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������*��*�!��������	��
�������������$�*�!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
��	�
��������"�������
��������
���	����� ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!����%��������
����		������#�$
����
��*+���%�	��
�
������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
��	�
��������"�������
��������
���	����� �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������	� ����
�
�����#
���������������������	��
�������������������������������������������������������������������������*��*�$��� ����������	��
�����"���
�����
*� 	*��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������	� ����
�
�����#
���������������������	��
�������������������������������������������������������������������������*��*�$��� ����������	��
�����"���
�����
*� �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������&����
������&����!����
�
�����#
����������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�����
&%���#�
)����
������
�
�����#
�-���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������	�*����
�
�����#
����������������������
���������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
��	�
��������"�������	����������*

�������*�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�����������#�
)����
������
�
�����#
�)%�

���
���	�*������
�����	����
���������������������������������������������������������������!�����������������
��'�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
��	�
��������"�������	����������*

�������*����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���
��	�
���
����"������	��
	�����
�����������$������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����%����  �
		�
���
���
�
�����#
��)) �))������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����� ������$
)����	��
����
�
�����#
�)������������
		�
���
�����������������������������������������������������������������

./01/023�40516�78 9:;<=>?<@A=BCD/E7FG/GCCHI:J?KAI<@J?@A;<ELCM

L@@:95//MMM=9:;<=>?<@A=BCD/E7FG/GCCHI:J?KAI<@J?@A;<ELCM 0/N
Okeke Adjudication 

351



������������������	
��
�������������������������
��������	
�
���
���
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
��
����
�����������������������
������	
�
���
���
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
��
����
�����������������������
������	
�
���
���
����������������������������������������������������������������������������
���
���� �������!��������
�������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���	����������������������"�����
���
!��"������������
����
!�������������������������������������������������������������������������	���	�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����������������������"�����
���
!��"������������
����
!����������������#$����%������������������������������������������������������	����������������������"���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���
�&�� �����������������!	�
��
���	�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������'#��#�"�	
�����������
����
�
�����#�"�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������'#��#�"�	
��&����������

���
�����#�"��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#��#�"�	
�����������
����
�
���	
��&&����&��
#����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#��#�"�	
��&����������

���
���	
��&&����&��
#��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���
�&&� �����������������!	�
��
���	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$��$��������������������������������	
�����������
����
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������$��$��������������������������������	
��&����������

�������������������������������������������������������������������#��#������	����
���������
�&& ���������!	�
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
���������������������������
����
������
����#��#����
����(�����������(��������������������������������������������������������������������
����
�
����
������

&
��
����
��������������������
��������������'�������������������������������������������������������������
����	
�����������
���������	����
����
����	
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���
�&&� �����������������!	�
��
���	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
���������������������������
����
������
����#��#����
����(�����������(��������������������������������������������������������#%�
��	��	����
��������
�&& ���������!	�
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
���������������������������
����
������
����#��#����
����(�����������(�����������������������������������������������������������������
��
����
�
����
��������
���
����
�������������������&��&�������!����'�������������������������������������������������������������
����	
�����������
���������	����
����
����	
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���
�&&� �����������������!	�
��
���	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
���������������������������
����
������
����#��#����
����(�����������(��������������������������������������������������������#%�
��	��	����
��������
�&& ���������!	�
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$�����������������������������������	
�����������
����
������������������������������������������������������������������)��
����	�	��������
�! �
�&�����
�!�
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
���������������������������
����
������
����#��#����
����(�����������(��������������������������������������������������������������	
���������������������������
����
������
����#��#����
����(�����������(��������������������������������������������������������������	
���������������������������
����
������
���	��������
����(�����������(����������	�������������������������������������������$�����		��������������������� ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$�����������������������������������	
��&����������

��������������������������������������������������������������������)����
��	�*���!������� ����
�&��
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	��&�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�������
����&��� �����	���&�
����
��������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��$�����	������
	&�
!�	�
��&�������������&�� �����
���
!����������������������������������������������������������������������	���	����������������������"�����
���
!��"������������
����
!����������������#$����%��������������������������������������������������	���	����������������������"��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����������������������"�����
���
!��"������������
����
!����������������#$����%������������������������������������������������������	�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	��������������������
������������!���"�����������������������������������#$����%�����������������������������������������������������	������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������
���
!��� ��������&
�������������
���	�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#��#�"�	
��&&��
����
����
�
���	
�����&������"����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#��#�"�	
���
���������

���
���	
�����&������"������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������
���
!�!� ��������&
�������
�!
��
���	��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$���#����������������������������	
��&&��
����
����
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������$��������������������������������	
���
���������

�������������������������������������������������������������������#��#������	����
�����
���
!�! ����&
����
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
��������
������������������
������
��
������#��#����
���!(
����������(�&���������������������������������������������������������������

���

�����

��������

�&����

����������������������
��������������'�������������������������������������������������������������
����	
�����������
���������	����
���"
����	
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������
���
!�!� ��������&
��������
����
���	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
��������
������������������
������
��
������#��#����
���!(
����������(�&������������������������������������������������������#%�
��	��	����
����
���
!�! ����&
����
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
��������
������������������
������
��
������#��#����
���!(
����������(�&���������������������������������������������������������������
����

�����

����������
�����

���������������������&��&�������!�!��'�������������������������������������������������������������
����	
�����������
���������	����
���"
����	
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������
���
!�!� ��������&
��������
����
���	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
��������
������������������
������
��
������#��#����
���!(
����������(�&������������������������������������������������������#%�
��	��	����
����
���
!�! ����&
����
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$������#����������������������������	
��&&��
����
����
������������������������������������������������������������������)��
����	�����
�����&� �&���&���
#!
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$�����������������������������������	
���
���������

��������������������������������������������������������������������)����
��	�*�������

�! ��!���!��
	��&��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
��������
������������������
������
��
������#��#����
���!(
����������(�&������������������������������������������������������������	
��������
������������������
������
��
������#��#����
���!(
����������(�&������������������������������������������������������������	
��������
������������������
������
��
�����	��������
���!(
����������(�&��������	�������������������������������������������$�����		�����������������
�&� ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
��������
������������������
������
��
������#��#����
���!(
����������(�&������������������������������������������������������������	
��������
������������������
������
��
������#��#����
���!(
����������(�&������������������������������������������������������������	
��������
������������������
������
��
�����	��������
���!(
����������(�&��������	�������������������������������������������$�����		�����������������
��� ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������+,�-./01�2345�678698:6;;�<4�=>33?@<�AB3C43�<4�678698:6;;�-./-D,E�����.F�-./01�GH3>�6;8768:6;6 I-J,�K��J5LMC@M�K�I?L<�NLB1�K�,4M4>

O8:P8:QR�;:SPT�-N 1BCUVW?U<LV=458I-J,8,44X>B+?2L>U<+?<LCUIH4Y

H<<B1S88YYYV1BCUVW?U<LV=458I-J,8,44X>B+?2L>U<+?<LCUIH4Y 787
Okeke Adjudication 

352



�����������	
�	������
����������	��������������������������� �
�! "
 #�
��� $$%&'%&()*+'(,��-�.�����/ ��0������0�1
/�/�$'&)*(%$$2��!����3��0�1
/�/�'&)*(%24!�56��
�4-.�!���/ 1
/�/�0�'&)*(%7+8$29��-�������
�!�:�
��
������;
�-:���!����! <���-. �0������=�:�� ��3�����=�:���0�����>��;!���$)?$8?&$''�
�� 6!!��
�1�!
�!�
��$)?$8?&$''�����@�2������3����>��"<!6�$'?)$?&$'$ �!
�
�����0�
�
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%?&2?&(s�'t1$��� ��
,.:�,
�. ��?����?���#7�/�;�7,
/�
�
,�<�u

<

��t??uuu.��
,.:�,
�. ��?����?���#7�/�;�7,
/�
�
,�<�u '?(
Okeke Adjudication 

397



�����������������	
	
���

�
�������������������	
	
���

�
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������)
���� )������&$�$#�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���
����"���
�&����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����

�
���	
	
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
������������ 
����)������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������)
���� )������&$�$#�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%��������#���#�����$#*���������������$����*������������)"��$��
�������##����&���&�"�������#�*�����������������������������������������%��������#���#������#*���������������$����*���������)"��$��
�������##����&���&�"����

�
���	
	
���������������������������������������%������)"��$��
�������##����&���&�"����

�
���	
	
����*����$*�����*��������������������������������������������������������������������������#���#������#*���������������$���$*����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���#������#*���������������$����*���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������+�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"�
��
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��

����� ��$�
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������)��������
����$����
���������  ������������'�����������'�����������������������������������������������������������)���������
������
�������������$���
�������������������������$������������)���������)�����$����������������������������������������������$����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,�������&��������#*���
%����*$�����������

�������#*������$�
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��$�*��
���������������#�*��)�)-����������#*��
 ��!������
��%������*��
��*��������������������������������������������%���
��&� � �
����� �
���
��"


�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������������
��������������
����
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������$��
�����$�������!�����$����#������
������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%
��
	
�&

����� ��$�
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��
	�

��������$�
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������&�
������"
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
"���������#���������.
�	
	
���

�
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
%��
	
� ��������$������$������������
��	
	
���

�
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������
"���������#���������.
���	��
����������
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
%��
	
� ��������$�����������������$�
����	��
����������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

01231245�6789�:; <=>?@AB?CD@EFG1H:IJ1JFFKL=MBNDL?CMBCD>?HOFP

O 214
Okeke Adjudication 

398



�����������������������	
��������
�������
		��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����
	����
�������
		��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����������������������
�������
		����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������������	
��������
�������
		�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
������������
�����
	����
�������
		�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	��
�	��
	������� 	����!���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����
	���� ��"�
���������
		���������������������#���� 	�
	��
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ��"�$���
���
	
%������
 ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ��"� �������� ������$��
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

)*+,*+-.�/012�34 56789:;8<=9>?@*A3BC*C??DE6F;G=E8<F;<=78AH?I

1*-
Okeke Adjudication 

399



������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
���
��
���
��������

������
��
����
��
���
��������������������������
��
���
��
�
  �!��"��!�#$��$�"� �#��%#���"���$��&��'��()��*�
��% ���+,-�+�#,���� �!�����.����	#�+����#�+ ��/

�����*��///,���+,-�+�#,���� �!�����.����	#�+����#�+ ��/ (�(
Okeke Adjudication 

400



�����������	
�	������
����������	��������������������������� �
�! "#$%&% '
 (�
���)��*�+�����, ��-������-�.
,�,�/01234#//5��!����6��-�.
,�,�01234#57!�89��
�7*+�!���, .
,�,�-�01234#$:;/5<��*�������
�!�=�
��
������>
�*=���!����! ?���*+ �-������@�=�� ��6�����@�=���-�����A��>!���/2B/;B1/00�
�� 9!!��
�.�!
�!�
��/2B/;B1/00�����C�5������6����A��'?!9�/0B2/B1/0/ �!
�
�����-�
�
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Provider Information for 1730272709

The following NPI(s) contain information matching your search criteria. Please select the NPI
to view all the data associated with the NPI.

Home / Back To Results / NPI View

Please Note: Issuance of an NPI does not ensure or validate that the Health Care Provider is
Licensed or Credentialed. For more information please refer to NPI: What You Need to Know

MATTHEW OBI OKEKE MD

Gender: Male

NPI: 1730272709

Last Updated: 2015-04-09
Certification Date:

Details

Name Value

NPI 1730272709

Enumeration 2006-10-02

NPPES NPI Registry NPPES Downloads API Help

6/24/24, 10:09 AM NPPES NPI Registry

https://npiregistry.cms.hhs.gov/provider-view/1730272709 1/3
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Name Value

Date

NPI Type NPI-1 Individual

Sole
Proprietor

YES

Status Active

Mailing
Address

2021 S JONES BLVD
LAS VEGAS, NV 89146-3137
United States

Phone: 702-202-0099 | Fax:702-778-7632
View Map 

Primary
Practice
Address

2021 S JONES BLVD
LAS VEGAS, NV 89146-3137
United States

Phone: 702-202-0099 | Fax:702-778-7632
View Map 

Secondary
Practice
Address(es)

Health
Information
Exchange

Endpoint
Type Endpoint

Endpoint
Description Use

Content
Type Affiliation

Endpoint
Location

NPPES NPI Registry NPPES Downloads API Help

6/24/24, 10:09 AM NPPES NPI Registry

https://npiregistry.cms.hhs.gov/provider-view/1730272709 2/3
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 A federal government website managed by the
 U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
 7500 Security Boulevard, Baltimore, MD 21244
 
 

Name Value

Other
Identifiers

Issuer State Number

MEDICAID NV 100505545

Taxonomy Primary
Taxonomy Selected Taxonomy State

License
Number

Yes 2084P0800X - Psychiatry &
Neurology - Psychiatry

NV CS10935

NPPES NPI Registry NPPES Downloads API Help

6/24/24, 10:09 AM NPPES NPI Registry

https://npiregistry.cms.hhs.gov/provider-view/1730272709 3/3
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EXHIBIT 9 
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MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 
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Billing Prov
Tax ID

Billing
Prov ID

Billing Prov
NPI Code Billing Prov Name PT Provider ID

Provider
NPI Code Provider Name PT

Provider
Specialty
Claim NV Person ID DOB Age Name Last Name Firs

Service
Date

320417144 100541812 1548648439 DISCOVERY MIND CENTER LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/12/18
320417144 100541812 1548648439 DISCOVERY MIND CENTER LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/13/18
320417144 100541812 1548648439 DISCOVERY MIND CENTER LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/14/18
320417144 100541812 1548648439 DISCOVERY MIND CENTER LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/19/18
320417144 100541812 1548648439 DISCOVERY MIND CENTER LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/20/18
320417144 100541812 1548648439 DISCOVERY MIND CENTER LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/21/18

6/25/2024 Contains Protected Health Information -- Distribution Restricted Under HIPAA Page 1 of 3Okeke Adjudication 
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Last
Svc Date Claim ID

Paid
Date Place of SVC

Pre Authorization
Control Code

Procedure
Code Procedure

Mod
1

Mod 
2

Mod 
3

Mod 
4 Units

 Charge
Submitted TPL

 Net
Payment 

11/12/18 2018325701362601 11/30/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/13/18 2018325701362602 11/30/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/14/18 2018325701362603 11/30/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/19/18 2018333702438301 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/20/18 2018333702438302 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/21/18 2018333702438303 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      

6/25/2024 Contains Protected Health Information -- Distribution Restricted Under HIPAA Page 2 of 3Okeke Adjudication 
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 Charge
Submitted - 

Denied Table Name
Professional Claim
Professional Claim
Professional Claim
Professional Claim
Professional Claim
Professional Claim
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MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 
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Billing Prov
Tax ID

Billing
Prov ID

Billing Prov
NPI Code Billing Prov Name PT Provider ID

Provider
NPI Code Provider Name PT

Provider
Specialty
Claim NV Person ID DOB Age Name Last Name Firs

Service
Date

830952298 100560801 1922593797 FORWARD IMPRESSIONS LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/16/18
830952298 100560801 1922593797 FORWARD IMPRESSIONS LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/17/18
830952298 100560801 1922593797 FORWARD IMPRESSIONS LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/18/18
830952298 100560801 1922593797 FORWARD IMPRESSIONS LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/19/18
830952298 100560801 1922593797 FORWARD IMPRESSIONS LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/20/18
830952298 100560801 1922593797 FORWARD IMPRESSIONS LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/21/18
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Last
Svc Date Claim ID

Paid
Date Place of SVC

Pre Authorization
Control Code

Procedure
Code Procedure

Mod
1

Mod 
2

Mod 
3

Mod 
4 Units

 Charge
Submitted TPL

 Net
Payment 

11/16/18 2018333702987101 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/17/18 2018333702987102 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/18/18 2018333702987103 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/19/18 2018333702265701 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/20/18 2018333702265702 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/21/18 2018333702265703 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
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 Charge
Submitted - 

Denied Table Name
Professional Claim
Professional Claim
Professional Claim
Professional Claim
Professional Claim
Professional Claim
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MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 
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MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 

from disclosure to the public pursuant to NRS 622.310. 
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MEDICAL RECORDS 

 
This  exhibit  contains  personal  medical  information, 

records  of  a  patient  or  other  personal  identifying 

information that is confidential and otherwise protected 
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Billing Prov
Tax ID

Billing
Prov ID

Billing Prov
NPI Code Billing Prov Name PT Provider ID

Provider
NPI Code Provider Name PT

Provider
Specialty
Claim NV Person ID DOB Age

452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSYCHIATRIC GRO 020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry
452932796 100550632 1114465192 GRAND DESERT PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry
452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSYCHIATRIC GRO 020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry
452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSYCHIATRIC GRO 020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry
452932796 100550632 1114465192 GRAND DESERT PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry
452932796 100550632 1114465192 GRAND DESERT PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry
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Name Last Name First
Service

Date
Last

Svc Date Claim ID
Paid
Date Place of SVC

Pre Authorization
Control Code

Procedure
Code

11/20/18 11/20/18 2018341700672801 12/14/2018 Office 00000000000M 99204
11/20/18 11/20/18 2019010701676701 1/18/2019 Office 00000000000M H2011
11/20/18 11/20/18 2018341C00010399 12/14/2018 Office 00000000000M 99215
11/20/18 11/20/18 2018341700672802 12/14/2018 Office 00000000000M 90833
11/21/18 11/21/18 2019010701676702 1/18/2019 Office 00000000000M H2011
11/22/18 11/22/18 2019010701676703 1/18/2019 Office 00000000000M H2011
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Procedure
Mod

1
Mod 

2
Mod 

3
Mod 

4 Units
 Charge

Submitted TPL
 Net

Payment 

Charge
Submitted - 

Denied Table Name
OFFICE OUTPATIENT NEW 45 MINUTES ~ ~ ~ ~ 300 Denied Claim

Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$     -$        547.52$     Professional Claim
OFFICE OUTPATIENT VISIT 40 MINUTES ~ ~ ~ ~ 1 300.00$     -$        141.04$     Professional Claim

PSYCHOTHERAPY W/PATIENT W/E&M SRVCS 30 MIN ~ ~ ~ ~ 1 120.00$     -$        57.05$       Professional Claim
Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$     -$        547.52$     Professional Claim
Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$     -$        547.52$     Professional Claim
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Billing Prov
Tax ID

Billing
Prov ID

Billing Prov
NPI Code Billing Prov Name PT Provider ID

Provider
NPI Code Provider Name PT

Provider
Specialty
Claim NV Person ID DOB Age Name Last Name Firs

Service
Date

452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSY020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/21/18
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Last
Svc Date Claim ID

Paid
Date Place of SVC

Pre Authorization
Control Code

Procedure
Code Procedure

Mod
1

Mod 
2

Mod 
3

Mod 
4 Units

 Charge
Submitted TPL

 Net
Payment 

11/21/18 2019022700558201 2/1/2019 Office 00000000000M 99214 OFFICE OUTPATIENT VISIT 25 MINUTES ~ ~ ~ ~ 1 250.00$      69.26$    30.00$        
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Billing Prov
Tax ID

Billing
Prov ID

Billing Prov
NPI Code Billing Prov Name PT Provider ID

Provider
NPI Code Provider Name PT

Provider
Specialty
Claim NV Person ID DOB Age Name Last Name Firs

Service
Date

452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSY020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 02/28/17
452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSY020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 02/28/17
452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSY020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 09/27/17
452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSY020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 09/27/17
452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSY020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 09/27/17
452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSY020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 09/27/17
452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSY020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 09/27/17
452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSY020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 09/27/17
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Last
Svc Date Claim ID

Paid
Date Place of SVC

Pre Authorization
Control Code

Procedure
Code Procedure

Mod
1

Mod 
2

Mod 
3

Mod 
4 Units

 Charge
Submitted TPL

 Net
Payment 

02/28/17 2017093200134401 4/14/2017 Office 00000000000M 90837 PSYCHOTHERAPY W/PATIENT 60 MINUTES ~ ~ ~ ~
02/28/17 2017086703040301 4/7/2017 Office 00000000000M 90837 PSYCHOTHERAPY W/PATIENT 60 MINUTES ~ ~ ~ ~ 1 300.00$      94.14$    16.42$        
09/27/17 2017286703393502 10/27/2017 Office 00000000000M 90833 PSYCHOTHERAPY W/PATIENT W/E&M SRVCS 30 MIN~ ~ ~ ~ 1 120.00$      49.08$    7.97$          
09/27/17 2017286703393501 10/27/2017 Office 00000000000M 99214 OFFICE OUTPATIENT VISIT 25 MINUTES ~ ~ ~ ~ 1 250.00$      80.71$    21.01$        
09/27/17 2017286703393501 6/22/2018 Office 00000000000M 99214 OFFICE OUTPATIENT VISIT 25 MINUTES ~ ~ ~ ~ -1 (250.00)$    (80.71)$   (21.01)$      
09/27/17 2017286703393502 6/22/2018 Office 00000000000M 90833 PSYCHOTHERAPY W/PATIENT W/E&M SRVCS 30 MIN~ ~ ~ ~ -1 (120.00)$    (49.08)$   (7.97)$         
09/27/17 2018162707742002 6/22/2018 Office 00000000000M 90833 PSYCHOTHERAPY W/PATIENT W/E&M SRVCS 30 MIN~ ~ ~ ~ 1 120.00$      49.08$    7.97$          
09/27/17 2018162707742001 6/22/2018 Office 00000000000M 99214 OFFICE OUTPATIENT VISIT 25 MINUTES ~ ~ ~ ~ 1 250.00$      80.71$    21.01$        

6/25/2024 Contains Protected Health Information -- Distribution Restricted Under HIPAA Page 2 of 3Okeke Adjudication 
447



 Charge
Submitted - 

Denied Table Name
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Professional Claim
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Billing Prov
Tax ID

Billing
Prov ID

Billing Prov
NPI Code Billing Prov Name PT Provider ID

Provider
NPI Code Provider Name PT

Provider
Specialty
Claim NV Person ID DOB Age Name Last Name Firs

Service
Date

452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSY020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/14/18
452932796 100524946 1821378043 GRAND DESERT MEDICAL AND PSY020 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry 11/14/18
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Last
Svc Date Claim ID

Paid
Date Place of SVC

Pre Authorization
Control Code

Procedure
Code Procedure

Mod
1

Mod 
2

Mod 
3

Mod 
4 Units

 Charge
Submitted TPL

 Net
Payment 

11/14/18 2018338702196401 12/14/2018 Office 00000000000M 99214 OFFICE OUTPATIENT VISIT 25 MINUTES ~ ~ ~ ~ 1 250.00$      81.23$    20.93$        
11/14/18 2018338702196402 12/14/2018 Office 00000000000M 90833 PSYCHOTHERAPY W/PATIENT W/E&M SRVCS 30 MIN~ ~ ~ ~ 1 120.00$      51.06$    5.99$          
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Billing Prov
Tax ID

Billing
Prov ID

Billing Prov
NPI Code Billing Prov Name PT Provider ID

Provider
NPI Code Provider Name PT

Provider
Specialty
Claim NV Person ID DOB Age Name Last Name Firs

Service
Date

320417144 100541812 1548648439 DISCOVERY MIND CENTER LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry E11/09/18
320417144 100541812 1548648439 DISCOVERY MIND CENTER LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry E11/10/18
830952298 100560801 1922593797 FORWARD IMPRESSIONS LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry E11/16/18
830952298 100560801 1922593797 FORWARD IMPRESSIONS LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry E11/17/18
830952298 100560801 1922593797 FORWARD IMPRESSIONS LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry E11/18/18
830952298 100560801 1922593797 FORWARD IMPRESSIONS LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry E11/19/18
830952298 100560801 1922593797 FORWARD IMPRESSIONS LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry E11/20/18
830952298 100560801 1922593797 FORWARD IMPRESSIONS LLC 014 100505545 1730272709 OKEKE MATTHEW MD 020 Psychiatry E11/21/18
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Svc Date Claim ID

Paid
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Procedure
Code Procedure
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1
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2

Mod 
3

Mod 
4 Units

 Charge
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 Net
Payment 

11/09/18 2018319701991602 11/23/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/10/18 2018319701991603 11/23/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/16/18 2018333702618401 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/17/18 2018333702618402 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/18/18 2018333702618403 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/19/18 2018334701764801 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/20/18 2018334701764802 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
11/21/18 2018334701764803 12/7/2018 Office 00000000000M H2011 Crisis intervention services per 15 minutes HT ~ ~ ~ 16 600.00$      -$         547.52$      
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